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Achievement: 
Actively pursue outcomes for the community. 
 
Community Engagement: 
Ensuring our communities are engaged, informed and 
able to contribute to Council’s decision-making process. 
 
Leadership: 
Council will lead and develop leadership within our 
community. 
 
Fairness: 
We will ensure that all members of the community are 
treated equitably. 
 
Integrity: 
We act with integrity, honesty and in ways that reflect our 
values. 
 
Tolerance and Community Cohesion: 
Accepting, valuing and embracing the diversity of our 
community. 
 
Accountability:  
Being transparent in our decision-making, we welcome 
public scrutiny and community feedback. 

Our Vision 

A vibrant community that displays growth and 
sustainability with a strong identity and confidence in a 
prosperous future by working together. 

Our Mission 

The Swan Hill Rural City Council will lead, work with, 
help and empower our communities to build our future 
together. 

Our Values 

About this Annual Report 
 
This report details the Swan Hill Rural City Council’s  
performance during the 2009-2010 financial year.  It 
documents Council’s progress against the  
2009-2013 Council Plan and highlights 
achievements and challenges faced within key 
service areas and programs. 
  
A detailed and comprehensive report of Council’s 
operations is supported by the inclusion of audited 
financial statements. 
 
Council seeks to achieve greater community 
inclusiveness and understanding of Council’s 
operations by conducting its affairs openly and with 
integrity, reflecting high levels of good governance. 
 

Feedback 
 
Our annual report content is guided by Local 
Government Regulations. 
 
If you would like to help us improve the way we 
report, please send your feedback via email to:  
council@swanhill.vic.gov.au 
 
Alternatively, by letter addressed to: 
 
Swan Hill Rural City Council 
Chief Executive Officer 
PO Box 488 
SWAN HILL VIC 3585 

Swan Hill Rural City Council municipality 
 
From the swirling waters of the mighty Murray River, 
to the rich, red Mallee soil and vast acres of 
agricultural landscape, the Swan Hill Rural City 
features as one of the nation’s most diverse rural 
areas, as well as the most productive, forming an 
important part of Victoria’s Food Bowl. 
 
This report provides information to a variety of 
audiences including all community townships, 
businesses, ratepayers, Government agencies and 
other interested stakeholders. 
 
This report provides a record on how well Council 
has performed throughout the 2009-2010 financial 
year. 
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Our Rural City Profile 

862km  
Sealed Roads 

 
2449km 
Unsealed 
Roads 

16  
Schools 

(secondary and 
primary) 

Over 50 
ethnicities 
represented 

Labour Force 
10,893 people 

483  
Commercial 
Properties 

22,116 
Residents 

Median Age  
38 

51 Sporting 
Facilities 

 
Over 100 

Sporting Clubs 

Area 6,116 
square 
kilometres 

Home to the 
Burke and Wills  
Moreton Bay 
Fig Tree 

16  
Wine Producers 

 

Region spans  
500 kilometres 

of the 
Murray River 
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SWAN HILL RURAL CITY 

A great place to…………………………………….. 

Swan Hill and 
its community 

 
Home to just over 22,000 people, the municipality 
encompasses just over 6,000 square kilometres and offers 
its residents and visitors a dynamic mix of both rural and 
urban living. 
 
Whether it’s economic, tourism or lifestyle opportunities, 
the municipality has plenty to offer those seeking to make 
the move from the hustle and bustle of big city living, but 
who still desire all the conveniences of the metropolitan way 
of life. 
 
Featuring a modern and thriving regional centre, the 
municipality also boasts the characteristics of rural living, 
including a strong community spirit and relaxed lifestyle. 
 
 

 
While the region continues to have a strong 
focus on primary production and supply, the area 
continues to broaden its horizons in the areas of 
commerce, manufacturing and tourism. 
 
Continued investment in the region, as well as a 
focus on the long-term growth and sustainability 
of the municipality, remain as high priorities for 
Swan Hill Rural City Council, setting a number of 
initiatives and targets to establish the foundations 
to achieve this vision during the next 30 years, 
further shaping the municipality to be the region 

of choice to live, work, invest and visit. 

Live Work 
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Swan Hill and 
its community 

OUR COMMUNITY 

 
The municipality is proud to be a rich and 
diverse region, with more than 40 
nationalities among its communities and a 
population that is warm, welcoming and 
resilient. 
 
There is no denying that our residents have 
faced some tough times over the years, 
including ongoing drought, yet in the face of 
adversity, has been a strong support 
network for their neighbours and their 
community. 
 
While the challenges facing the region still 
exist, a positive focus and an amazing 
community spirit sees the municipality 
continue to look towards, and plan for, the 
future and the continued development and 
growth of the region. 

 
With more than 40 commercially-
grown products that are central to the 
region including almonds, olives, 
stone fruit (nectarines, peaches and 
plums), table and wine grapes, 
vegetables (carrots and potatoes), 
cereals, legumes, lucerne, sheep, 
beef and dairy - it is easy to see why 
the municipality features as an 
important part of Victoria’s Food Bowl. 
 
Separating Victoria from New South 
Wales, the Murray River supplies our 
communities with a crucial resource to 
support our industries, enabling them 
to continue to supply quality, fresh 
produce across our nation and 
overseas. 
 

OUR ECONOMY 

 
Combined with its central location in 
the heart of the Murray Valley and in 
south-east Australia, significant 
investment has been undertaken in 
the municipality, including in the retail 
sector, and has further enhanced the 
region as a prominent and growing 
regional centre. 
 
With its location along the Murray 
River, Mediterranean climate and 
natural beauty, it is unsurprising that 
tourism plays an important role in the 
region’s economy with around 
237,000 domestic visitors per year, 
staying a total of 674,000 visitor 
nights and injecting $70 million into 
the local economy. 
 

Invest Visit 
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OUR HISTORY 

 
For thousands of years the traditional owners of the lands 
that now form the Swan Hill Rural City – the Wamba 
Wamba, Barapa Barapa, Wadi Wadi, Tati Tati and Latji Latji 
clans – lived in the region, with the land providing abundant 
food sources and a permanent water supply. 
 
In 1836, led by explorer Major Thomas Mitchell (who named 
the area after a flock of noisy swans kept him up during the 
night when he was camping on a rise), the first Europeans 
arrived and upon hearing the positive reports about the 
area, it was soon after that the settlers started to arrive, 
establishing large sheep stations next to the waters of the 
Murray River. 
 
It wasn’t long before that the agricultural sector began to be 
established, with areas of the Mallee opened up for grain 
production and within a few years, the region’s produce was 
being sent around Australia and the world. 

 
In 1871, the Shire of Swan Hill was proclaimed, 
and at the time, was located in the town of 
Kerang (which now forms part of the Gannawarra 
Shire), while the Shire of Castle Donnington, 
created in 1893, was centred around the town of 
Swan Hill. 
 
By 1904, the Castle Donnington Shire assumed 
the title of the Shire of Swan Hill and by 1939 the 
Borough of Swan Hill was constituted. 
 
In March 1965, the borough became the City of 
Swan Hill and 30 years later, saw the formation of 
the Swan Hill Rural City Council in January 1995, 
which today includes the townships of Swan Hill, 
Robinvale, Lake Boga, Nyah, Nyah West, Piangil, 
Woorinen, Ultima, Manangatang, and Tresco. 

Swan Hill and 
its community 

The Murray River, Boundary Bend 
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OUR FUTURE 

Swan Hill and 
its community 

 
Setting it’s sights on the future, the Swan Hill Rural City 
Council Plan 2009-2013 provides a solid vision for the 
direction of the region, including a strong focus on the 
growth of the municipality.   
 
By growing the municipality, there is the potential to further 
develop the city to become a regional service centre, 
offering an even greater  variety of choice and opportunities 
for our current and future population. 
 
A strong economy is, of course, central to this growth and 
the Council Plan sets out to invest in our local economy and 
business. 

 
This includes investment in new developments 
across the municipality, the upgrading of key central 
business districts in the area, encouraging the next 
generation of businesses and assisting existing 
businesses to expand and grow. 
 
Along with concentrating on economic development, 
energy opportunities are also being explored within 
the region including the provision of natural gas and 
solar energy, providing further investment 
opportunities within our municipality. 
 
Swan Hill Rural City Council, along with members of 
its community, has set a strong strategic direction for 
the future of our municipality, which will see further 
development and investment in the rural city, as well 
as future public projects, further showcasing the 
region as a region of choice to live, work and invest. 

ROBINVALE

MANANGATANG

NYAH  WEST

SWAN  HILL

LAKE  BOGAULTIMA

The Swan Hill Rural City 
Council is divided into four 
wards one with four 
Councillors and three with 
one Councillor.   
 
These four wards ensure that 
the varying needs of our 
urban and rural areas receive 
equal representation and 
policy determination of the 
Council. 

Ward Boundaries 
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MAYOR’S & CEO’S  MESSAGE 

Swan Hill and 
its community 

A REGIONAL STRATEGIC OUTLOOK 
 
One of the biggest focuses for the 2009-2010 year has been regional strategic planning, 
including being an active member of the Murray River Group of Councils, contributing to the 
Loddon Mallee Regional Strategic Plan – Northern Region and being an active participant in the 
Regional Managers’ Forums. 
 
This focus is about seeking solutions for the whole region, including energy (natural gas and 
solar), transport (Council is a lead agency for the North West Transport study) and facilities (the 
North West Victoria Motor Sport Feasibility Study). 
 
As a municipality, Swan Hill Rural City Council is leading the way with our regional focus. Our 
experience has been that both State and Federal Governments welcome working on a regional 
level, enabling them to then provide the best services overall. 
 
Identified at the Murray River Group of Councils’ Murray Regions Future conference was the 
need for diversification of our industry, in particular to include tourism and Councils along the 
Murray are working together to achieve these inroads in regional tourism. 
 
PLANNING FOR THE FUTURE LOCALLY 
 
Working regionally does not mean there hasn’t been a focus locally. We see Swan Hill as a 
major regional centre and want our population to grow, attract new businesses and new industry. 
 
There has been a significant impact with Swan Hill becoming recognised as a major regional 
centre, particularly in regard to the region’s location and its cross-border significance. 
 
Council is leading the way on intrastate and major projects in the region, including the Swan Hill 
Bridge, Robinvale CBD, Swan Hill CBD and the renewal of both the Swan Hill and Robinvale 
riverfronts and have made major inroads in funding, while the redevelopment of our premier 
tourist attraction, the Pioneer Settlement, remains a solid focus for Council. 
 
A number of strategic plans have also been developed during the past 12 months, providing long 
term benefits to our community. 
 
Council has undertaken a planning scheme review and have commenced the process to review 
its residential strategy and its business township entrance strategy as a result. 
 
Council has also adopted a new Tourism Strategy and are in the process of reviewing its 
Economic Development Strategy, seeking input from community members to ensure the strategy 
reflects the wants and needs of our residents and our economic future direction.  
 
WORKING WITH OUR COMMUNITY 
 
The importance of working with our community is recognised within the Council Plan and 
remains a high priority for Council. 
 

During the past 12 months, Council has worked extremely closely with our residents including 
with our Indigenous community, youth and smaller communities. 
 

The employment of Council’s award-winning Aboriginal Affairs Manager and the valuable 
contribution of this position to the community, saw Council provide funding of this position, 
through its own resources, in the present budget. 
 

We have seen a number of achievements through this position, including the development of the 
Aboriginal Employment Strategy, Aboriginal Partnership Plan and the very successful Connectus 
program (which has now expanded into the rest of the community). 
 

We also saw the implementation of the L2P learner driver program, which has expanded into the 
whole of the community, helping young people to achieve 120 hours of driver experience in 
order to gain their license, thereby providing greater employment opportunities. 
 

The year has once again 
seen some significant 
achievements against the 
Council Plan 2009-2013 and 
Council continues to work 
with its community, 
neighbouring Councils and 
the State and Federal 
Governments towards the 
strategic long term future 
of our municipality. 

It gives us great pleasure 
to present the 2009-2010 
Annual Report for the Swan 
Hill Rural City Council. 
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Swan Hill and 
its community 

 
 
This year also saw the adoption of Council’s Youth Strategy, of which more than 
1200 young people contributed to through their completion of a youth survey, 
providing a detailed picture of the thoughts of youth across the region and what 
they would like to see happen in their municipality. 
 

Swan Hill and Robinvale was also chosen as one of six locations across the state to 
be part of the Better Youth Services Pilot (BYSP), which aims to support vulnerable 
youth and provide co-ordination and delivery of youth services across the state and 
we now await funding to address those needs identified through the program. 
 

Swan Hill also played host to the state-wide youth forum in April, with more than 60 
young people from across the state converging on our city to discuss their future 
and youth issues. Youth Affairs Minister James Merlino appeared via video link and 
was very impressed with the discussions from our youth, including their openness, 
frankness and quality of questions. 
 

The community planning process continues to enable communities to identify their 
needs and aspirations and to work together to achieve positive outcomes. 
 

Council is delighted that each of our communities now has a community plan and 
we are in the phase of rolling out all 11 plans across the municipality. The 
Community Planning Officer position is to continue into the next financial year, 
which is testament to the importance that Council places on the community 
planning process and its achievements. 
 

CHALLENGES (AND OPPORTUNITIES) AHEAD 
 

There are many challenges ahead, but importantly many more opportunities as 
well. 
 

We will all have to adjust to living with the impacts of climate change and Council 
will continue to advocate for the need to strike the right balance between the 
environment and the economy when discussing water. 
 

Our communities have endured a number of years of difficulties due to the effects of 
drought and a slow down in the global economy.   
 

However through these tough times, our communities have not lost their courage 
and continued to promote the many benefits of living within our region. 
 

We are now seeing the completion and commencement of many projects in our 
region, as well as the return of water to Lake Boga - a tremendous boost for the 
community and our municipality overall.  The recent completion of the Catalina 
Museum project will also provide the Lake Boga community with an opportunity to 
showcase its important historical heritage. 
 

Our municipality will look for opportunities to diversify its traditional economic base 
and explore how we can grow our population in order to offer real solutions for the 
pressures that the metropolitan cities are currently facing. 
 

The municipality is ideally located and positioned to take advantage of the State 
Government’s desire to invest in renewable and solar energy.  Council is currently 
putting together a variety of exciting projects, including the Swan Hill Solar 1000 
concept, which would see a 1000 homes have solar panels installed.  Council will 
also consider installation and solar panels on key facilities and look to develop a 
proposal for a major solar park located within the municipality. 
 

Council will continue to pursue key infrastructure needs within our municipality, 
including a new river crossing at Swan Hill, the continued development and 
rejuvenation of our regional tourist icon the Pioneer Settlement (as per the recently 
adopted Pioneer Settlement redevelopment plan), educational facilities, health 
services, new tourism opportunities and will also look towards the development of 
additional housing. 

Cr Greg Cruickshank 
Mayor 
Swan Hill Rural City Council 

Dennis Hovenden 
Chief Executive Officer 
Swan Hill Rural City Council 

 
 
As with any major infrastructure and development 
opportunities, seeking appropriate funding is the 
key and Council will be actively pursuing funding 
from both the Federal and State Governments 
towards these infrastructure needs. 
 
Council continues to work with the Nyah 
community to indentify opportunities and 
associated funding for the redevelopment of the 
Nyah recreation reserve when the harness racing 
is relocated to Swan Hill as part of the 
Racecourse redevelopment project. 
 
Through the adoption of asset management 
policies and a strong commitment to ensuring a 
long term financial viability of our municipality our 
Council is working hard to ensure a sustainable 
future. 
 
We have a vibrant future built upon our collective 
hard work and Council will stand alongside the 
community to secure our share of a prosperous 
outlook. 
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PERFORMANCE AT A GLANCE 
This year we are reporting for the first time against Swan Hill Rural City Council’s 2009-2013 Council Plan.  The Council 
plan is Swan Hill’s road map toward achieving its vision for the future.  The plan lays the groundwork for addressing the 
longer-term goals and sets out the commitments we have made to deliver these. 

Strategic Objective Achievements 

Sustainable Communities 
See page (46-65) for more details 

• Adoption and implementation of Youth Strategy 

• Implementation of Year 1 actions from the Aboriginal Employment 
Strategy 

• Implementation of the Aboriginal Partnership Plan 

• Increased funding for Community Planning 

• Animal pound at Robinvale 

• Implementation of actions from the Swan Hill Reserves Master Plan 

• Completion of redevelopment concept plan for the Swan Hill Art 
Gallery 

• Determination on Council’s role in the redevelopment of the Swan Hill 
Racecourse Development Project and the Nyah Recreation Reserve 

• Adoption and implementation of the Pioneer Settlement Master Plan 

• Positioning of Swan Hill Rural City Council as the lead agency for 
future service delivery for the Loddon Mallee region 

 

Community Satisfaction Health and Human 
Services 

 

    Customer Satisfaction with Recreational Facilities 

Economic Growth 
See page (66-85) for more details 

• Review and adoption of Council’s Procurement Policy 

• Continuation of ongoing funding for the Skilled Migration Program 

• Adoption of the Business Incentive Policy 

• Commencement of Tower Hill Estate Stage 6 infrastructure  

• Completion of Stage 1 Leonora Street sales and land sold to TAFE 

• Adoption of Tourism Strategy 

• Development of contracts for line marking 

• Determination on location of Swan Hill Bridge  

• Implementation of Swan Hill CBD Masterplan 

• Review of Road Asset Management Plan 

• Implementation of outcomes following the review of the Regional 
Livestock Exchange 

 

Customer Satisfaction with Economic Development  
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• Footpath Trading Strategy 

• Development of Municipal Early Years Plan 

• Review of the Municipal Public Health Plan 

• Possibilities for expanding Library services 

• Car Parking Strategy 

• Asset Infrastructure renewal gap 
 
 

• To continue to consolidate the various asset stocks to 
help reduce the renewal funding gap 

• Negotiate a Footpath Trading Strategy with affected 
businesses 

• Robinvale opportunities from regional blueprint 

• Better Youth Services Pilot recommendations 

• Expansion of Fairfax Festival 

• Leadership in service integration of Children’s Services 

• Effects on communities of various human services 
reforms 

Customer Satisfaction with the Enforcement of Local Laws Customer Satisfaction with Traffic Management and Parking 

• Development of whole of life Education Plan to expand 
local educational opportunities 

• Review of the Economic Development Strategy 

• Attracting service centres in Swan Hill 

• Establishment of a university shopfront 

• Review of Planning Scheme and Municipal Strategic 
Statement 

• Review of Car Parking Policy 

• Completion of the South West Precinct Development 
Contributions Plan Process 

 

• Commencement of Tower Hill Stage 7 

• Facilitate the development at South West Precinct 

• Encourage infill developments 

• Rural Zone Living Strategy and land use planning 

• Review Residential Strategy 

• Review Economic Development Strategy 

• Implement Year 2 of the CBD Masterplan 

• Commence implementation of Swan Hill Riverfront 
masterplan 

• Improve township entrances 

• Lobby to attract irrigation infrastructure 

• Conduct a review of Council-operated aerodromes 

Customer Satisfaction with Town Planning Policy and 
Approvals 

Customer Satisfaction with Local Roads and Footpaths 

Challenges The Year Ahead 

These are the key areas which we measure our performance against the past 12 months and have included 
many success stories.  The following is a snapshot of our performance. 
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PERFORMANCE AT A GLANCE 

Environmental Management 
See page (86-95) for more details 

• Actively lobbied with State and Federal organisations on 
the future of the Murray Darling Basin 

• New contracts developed for kerbside collection of 
household garbage and recyclable materials 

• Facilitated management of the Sustainable Living in the 
Mallee Group (SLIM) 

• Reviewed motor vehicle policy 

• Study undertaken about use of renewable energy for 
Council’s operations 

• Reviewed Waste Management Strategy 

• Energy efficient options replaced in Council buildings 

• Process developed for stormwater disposal 

• Development of a Community Pride Campaign 

Customer Satisfaction with Appearance of Public Areas 

 

 

Governance and Leadership 
See page (96-109) for more details 

• Review of Council’s Communication Strategy 

• Review and adoption of Councillor Code of Conduct 

• Completion of Municipal General Revaluation and 
updated Rating Strategy 

• Strategy developed for externally-funded functions 

• Review of Council’s Major Projects Plan 

Customer Satisfaction with Advocacy Customer satisfaction with Community Engagement 

Strategic Objective Achievements 
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• Involvement in external discussions regarding the 
Murray River 

• Council’s roles and responsibilities with regard to pest 
plants and animals 

• Development of strategy for re-use of water at the 
Swan Hill Leisure Centre 

• Procedures for demolition control and disposal of 
building waste 

 

• Facilitate the clean-up of highly-valued riverfront land at 
Happy Valley 

• Lead the region’s municipalities in locust control 

• Facilitate the Swan Hill 1000 Solar Energy project 

• Investigate appropriate location for the transfer facility in 
Swan Hill 

• Review Fleet management and purchasing to minimise 
environmental impact 

• Compile the North West Strategy 

• Ongoing development of the Community Pride 
Campaign 

Customer Satisfaction with Waste Management  

• Rollover from Customer Service Request System 

• Ensuring compliance with relevant legislation 

• Continuing to advocate leadership within the 
organisation 

• Implementation of the Staff Code of Conduct 
 

• Implementation of new Customer Service Request 
System 

• Adoption of the Staff Code of Conduct 

• Update the IT Strategy 
 

Customer Satisfaction with Customer Contact Customer Satisfaction with Overall Performance 

Challenges The Year Ahead 
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financial summary 

The 2009-2010 Financial Reports confirm Council 
continues to progress towards long term financial 
sustainability including the ability to replace essential 
infrastructure when required in the future. 
 
Sustainable Capital Expenditure 
 
While this year’s result is a small deficit of $0.3 million, this 
was due to bringing to account an accounting adjustment 
of $2.5 million relating to the retired value of assets 
including Chillingolah Road which was upgraded prior to 
reaching the end of its useful life and $1 million for 
upgrading the VicRoads owned roundabout at Karinie 
Street Swan Hill using Federal Government Grants 
received for both projects during 2006-2007. 
 
Cash Reserves 
 
Council continues to maintain its strong Financial Position 
with Working Capital of nearly $9 million and Current 
Assets exceeding total liabilities by over $2 million.  Net 
Assets increased by over $10 million to just under $273 
million. 
 
Capital Expenditure increased by over 100% on the 2008-
2009 value and exceeded depreciation expense by $5 
million.  67% of Capital Expenditure was applied to asset 
replacement and renewal, easily exceeding depreciation of 
those assets. 
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Debt Levels 
 
Council’s Interest Bearing Liabilities (loans 
and leases) have reduced in real terms as 
have the Debt Servicing and Debt Exposure 
Ratios.  The Debt Commitment Ratio is 
unchanged at 9% of Rate Revenue which is 
significantly lower than 10 years ago. 
 
 
Conclusion 
 
Council’s underlying Financial Strategies will 
see ongoing commitment to Asset 
maintenance and renewal, sustained 
reductions in Debt Exposure, further build-
up of medium term Cash Reserves while 
enabling the delivery of the wide range of 
Council services that are essential for 
community well-being. 
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Our commitment to working together constructively 
will enable us to achieve a sustainable community 
with a strong identity, working together for 
community cohesion, economic prosperity and 
sound environmental management in a manner that 
is consistent with our values. 

Our Council 
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As employees and representatives of the Swan 
Hill Rural City Council, we: 

• Are committed to working together 

• Represent the best interests of the people 
within our municipality 

• Help each other, our fellow staff members and 
Councillors 

• Discharge our responsibilities to the best of 
our skills and judgement 
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OUR ORGANISATION STRUCTURE 

Our Council 
our organisation 

OUR ROLE 
 

At Swan Hill Rural City 
Council, we recognise that 
being clear about the 
different roles of the 
various parts of our Local 
Government will assist us 
in providing good 
governance. 
 
The organisation’s role is 
to implement Council’s 
goals, strategies and 
services, and to support 
democratic governance 
through its support of, and 
advice to, Council. 
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ELECTED MEMBERS 

Council Governance Enacting their duties 

To work together effectively we need 
to find ways to meet the accountability 
we have to the constituents in our 
wards and our accountability to the 
municipality as a whole.   
 
This is not a simple task, but is one 
we should have at the forefront of our 
minds at all times when tackling our 
various roles.  
 
Our roles include: 

• to advocate, and represent 
Council on behalf of our 
constituents; 

• to facilitate communication 
between Council and the 
community; 

• to debate the issues in an open, 
honest and informed manner to 
assist the decision-making 
process; and 

• to keep the whole-of-
municipality in mind when 
considering and addressing 
issues. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Local business owner and 
photographer Cr Cruickshank was first 
elected to Council in the year 2003 
and was re-elected to Council in the 
2008 election.  
 
In December 2008, Cr Cruickshank 
was also elected Mayor of Swan Hill 
Rural City Council and subsequently 
re-elected in December 2009. 

At Swan Hill Rural City 
Council we recognise that we 
need to work together to 
achieve the best outcomes for 
the community.  

Our Council 
elected members 

MAYOR 

 

Cr Greg Cruickshank 
Representing Central Ward 

In carrying out their role, Councillors 
must remain aware of their 
responsibility to comply with the 
principles of Councillor Conduct 
specified in sections 76B and 76BA of 
the Local Government Act 1989. 
 
Their commitment to working together 
constructively will enable the Swan 
Hill Rural City Council to achieve a 
sustainable community with a strong 
identity, working together for 
community cohesion, economic 
prosperity and sound environmental 
management in a manner that is 
consistent with our values. 

 
 
 
 
 

Ph: 0419 754 174 
greg.cruickshank@swanhill.vic.gov.au
Council 
elected members 
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Our Council 
elected members 

   

First elected unopposed to 
Council in 2005,  
Cr Jennings, a local business 
owner, was re-elected as Central 
Ward Councillor in November 
2008.  
 
Born and educated in Swan Hill, 
Cr Jennings has played a 
significant role in a number of 
community and regional 
organisations, with an emphasis 
on education and leadership, 
particularly for youth and 
business. 
 
Cr Jennings was elected as 
Deputy Mayor of Swan Hill Rural 
City Council in December 2009. 

Cr Quayle, a civil celebrant, was 
first elected to Council in 2003.  
 
During his time at Council,  
Cr Quayle was integral in 
establishing the Swan Hill Healthy 
Minds Network and was also 
Mayor of Swan Hill Rural City 
Council from 2003 to 2005 and 
also served as Deputy Mayor from 
2007 to 2008. 

Dried fruit grower and cleaner/
handyman, Cr Norton has 
represented the Murray Mallee 
Ward for Council since 2003.   
 
He was re-elected to the Ward in 
the November 2008 elections.  
 
Cr Norton also served as Mayor of 
Swan Hill Rural City Council from 
December 2006 to December 
2008. 

Ph: 0427 688 053O 
yvonne.jennings@swanhill.vic.gov.auC
ouncil 
elected members 

Ph: 0429 140 369 
david.quayle@swanhill.vic.gov.au 

Ph: 0428 398 981 
gary.norton@swanhill.vic.gov.au 

Cr Yvonne Jennings 
Deputy Mayor 
Representing Central Ward 

Cr David Quayle 
Representing Central Ward 

Cr Gary Norton 
Representing Murray Mallee Ward 
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Retired business owner, Cr Katis 
has represented the Robinvale 
Ward since 1997.  
 
Cr Katis was elected unopposed 
and became Deputy Mayor of 
Swan Hill Rural City Council in 
December 2008. 

Cr Croft is semi-retired and a part-
time sports journalist.  
 
Cr Croft spent most of his working 
life in the field of sales and 
marketing, specialising in new 
business development.  
 
Elected to Council in November 
2008 standing in the Central 
Ward, this is his first time serving 
on Council. 

Cr McPhee is from Lake Boga and 
after nominating in 2008 for the 
first time, was elected unopposed 
to Council for the Lakes Ward.  
 
A Police Officer, Cr McPhee has 
served with the Victoria Police for 
more than 20 years. 

Ph: 0409 166 970 
john.katis@swanhill.vic.gov.au 

Ph: 0428 174 675 
bill.croft@swanhill.vic.gov.au 

Ph: 0427 319 394 
les.mcphee@swanhill.vic.gov.au 

Our Council 
elected members 

Cr John Katis 
Representing Robinvale Ward 

Cr Bill Croft 
Representing Central Ward 

Cr Les McPhee 
Representing Lakes Ward 

“As Councillors of the Swan Hill Rural City Council we are 
committed to working together in the best interests of the people 
within our municipality and to discharging our responsibilities to the 
best of our skill and judgment. “ 

SHRCC Councillor Code of Conduct 
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David is a qualified accountant who 
joined the Swan Hill City Council (now 
Swan Hill Rural City Council) as 
Finance Manager in December 1992.   
 
Since the amalgamation of the City and 
Shire of Swan Hill in January 1995, 
David has held the positions of 
Financial Controller and Finance and 
Administration Manager prior to being 
appointed as Group Manager 
Corporate Services during 2001.   
 
Under Council’s most recent restructure 
in April 2006, David’s position was 
reclassified as Director Corporate 
Services. Prior to joining Local 
Government, David worked in a variety 
of finance-related positions with a large 
multinational company within the 
private sector for 14 years. 

DIRECTOR  
CORPORATE SERVICES 

David Lenton 
Service with SHRCC: 17 Years 

Dennis previously held the position of 
CEO of the Naracoorte Lucindale 
Council in South Australia and has 
more than 20 years experience in 
Local Government.  
 
He has held a number of high profile 
positions, including CEO of Urana 
Shire Council in New South Wales, 
Manager at Maribyrnong City Council 
and Executive Officer for Economic 
Development and Tourism in Bulla, 
Victoria.   
 
With tertiary qualifications in Political 
Science and Legal Studies, he has 
extensive experience in both rural and 
metropolitan Councils of varying 
sizes, populations, budgets and staff 
numbers.  

CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

 

Dennis Hovenden 
Service with SHRCC: 3.5 Years 

Our Council 
executive management 
team 

EXECUTIVE 
MANAGEMENT TEAM 

 
Swan Hill Rural City 
Council’s Executive 
Management Team (EMT)
is made up of the Chief 
Executive Officer and four 
Directors.   
 
The EMT is responsible 
for overseeing the 
performance of the 
Council organisation and 
the delivery of the 
outcomes expected by 
Council (as expressed in 
our Council Plan and 
Annual Budget).  The EMT 
meets on a weekly basis 
and on other occasions as 
required. 
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Geoffrey has extensive management 
experience in private enterprise and 
Local Government and was most 
recently the Chief Executive Officer of 
the Mid North Regional Development 
Board in South Australia.   
 
He holds qualifications in Rural and 
Regional Planning and Masters in 
Business Administration and 
Commercial Law.   
 
With a background in economic 
development, he has been a member 
of various steering committees and 
has had extensive experience 
in funding submissions, policy 
development, statutory assessments 
and project management. 

Bruce is a qualified librarian who 
began his career at the Swan Hill 
Regional Library managing the 
mobile library in 1994.    
 
From 1998 until 2007 Bruce was 
manager of the library, during 
which time he played a leading role 
in the relocation of the service to its 
current premises, the design and 
construction of a new mobile library 
and implementation of service 
improvements following 
consultation with the local 
community.   
 
Community and Cultural Services 
provide residents of the Swan Hill 
Rural City Council with a wide 
range of services for everyone from 
newborns to the elderly.  

DIRECTOR  
COMMUNITY AND  
CULTURAL SERVICES 

DIRECTOR  
DEVELOPMENT AND  
PLANNING 

Geoffrey Gray 
Service with SHRCC: 4 Years 

Bruce Myers 
Service with SHRCC: 16 Years 

David has more than 25 years 
experience in the Civil Construction 
industry and holds qualifications in 
Civil Construction and 
Management.  
 
He started with the Highways 
Department in South Australia and 
moved into Local Government at 
Whyalla City Council and then onto 
Naracoorte Lucindale Council.  
 
He has Local Government 
experience in project management, 
the creation of asset management 
plans, aerodrome management, 
maintenance planning and marina 
construction and maintenance. He 
is also a member of a number of 
steering committees and 
represents Council on a number of 
water committees (NVIRP - 
Northern Victorian Irrigation 
Renewal Project, TRAMS - 
Torrumbarry Reconfiguration and 
Asset Management Scheme). 

DIRECTOR  
INFRASTRUCTURE 

David Leahy 
Service with SHRCC: 1.5 Years 

Our Council 
executive  management  

team 
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Governance in action 

Council’s Plan and Accountability 

The Council Plan 2009 – 2013 is the municipality’s road map toward achieving 
its vision for the future.  The plan lays the groundwork for addressing the longer-
term goals and sets out the commitments we have made to deliver these. 
 
The plan commenced implementation on 1 July 2009 and includes the full range 
of Council’s activities, and recognises the broad role undertaken by Local 
Government.  The plan also includes a range of initiatives that Council intends to 
undertake over the next four years.   
 
The Council Plan is reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that the  
document continues to play a vital role in shaping the future for the Swan Hill 
municipality setting our broad direction for the coming years.   
 

Council’s Role 
The Local Government Act 1989 sets out the role of Councils in Victoria. Under 
the Act, the role of Council includes: 
1. A Council is elected to provide leadership for the good governance of the 

municipal district and the local community. 
2. The role of a Council includes: 
a. Acting as a representative Government by taking into account the diverse 

needs of the local community; 
b. Providing leadership by establishing strategic objectives and monitoring 

their achievement; 
c. Maintaining the viability of the Council by ensuring that resources are 

managed in a responsible and accountable manner; 
d. Advocating the interests of the local community to other communities and 

Governments; 
e. Acting as a responsible partner in Government by taking into account the 

needs of other communities; and 
f. Fostering community cohesion and encouraging active participation in civic 

life. 
 
Swan Hill Rural City Council performs this role by setting the strategic direction 
of the municipality, establishing and guiding policies, setting service delivery 
standards and monitoring the performance of the organisation. 

Our Council 
governance 

GOVERNANCE 
 
Governance is a broad 
program overseeing several 
organisational statutory and 
legislative requirements 
including the annual report, 
performance statements, 
Council plan, community 
surveys, continuous 
improvement (Quality and 
Cost Standards) and policy 
management. 
 
Governance establishes a 
proactive service across the 
organisation to better assist 
program managers to meet 
statutory and legislative 
requirements while promoting 
the principles of best practice 
and continuous improvement. 

The Council Plan is our commitment to continue our pursuit of  
excellence, innovation, good Government and responsible management 
of community resources.  We encourage all residents, businesses and 
community organisations to use the Council Plan to monitor Council’s 
progress as we strive to achieve our shared vision for the municipality. 

     SHRC Council, Council Plan 
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  Our Council 
governance 

Council Decision Making 
Swan Hill Rural City Council, through formal Council meetings, is the primary decision-
making body for the municipality.   
 
Council decisions are made in one of two ways: 
1. By resolution at Council meetings and special committees of Council. 
2. By Council Officers under delegated authority. 
 

Planning and monitoring achievement 
Swan Hill Rural City Council recognises the importance of strategic planning to 
determine where it is heading.  Setting objectives and then monitoring whether they are 
achieved is critical to achieving good outcomes for the Swan Hill Rural City Council 
community. 

Policy  and strategy development 
As representatives of the community, Council develops the policies which guide and 
inform Council activity. The following were reviewed and/or adopted in 2009/2010: 

Next Council Election 
The next election of Swan Hill 
Rural City Council will be held 
on 24 November 2012 with 
elected Councillors holding 
office until November 2016.  
The date of Council elections 
will again be synchronised 
across Victoria with 
subsequent elections to be 
held on the last Saturday in 
November every four years. 
 
Strategic Hierarchy 
The Swan Hill Rural City 
Council has a Hierarchy and 
Authorisation process in place 
to govern the adoption and 
review of new and existing 
policies, directives and 
procedures. 
 
1. Council Policies: 
Strategic statement of intent 
that affects the organisation as 
a whole or specifies (broad) 
service delivery to the 
community.  
(Authorised by Council) 
 
2. CEO Directives:  
Strategic statements that deal 
with the management of the 
organisation.  
(Authorised by CEO) 
 
3. Procedures:  
How Policies and Directives 
are interpreted and 
implemented by the 
organisation. (Authorised by 
Executive Management Team) 
 

Document Date Adopted 

Woorinen District Community Plan August 2009 

Ultima District Community Plan September 2009 

Road Management Plan October 2009 

Infrastructure Contributions Policy October 2009 

Wemen District Community Plan November 2009 

Fraud Control Policy November 2009 

Media Policy November 2009 

Procurement Policy November 2009 

Barry Steggall Park Landscape Master Plan November 2009 

Swan Hill Heat Wave Sub Plan December 2009 

Swan Hill CBD Master Plan December 2009 

Recreation, Culture and Leisure Services Policy December 2009 

Consultation Policy December 2009 

Councillor Attendance at Functions Policy December 2009 

Aboriginal Employment Plan December 2009 

Swan Hill Rural City Council Youth Strategy February 2010 
Civic Receptions, Receptions and the Provision of Hospitality 
Policy February 2010 

Asset Naming Policy February 2010 

Manangatang District Community Plan March 2010 

Tourism Strategy June 2010 

Communications Policy June 2010 

Communications Strategy June 2010 
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Councillor Code of Conduct 

Council Meetings 

Council Meetings are held on the third Tuesday of each month at various locations 
across the municipality and are open to the public. Members of the community are able 
to address Council and ask questions in relation to any aspect of Council operations.  
 
Special Meetings are held for consideration of the Budget, Annual Financial Statements, 
Annual Report and any other urgent matters. In addition, Councillors are regularly 
briefed on major issues by staff and external parties at informal Councillor Assemblies. 
These are generally held weekly. No decisions are made at these meetings as their 
purpose is to provide information to enable informed decisions to be made at Council 
Meetings and to give staff direction where required. 

Our Council 
governance 

  
Ordinary Council 

Meetings 
Special Council 
Meetings 

Councillor 
Eligible to  
Attend Attended 

Eligible to 
Attend Attended 

 Cr Greg Cruickshank  12  12 5   5 

 Cr Yvonne Jennings  12  10  5  5 

 Cr David Quayle  12  11  5 2 

 Cr Bill Croft  12  12  5 5  

 Cr Gary Norton  12  11  5 5  

 Cr Les McPhee  12  11  5 5  

 Cr John Katis  12 9   5 2  

Attendance at Council Meetings 

The Local Government Act 1989 (the Act) required that Council review its Code of 
Conduct within 12 months of a general election.  Amendments in 2008 to the Act 
required Council to change Swan Hill Rural City Council’s Code of Conduct to reflect 
the new standard of behaviour expected of Councillors. 
 
Council adopted its new Code of Conduct in November 2009 which further  
incorporates the specified changes in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 
and has been further amended to include policies that govern Councillor behaviour 
within the Swan Hill Rural City Council. 
 
The Code is based on the principle that achieving positive outcomes for the community 
requires a team effort of all the Councillors, and that a Councillor develops and 
maintains productive relationships with members of the community, Council staff and 
other Councillors through adhering to the Councillor Code of Conduct.  
 
The Code seeks to facilitate public trust in the Council as a democratic entity. 
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  Our Council 
governance 

DID YOU KNOW? 
 
Each Councillor at Swan Hill 
Rural City Council is also 
provided with a mobile 
telephone, fax machine, 
personal digital assistant 
(PDA), USB Next G modem, 
office space, multi-combo 
printer and a laptop.   
 
Councillors are reimbursed for 
expenses associated with 
Council business and are 
provided with secretarial 
support through the Chief 
Executive Officer.  
 
The Mayor is provided with the 
use of a Council vehicle.   
 
All Councillors have access to 
Council’s vehicle fleet if they 
are required to attend 
meetings outside the 
municipality.  

 
 

Councillor Support and Remuneration 

Councillor Allowance (paid during 2009/10) 

 Cr Greg Cruickshank $52,783.27 

 Cr Yvonne Jennings $19,895.20 

 Cr David Quayle $19,895.20 

 Cr Bill Croft $19,895.20 

 Cr Gary Norton $19,895.20 

 Cr Les McPhee $19,895.20 

 Cr John Katis $19,895.20 

 Total                    $172,154.47 

The Local Government Act 1989 states (S.75) 

A Council must reimburse a Councillor for expenses if the Councillor: 

• Applies in writing to the Council for reimbursement of 
expenses; and  

• Establishes in the application to Council that the expenses 
were reasonable bona fide Councillor out-of-pocket 
expenses  incurred while performing duties as a Councillor. 

Additional support will be provided by Council to ensure Councillors are 
able to perform their duties as a Councillor, as determined by the Minister 
in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989. 

A Councillor Expense Reimbursement and Support Policy was adopted by 
Council in March 2001 and was last reviewed in May 2009.  
 
The State Government categorises Councils according to their size and revenue 
base and for each category, sets the maximum annual allowance that can be paid to 
Mayors and Councillors.   
 
Swan Hill Rural City Council is in Category 2 and for the 2009 year, set the annual 
allowance for its Mayor at $58,097.00 and for all its other Councillors at $21,898.10, 
inclusive of 9% superannuation respectively on these allowances. 
 
The table below provides details on Councillor allowances during the last financial 
year. 
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Council Representatives on Committees and Associations 

Our Council 
governance 

Organisation Councillor Representative 
Councillor/Officer 
July 2009 / June 2010 

Asset Naming Sub-Committee (of 
Council) 

Mayor or Deputy Mayor 
1 Councillor as member 

Cr Jennings 
Cr Croft 

Audit Committee 2 Councillors as members Cr McPhee 
Cr Croft  

Central Murray Regional Waste 
Management Group 

Councillor as Director on Group Board Cr Quayle 

Chief Executive Officer Performance 
Review Committee 

Mayor, Immediate 
Past Mayor and Councillor 

Cr Norton 
Cr Cruickshank 
Cr Jennings  

Food for All Steering Committee Councillor as Chair (2 Committees, one in 
Swan Hill and one in Robinvale) 

Cr McPhee 
Cr Katis  

Livestock Saleyards Association of 
Victoria Inc 

Councillor as member Cr Croft  

Municipal Association of Victoria Councillor as Delegate 
Councillor as Sub-Delegate 

Cr Norton as Delegate 
Cr Cruickshank as Sub 
Delegate  
Cr Croft as Sub Delegate 

Municipal Emergency Management 
Planning Committee 

Councillor as Chair Cr McPhee 
Cr Croft and 
Cr Katis as back up 

Murray Darling Association Councillor as member Cr Norton 
Cr Jennings 

Murray Mallee Local Learning and 
Employment Network (MLLEN) 

Councillor/Officer as member Cr Jennings 

Murray River Group of Councils Mayor and CEO Cr Cruickshank 
CEO 

North West Municipalities Association Mayor and CEO or Councillors Cr Norton as Delegate 
Cr Cruickshank as Sub 
Delegate 
Cr Croft as Sub Delegate 

Swan Hill Regional Livestock Exchange Councillor 
Officer 

Cr Croft 

Sunraysia Rural Counselling Service Councillor as member Cr Jennings 

Swan Hill Community House Councillor as member Cr McPhee 

Swan Hill “Healthy Minds” Network Councillor as member Cr Quayle 

Swan Hill Incorporated Councillor/Officer as board member Cr Cruickshank 

Swan Hill Indoor Sport and Recreation 
Centre Committee of Management 

Ward Councillors as observers Cr Cruickshank 

Swan Hill Leisure Centre Committee of 
Management 

Councillor as Delegate 
Councillor as Sub-Delegate 

Cr Quayle 
Cr McPhee as Sub-Delegate 

Swan Hill Regional Art Gallery Advisory 
Committee 

Councillor as member Cr Jennings 
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  Our Council 
governance 

Council Representatives on Committees and Associations 
 

Organisation Councillor Representative 
Councillor/Officer 
July 2009 / June 2010 

Swan Hill River Precinct Advisory Group 2 Councillors as members 
Cr McPhee 
Cr Cruickshank 

Victorian Association of Performing Arts
(VAPAC) Councillor as member Cr Quayle 
Grampians Wimmera Mallee Water-
Committee Councillor as member Cr Norton 

Central Victorian Greenhouse Alliance Councillor as a member Cr Cruickshank 

MAV Human Services Councillor as a member Cr McPhee 

Committee Councillor Representative 

Robinvale Aged Accommodation Group Cr Katis 

RWAV (Rural Workforce Agency Victoria MAV-Board) Cr Quayle 

Connectus Steering Committee Cr Jennings 
Cr Croft 

Robinvale Aboriginal Elders Committee Cr Katis 

Municipal Fire Prevention Committee Cr Cruickshank 

So Great Committee Cr Katis 

Robinvale Euston Business Association Cr Katis 

Lake Boga Inc Cr McPhee 

Manangatang Improvement Group (MIG) Cr Norton 

Nyah Action Group Cr Norton 

Ultima Progress Association Cr McPhee 

Bigger Better Beverford Group Cr Jennings 
Cr Cruickshank 
Cr Quayle 
Cr Croft 

Woorinen Progress Association Cr Jennings 
Cr Cruickshank 
Cr Quayle 
Cr Croft 

Piangil Community Group Cr Norton 

Boundary Bend Progress Association Cr Norton 

Swan Hill Rural City Residents and Ratepayers Association Cr Norton 

MAV—Environment and Water Cr Norton 

Rail Freight Alliance Cr Norton 

Sustainability Strategy Committee Cr Cruickshank 
Cr Jennings 

Tree Committee Cr Katis 
Cr McPhee 



P 32  

 

SHRCC  
2009/2010 Annual Report 
BUILDING OUR FUTURE TOGETHER 
 

Our Council 
governance 

The Audit Committee is an independent Advisory 
Committee to Council and acts as a Special 
Committee of Council. The Audit Committee is 
formed under Section 139 of the Local Government 
Act 1989.   
 
The primary objective of the Swan Hill Rural City 
Council Audit Committee is to assist Council in the 
effective conduct of its responsibilities for: 

• The enhancement of the credibility and 
objectivity of internal and external financial 
reporting. 

• Effective management of financial processes, 
to ensure integrity and transparency. 

• Effective management of risks and the 
protection of Council assets. 

• Compliance with laws and regulations as well 
as use of best practice guidelines. 

• The effectiveness of the internal Audit function. 

• The provision of an effective means of 
communication between the external Auditor, 
internal Audit, management and the Council. 

• Facilitating the organisation’s ethical 
development. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
The Swan Hill Rural City 
Council has an Audit 
Committee that facilitates the 
responsible operation of the 
Council.   
 
The Audit Committee is an 
independent committee of 
Council, consisting of five 
members, three of whom are 
independent experts in a 
range of areas, including 
financial management, 
business and project 
management.   

Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee Members are:  

Member 
Eligible to 
Attend Attended 

Mr David Hutchings  
(Chair) 5 5  

Mr Les Thompson 5  5 

Mr Maurice W Tyers 5  5 

Cr Les McPhee 5  4 

Cr Yvonne Jennings 5  4 

Cr Bill Croft 3 3 

Outcomes for 2009-2010 

10 September 2009 
• CMP Public Liability 

Audit 
• External Audit 

Outcomes 
 
10 December 2009 
• Review of Audit 

Committee Charter 
• Procurement Policy 
 
11 February 2010 
• Review of Internal 

Audit Projects 
 
15 April 2010 
• Internal Audit 

Submissions review 
 
10 June 2010 
• Internal Auditor 

Appointment 
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governance 

Community Consultation 

DID YOU KNOW? 
 

• The Mayor and CEO 
attend Robinvale 
monthly to meet 
residents. 

 

• 11 Community Plans 
are now in place. 

 

• Council has assisted in 
developing early years 
and youth networks. 

 

• We meet with Business, 
Tourism and Progress 
Associations monthly. 

As part of Council’s ongoing commitment to consulting with our community, a range of 
consultation exercises have been undertaken over the year.  Consultation takes many 
varied forms, all of which contribute to Council’s understanding of the issues and 
priorities of our community. 

Improved communication between Council and the community has been, and 
remains a priority of the Swan Hill Rural City Council.   
 
Council adopted its Communication Strategy at the June Council meeting and 
continues to provide comprehensive information about a range of activities, issues, 
services and events through: 

• Regular Mayoral column in local newspapers. 

• Our website at www.swanhill.vic.gov.au is updated on a regular basis. 

• Distributed a regular newsletter to the community, four editions have been 
delivered to all letterboxes and post boxes in the municipality. 

• Distributed over 300 media releases to various media outlets. 

• A range of community consultation exercises have been undertaken over 
the year.   

 

How did We Consult with You this Year? 

What did We Consult You on this Year? 

• Swan Hill CBD Masterplan 

• Robinvale CBD Masterplan 

• Robinvale Riverfront Masterplan 

• Youth Strategy 

• Tourism Strategy 

• Community Planning 

• Car Parking Strategy 

• Draft Budget 2009-2010 

• Swan Hill Bridge 

• Tower Hill 

• Communication Strategy 

• Swan Hill Planning Review 

• Rating Strategy 
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Our Council 
best value  

Best Value Swan Hill 

208B. Best Value Principles 
 
a) All services provided by a Council must meet the quality and cost standards 

required by section 208D; 

b) Subject to sections 3C(2)(b) and 3C(2)(e), all services provided by a Council 
must be responsive to the needs of its community; 

c) Each service provided by a Council must be accessible to those members of 
the community for whom the service is intended; 

d) A Council must achieve continuous improvement in the provision of services for 
its community; 

e) A Council must develop a program of regular consultation with its community in 
relation to the services it provides; 

f) A Council must report regularly to its community on its achievements in relation 
to the principles set out in paragraphs (a), (b), (c), (d) and (e). 

The Best Value principles within the Local Government Act 1989 provide the statutory 
basis upon which Councils plan, review and manage their performance in order to 
deliver continuous improvement in all services and to meet the needs and 
expectations of service users. 

Council completed a review of all of its services and operations in June 2005 in 
compliance with Best Value Legislation.  A vital component of Best Value is 
continuous improvement and its integration into the ongoing operations of Council, to 
assist with providing quality services and value to the community that are accessible, 
timely and affordable. 

Ensuring Continuous Improvement 

Council’s Corporate Planning processes are to ensure Best Value Principles are 
applied to the business plans and operations of each department of Council, as a way 
of embedding continuous improvement.  Council also participates in various 
benchmarking groups and activities such as the Super 11 group of Council’s and 
Municipal Association Victoria (MAV) Step Asset Management Process. 
 
The State Government Community Satisfaction Survey is conducted annually and is 
used as a guide to monitor service performance and resource allocation.  The Council 
Plan further includes several initiatives aimed at improving the operational efficiency 
and effectiveness of Council’s services.   

Best Value Review  and 
Reporting Process 
 
Council reviews its Quality 
and Cost Standards and 
reports to the community on 
how they have been 
achieved annually.  Council 
reports quarterly to the 
community on its 
achievement against the 
Council Plan, Annual Budget 
and the results of the 
Community Satisfaction 
Survey are reported on at 
least annually. 

Benchmarking 

Swan Hill Rural City Council continues to be an active participant in the “Super 11” 
group of similar sized municipalities that not only undertake performance and process 
benchmarking on a range of services, but also compare performance and standards 
on a range of practices. 
 
In addition, Council conducts its own Community Satisfaction Surveys—every two 
years—to gauge community perception of Council’s performance on a range of 
issues.  These surveys include comparisons of Swan Hill Rural City Council’s 
performance against other Councils both in regional groupings and overall.   
 
Council participates in various benchmarking activities for individual service areas.  
These include STEP Asset Management Program, DPCP, key performance 
indicators reporting, Victoria Grants Commission Returns, MAV Rates survey and 
reporting to Government Agencies in the areas of Aged Care, Maternal and Child 
Health, Child Care and many others.  
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risk management 

Risk Management 

Swan Hill Rural City Council is committed to managing risk effectively by 
having in place proactive procedures and systems aimed at reducing the 
adverse effects from future events.  Mechanisms are in place to protect 
Council against risk exposures such as professional and public liability 
claims, safety, reputation, assets and financial sustainability. 
 
Council’s Risk Management Policy and Strategy has been developed in 
accordance with the Australian and New Zealand Standard on Risk 
Management AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009.   
 
The Risk Management Policy provides a framework for identifying, 
analysing, controlling and reviewing risks.  Ongoing reviews of policies, 
controls and standards relating to Risk Management are reported to the 
Audit Committee on a quarterly basis. 
 
Council’s Risk Management focus this year has seen the ongoing review 
and monitoring of risks, review and adoption of the Business Continuity Plan 
and the replacement and implementation of Council’s risk register software. 
 
The Risk Management section has continued to provide assistance to all 
areas of Council ensuring Council’s commitment to good risk management 
principles and practices. 

Property and Fidelity 
Guarantee Insurance Audits 

 
Council’s insurer, Jardine Lloyd 
Thompson Municipal Assets 
Protection Plan (JMAPP), conducts 
property and fidelity guarantee 
insurance audits (fidelity on behalf of 
the MAV) on a biennial basis for all 
Councils they insure.  
 
This process involves a desktop 
audit of Council’s fidelity, property 
and asset management procedures, 
plus site visits of randomly selected 
Council-insured properties. 
 
While Council’s Property and Fidelity 
Guarantee Insurance Audits were 
not held this year, we have reached 
the end of the two-year audit cycle 
and as a result of all Council’s audits 
being finalised, the state rankings 
have been released. 
 
JMAPP 

Council’s total score: 67.17% 
Council’s state ranking: 51st  
State average score: 74% 

Fidelity 

Council’s total score: 79% 
Council’s state ranking: 25th  
State average score: 68.5% 

 

The year ahead 

• Finalise the implementation of 
the Risk Register (Tickit On 
Demand). 

• Review Council’s Risk 
Management Policy, Directive 
and Procedure. 
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Public Liability 

Council’s Public Liability insurer Civic Mutual Plus (CMP) conducts audits of 
all Councils they insure on a biennial basis and provides assistance to 
improve Council’s Risk Management practices in the alternate years, the level 
of which is determined by Council’s State ranking from the previous audit. 
 
Council’s biennial Public Liability Audit was conducted on 10 February 2010 
resulting in an overall score of 92%, being a 10% increase on the previous 
audit score. 
The audit included the following areas: 

• Organisational Risk Management (Risk Management systems and 
embedding risk). 

• Reactive Risk Management (incident investigation procedures). 

• Proactive inspections and reactive requests (roads, footpaths, road 
management plan compliance, trees, recreation reserves, pools and bike 
tracks). 

• Written Agreements (Special committees and Seasonal users). 
• Building and Town Planning (essential safety measures and town 

planning). 
• Food (food safety). 

Council received a perfect score in the areas of Building and Town Planning 
(100%), Food (100%) and Reactive Risk Management (100%), while scoring 
well in the areas of Organisational Risk Management (89%), Proactive 
inspections and reactive requests (89%) and Written Agreements (92.3%). 

Council’s forum ranking (North West Victoria) remained the same (2nd), with 
our State ranking improving from twentieth to equal eleventh of the 76 
Councils in the CMP scheme for the same period. 
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Victorian Local Government Indicators 

The Local Government Indicators have been developed to enable Victorian Councils to provide an overview of 
their performance on a common basis.  There are 11 indicators in all, which combined are designed to provide a 
‘snap shot’ of performance.  They provide financial information per assessment (rateable property), capital and 
maintenance expenditure compared to the level of annual consumption of assets (a measure of how much 
assets are used during the year), and a community satisfaction with Council Performance. 

  2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 

Affordability 

Average rates and charges per 
assessment $1,287  $1,386  $1,512  $1,546  $1,649  

Average rates and charges per 
Residential assessment $983  $1,116 $1,131  $1,187  $1,236  

Sustainability 

Average liabilities per 
assessment $1,195  $1,183 $1,212 $1,179 $1,176  

Operating result per assessment 
– surplus / (deficit) $94  $5 $51 $192 ($25)  

Services 

Average operating expenditure 
per assessment $2,909  $3,299 $3,275 $3,694 $3,920  

Community Satisfaction Survey 
for overall performance 
generally of Council 66  62 62 65 63 

Infrastructure 

Average capital expenditure per 
assessment $700  $391 $472 $566 $975  

Renewal Gap 
Current spending on renewal to 
Asset base consumed during the 
year 60%  56% 74% 88% 176%  

Renewal and Maintenance Gap 
Current spending on renewal 
plus maintenance to Asset base 
consumed during the year plus 
maintenance 81%  80% 89% 95% 143%  

Governance 
Community Satisfaction Survey 
for Council’s advocacy and 
community representation on 
key local issues 66 60 73 75 64  

Community Satisfaction Survey 
for Council’s engagement in 
decision-making on key local 
issues 61  54 64 64 61  
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Equal Employment Opportunity 

Swan Hill Rural City Council’s Equal 
Employment Opportunity (EEO) 
Directive reflects the organisation’s 
commitment to providing a workplace 
free of discrimination and harassment.  
The principles of the Directive are 
reflected in all Council’s policies and 
decision-making processes, particularly 
relating to staff recruitment, career 
development and promotion.   
 
The EEO Directive is reinforced 
regularly to staff through the staff 
newsletter, performance reviews and all 
staff are required to attend Equal 
Opportunity training every two years.   
 
In 2010, Council expanded its EEO 
Program to include training for EEO 
Contact Officers who are staff 
representatives trained to provide 
advice and support to other staff to help 
resolve workplace issues.   
 
A further new initiative was the 
development of an EEO investigation 
brochure.  The brochure is provided to 
staff prior to an independent 
investigation and outlines the 
investigation process, types of 
disciplinary action and options for 
support and counselling available to 
staff during an investigation. 
 
Five equal opportunity issues were 
formally reported to Council during 
2009-2010.  All matters were 
independently investigated and 
addressed internally, with no resultant 
action to the Victorian Equal 
Opportunity and Human Rights 
Commission. 

Swan Hill Rural City Council respects 
the privacy of its citizens, ratepayers 
and clients.  Council is committed to the 
Privacy Principles prescribed by the 
Information Privacy Act 2000 and the 
Health Records Act 2001.  Council has 
adopted a privacy policy that addresses 
the requirements of both Acts.  A copy 
of the policy is available at the Council 
offices during business hours and on 
Council’s website. 
 
In accordance with our newly adopted 
Quality and Costs Standards, Council 
proposes to conduct privacy reviews of 
Council departments/functions.  
Council’s Privacy Officer commits to one 
review during 2010-2011 and 2011-
2012 financial years and two reviews 
each year from 2012-2013. 

Information Privacy Act 2000 
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Freedom of Information Act 

The Freedom of Information Act 1982 provides the opportunity for public 
access to Council documents.  The Act establishes a legally enforceable 
right for the community to request information, in document form, held by 
Council. 
 
The Act has four principles: 
 

1. The public has a right of access to documents subject to certain 
 exceptions or exemptions. 

2. Local Governments are required to publish information on the 
 documents they hold. 

3. Individuals may request that inaccurate, incomplete, out-of-date or 
 misleading information about themselves be amended.  

4. Individuals may appeal against a decision not to give access  to the 
document(s) or not to amend personal information. 

 
Of the four requests received this financial year, one request was denied 
in full, one request did not proceed and the remaining two requests 
continued into the 2010/11 financial year. 
 

 
 
Written requests for documents must be addressed to Council’s Freedom 
of Information Officer and should be accompanied by an application fee of 
$23.90 (2010/11).  A request must specify the document required or if 
unable to do so, give sufficient detail to enable the relevant document to 
be located, the form of access required and include details of the 
applicant’s contact details. 
 
Council’s FOI Officer and internal reviewer attended refresher training 
during the financial year. 

Financial 
Year 

No. of Requests Fees and 
Charges 

Costs 

2009/10 4 requests $93.60 $3,030.72 

2008/09 2 requests $58.60 $144.21 

2007/08 2 requests $184.00 $3,967.95 

2006/07 2 requests $99.30 $237.00 

2005/06 2 requests $118.85 $344.67 

The Swan Hill Rural City Council has 
developed procedures that protect 
people who report improper conduct or 
detrimental action by the Swan Hill 
Rural City Council or its employees.  
The procedures encourage the 
disclosure of improper conduct by 
Council or its employees, provide 
protection to the person making 
disclosure from reprisals and require the 
comprehensive investigation of matters 
disclosed.  
 
Council takes its role and 
responsibilities very seriously and 
provided information on the criteria for 
whistleblower action and contact details 
in staff newsletters during the year.  The 
Whistleblower Act also forms part of the 
new staff induction process.  No 
reportable matters were received in the 
2009-2010 financial year. 
 
Staff are encouraged, if they believe 
they are aware of or have evidence 
about improper conduct or detrimental 
actions by the Swan Hill Rural City 
Council or its staff,  to report  the 
matters to the protected disclosure 
coordinator. 
  
Geoffrey Gray on  
(03) 5036 2339,  
Mobile:  0429137521 or on  
Email: ggray@swanhill.vic.gov.au 

Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 
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Documents to be made available for public inspection 

• Details of current allowances fixed for the Mayor and Councillors. 

• Details of senior officers’ total salary packages for the current financial year and 
previous year. 

• Details of overseas or interstate travel undertaken in an official capacity by 
Councillors or any Council staff in the previous 12 months. 

• Names of Council officers who were required to submit a return of interest during the 
financial year and the dates the returns were submitted. 

• Names of Councillors who were required to submit a return of interest during the 
financial year and the dates the returns were submitted. 

• Agendas and minutes for Ordinary and Special Council meetings held in the previous 
12 months. 

• A list of all special committees established by the Council and the purpose for which 
each committee was established. 

• A list of all special committees established by Council which were abolished or 
ceased to function during the financial year. 

• Minutes of meetings of special committees established under Section 86 of the Act 
and held in the last 12 months. 

• A register of delegations kept under the Local Government Act. 

• Submissions received under Section 223 of the Act during the previous 12 months. 

• Details of all property, finance and operating leases involving land, buildings, plant, 
computer equipment or vehicles entered into by Council as leesor or lessee. 

• Register of authorised officers appointed under Section 224 of the Act. 

• A list of donations and grants made by the Council during the financial year. 

• A list of the names of the organisations of which the Council was a member during 
the financial year. 

• A list of contracts valued at $150,000 for services and $200,000 for works that 
Council entered into during the financial year without first engaging in a competitive 
process. 

Council is committed to open and transparent governance.  According to the Local 
Government Act 1989 and Section 11 of the Local Government (General) Regulations 
2004 a Council must make available for public inspection documents containing the 
prescribed matters below.   

These documents can be viewed at the Swan Hill Rural City Council Municipal Offices 
at 45 Splatt Street, Swan Hill from 8:30am to 5:00pm Monday to Friday. 
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The Swan Hill Rural City Council is a party to the 1999 Competition Principles Agreement with the State of Victoria.  
The agreement focuses on ensuring that Council’s operations do not inhibit competition at the local level and focus 
on three main areas: Local Laws, Trade Practices Act and significant Council business activities.  In each of these 
three areas, in 2009-2010 Council was compliant with the requirements of the agreement. 

Certification by Chief Executive Officer 

 
Swan Hill Rural City Council has complied with the requirements of the National Competition Policy for the period  
1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010, in accordance with the requirements outlined in National Competition Policy and Local 
Government – A Revised Statement of Victorian Government Policy, December 2008 (2008 Statement) as set out 
below: 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I certify that: 

 
a) this statement has been prepared in accordance with the 2009-2010 National Competition Policy reporting 

guidelines, which is pursuant to the 2008 Statement; and  
 

b) this statement presents fairly the Council’s implementation of the National Competition Policy. 
 
 

 
Signed: 

 
(Chief Executive Officer) 
 
 
Date:19 August 2010  

  

A.  Trade Practices Compliance 
  
State whether the Council is compliant or non-compliant.  If 
non-compliant, justify or cite actions to redress. 

  

  
  

Compliant 

  
B.  Local Laws Compliance 
  
State whether the Council is compliant or non-compliant. List 
all local laws made or remade during 2009-10 which impose a 
restriction on competition: 

  

  
  

 Compliant 

  
C.  Competitive Neutrality Compliance 
  
State whether the Council is compliant or non-compliant for 
all significant businesses.  List any significant businesses 
that are non-compliant: 

  

  
  

 Compliant 
  

National Competition Policy Compliance: 2009-2010 
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We measure our performance by: 

• Sustainable Communities               

• Economic Growth 

• Environmental Management           

• Governance and Leadership 
 

These are the key areas which we measure our 
performance against and the past 12 months 
have included many success stories.   

The following provides information on just how 
we did this. 
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Accountability Framework 

Swan Hill Rural City Municipality 

Council 
• Mayor 

• Councillors 

Executive Management Team 
• CEO 

• Director Corporate Services 

• Director Infrastructure 

• Director Development and Planning 

• Director Community and Cultural Services 

Corporate 
Services 

• Commercial 
Services 

• Human 
Resources 

• Finance 

• Information 
and 
Technology 

• Customer 
Service and 
Revenue 

 

Infrastructure 

• Assets 

• Engineering 
Services 

• Waste 
Management 

• Corporate 
Operations 

• Environment 

• Community 
Planning and 
Recreation 

 

Development 
and Planning 

• Development 
Services 

• Building 
Services 

• Environmental 
Health 

• Regulatory 
Services 

 

Community and 
Cultural Services 

• Aged and 
Disability 
Services 

• Family Youth 
and Children 

• Cultural and 
Library 
Services 

• Packaged 
Care 

• Community 
Capacity 

The diagram illustrates 
Council’s accountability 
framework to ensure a 
performance management 
process is in place for the 
annual planning, 
budgeting and reporting 
cycles, which are 
integrated and driven by 
Council’s priorities set out 
in the Council Plan and 
updated each year. 
 

Audit 
Committee 

Internal 
Audit 

Reporting Outcomes to the Community 

Desired Community Outcomes 
 

Sustainable Communities Environmental Management 
Economic Growth   Governance and  Leadership 

Elections 

Annual Budget 

Council  
Plan 

Annual 
Report 

Key Strategic 
Initiatives—
Council Plan 
Outcomes 

Council 
Reports 

Other 
Reporting 

CEO 

• Pioneer Settlement 

• Economic 
Development Unit 

• Robinvale “So Great” 

• Public Relations, 
Media and Events 
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Council Performance Reporting 

Local Government is subject to substantial reporting requirements.  At the Swan Hill Rural City Council we 
ensure that we continue to deliver our desired community outcomes by monitoring our progress via the 
following performance reports and reporting these results back to the community. 

Report What does it report? Occurrence 

Annual Report This includes details of 
Council’s operations 
during the financial year, 
audited financial 
statements and a copy of 
the performance 
statement highlighting 
Council’s achievement 
against our Council plan. 
 

Annually 

Financial Statements The financial statements 
report the financial 
position of Council 
throughout various stages 
of the year. 
 

Quarterly 

Key Strategic Initiatives—Council Plan Outcomes The Council Plan is the 
primary strategy adopted 
by the elected officials 
throughout their term.  It 
outlines Council’s 
objectives, strategies and 
identifies actions for 
achieving the desired 
community outcomes. 

The Key Strategic 
Initiatives make up the 
Council Plan and a 
quarterly progress report 
is issued to Council to 
monitor their 
performance. 

Quarterly 
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HIGHLIGHTS 

• Adoption and implementation of Youth Strategy 

• Implementation of Year 1 actions from the 
Aboriginal Employment Strategy 

• Implementation of the Aboriginal Partnership 
Plan 

• Increased funding for Community Planning 

• Animal pound at Robinvale 

• Implementation of actions from the Swan Hill 
Reserves Master Plan 

• Completion of redevelopment plan for the Swan 
Hill Art Gallery 

• Determination on Council’s role in the 
redevelopment of the Swan Hill Racecourse 
Development Project and the Nyah Recreation 
Reserve 

• Adoption and implementation of the Pioneer 
Settlement Master Plan 

• Positioning of Swan Hill Rural City Council as 
the lead agency for future service delivery for the 
Loddon Mallee region 

 

CHALLENGES FACED 

• Footpath Trading Strategy 

• Development of Municipal Early Years Plan 

• Review of the Municipal Public Health Plan 

• Possibilities for expanding library services 

• Car Parking Strategy 

• Asset Infrastructure renewal gap 

Our  Performance 
1. sustainable communities 

1. Sustainable Communities 
Strategic Objectives 

Building Community 
Capacity 

Council seeks to connect 
members of our community 
and to provide leadership to 
bring people together to find 
solutions to community 
problems. 
 

Supporting People Who 
Need Extra Assistance 

This strategy recognises that 
there are times when 
individuals and organisations 
need extra support either by 
the provision of Council 
services or by Council 
facilitating access to services 
by others. 

Developing A Safer 
Community 

Council, in partnership with 
other agencies, seeks to 
ensure the every day safety 
of our community. 

Facilitate And Provide 
Services For Health and 
Wellbeing 

Council will provide or 
facilitate a range of services 
that maintain community 
health and provide 
opportunities and 
infrastructure that contribute 
to the educational, 
recreational, cultural and 
leisure needs of our 
community. 

Celebrating Our Identity We are proud of who we are.  
Council will seek to 
recognise, preserve, promote 
and celebrate our identity, 
our history and our future, 
embracing our diversity while 
building a cohesive 
community by providing a 
wide range of cultural and 
artistic experiences. 

Aboriginal Recognition Council recognises that the 
Wadi Wadi, Wamba Wamba, 
Barapa Barapa, Tati Tati and 
Latji Latji peoples are the 
original custodians of all land 
and waters in the Swan Hill 
Rural City Council and that 
according to their continuing 
law, traditions and customs it 
remains their traditional 
country. 
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Council Plan Initiatives  
Our Commitments and Performance 

     Actions completed      Actions in progress      Actions not achieved 

What We Said Status 

Advocate for continued funding for Community Planning.  

Progressively implement actions identified in Community 
Plans.  

Increase and improve engagement with young people in all 
areas of Council operations. 

 
  

Develop Municipal Early Years Plan.  

Advocate State Government support for additional focus on 
disability awareness and service delivery. 

 
  

Build an animal pound for Robinvale.   

Participate in the development of the Loddon Mallee Iconic 
Trails Strategic Plan.   

Review the Municipal Public Health Plan.   

Educating the community on waste management and 
reduction.   

Implement actions identified in the Swan Hill Reserves 
Master Plan.   

Determine Council’s position and extent of our role and 
responsibilities in the redevelopment of the Swan Hill 
Racecourse Development Project and the Nyah Recreation 
Reserve. 

  
  

Explore possibilities for expanding library services.   

Identify possibilities and encourage multi-user recreation, 
health and cultural facilities.   

Adoption of the Footpath Trading Strategy.   

Complete redevelopment plan for the Swan Hill Art Gallery.  

Implementation of the Aboriginal Partnership Plan.   

KEY: What We Said Status 

Position SHRCC as the lead agency for future service 
delivery for the Loddon Mallee Region.   

Implementation of the Pioneer Settlement Master Plan.   



P 49 SHRCC  
2009/2010 Annual Report 

BUILDING OUR FUTURE TOGETHER 

  Our  Performance 
sustainable communities 

COMMUNITY FACILITATION UNIT 

HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Nyah Recreation Reserve:  Council is working with the 
community to develop project priorities, scoping these priorities, 
undertaking cost estimate exercises and identifying potential 
funding options in order for works and upgrades to be 
implemented. 
 
Swan Hill Racecourse Development Project:  Council has 
resolved to make provision in its 2011- 2012 budget for a 
$200,000 contribution towards the construction of the new 
Community Hub project.   
 
The Community Hub project involves the construction of a 
500m2 multi-purpose community facility with fully equipped 
kitchen, male and female toilet facilities, meeting rooms, office 
space and auditorium that will accommodate 12 or more social, 
multicultural and sporting organisations from within the Swan Hill 
community.  

• Council has agreed to act as the project manager for this 
Development. 

• Council has also resolved to negotiate with the Victorian State 
Government on the possible sale to Council of the portion of 
unused land fronting Wattie Street and Campbell Street. This 
land has been considered surplus to the needs of the 
racecourse. 

 
North West Motorsports Feasibility Study has been instigated 
in a partnership arrangement with Mildura Rural City Council. The 
project is being funded by the two Councils, together with a grant 
from the Victorian Government. The project will create a 
motorsports facility strategic plan and an implementation strategy 
aimed at improving the motorsports benefits enjoyed by all North 
West Victorian enthusiasts and those in the wider regional 
communities. The strategy will also identify ways in which 
activities can contribute to the economy in North West Victoria. 
 
Funding has been received from the Victorian State 
Government’s Country Football Netball Program to install and 
upgrade irrigation at the Woorinen Recreation Reserve. 
 
Funding for Lake Boga:  Funding has been received from the 
Community Facility Funding Program 2010-2011 to assist funding 
raised from the local primary school and Council for this project. 
The project involves the development of two multi-use sports 
courts at the Lake Boga Primary School and will see an 
improvement in the sport and recreation facilities for the Lake 
Boga multi-purpose facility. 
 

The Swan Hill Showgrounds Upgrade:  The 
showground will see an upgrade to its irrigation 
system with funding received from the Community 
Sport and Recreation Program to assist in this 
project. 
 
The Woorinen South Skate Park Project:  This 
has been approved for funding under the 
Community Facility Funding Program, with a 
$60,000 grant from the State Government. The 
skate park will provide much needed additional 
recreational and leisure opportunities for Woorinen 
District Youth. 
 
Implementation of the L2P Program: The L2P 
Program is co-ordinated by VicRoads and funded 
by the Victorian Government through the Victorian 
Transport Accident Commission and provides 
access to driving practice for learner drivers who 
have difficulty in gaining experience without 
community support.  
 
Rural Access Co-ordinator’s Position:  State 
Government funding through the Department of 
Human Services has enabled Council to 
administer this program which involves: 

• Providing support to people with a disability 

• Strengthening the community’s capacity to 
provide support people with a disability and their 
families. 

THE YEAR AHEAD 
 

• Obtaining funding for Council's priorities 
including development of the Pioneer 
Settlement. 

 

• In delivery of the L2P program, meet the 
VicRoads target of 40 learners engaged in the 
first year of funding to recruit and train sufficient 
volunteer mentors to meet the needs of these 
learners and to maintain community interest and 
support for the program. 

 

• In delivering the Rural Access program, ensure 
that all people, no matter what their level of 
ability, have the same opportunities to engage, 
participate and feel pride in being a part of our 
community. 

The Community Facilitation Unit provides a range of services and 
programs to support Council and our community.   
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COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Community Planning is an ongoing program involving strong community participation.  
community planning continues to support local people to implement projects in 
community plans while identifying ways to support communities to be self-reliant into 
the future.   

HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Eleven Community Plans have now been developed.   Manangatang, Piangil, 
Robinvale, Nyah District, Ultima, Woorinen, Wemen, Lake Boga, Swan Hill, Beverford 
and Boundary Bend. 
 
An amalgam of the common priorities.  All the separate plans have resulted in a 
draft copy of the Swan Hill Rural City Council Municipal Community Plan. This plan will 
further assist community initiatives to come to fruition with a whole of municipality 
approach. 
 
Actions implemented in community plans.  

• Bush Tucker Garden designed and created by the local residents at Boundary 
Bend Memorial Park (formally the old school site). 

• Manangatang created their Mallee Garden and finalised the Heritage Trail and 
Heritage Walk brochure. 

• Chinkapook Public Hall had a facelift with funding received from the Department 
of Sustainability and Environment. 

• Lake Boga saw the grand opening of the Catalina Hangar. 

 
Continued support.  Council continues to advocate for the community planning 
program and applies for funding on behalf of the communities to see projects come to 
fruition. 

Each community has a unique story to tell 

CHALLENGES 
 
One of Council’s greatest 
challenges will be to seek funds to 
bring projects to fruition. Council, 
with the support of the community 
planning groups and through 
thorough investigation, planning 
and scoping of projects by the 
individual focus groups assigned 
to each project, stands strong to 
attract additional funding from 
external sources. 

THE YEAR AHEAD 
 
There are opportunities for the year ahead for 
each of the communities associated with 
community planning such as: 

• Further development of the Memorial Park in 
Boundary Bend 

• A youth space for Manangatang 

• Construction of the Woorinen Skate Park 

• Redevelopment of Perrin Street in Robinvale 

• Development of the Robinvale and Swan Hill 
riverfronts 

• Upgrades to the kitchen facilities at the Nyah 
Recreation Reserve 

• A new playground for George Lay Park 

“The process of community 
planning has provided the 
Manangatang Improvement 
Group (MIG) with a 
FOCUS….a focus to look at 
ourselves as a community 
and to build on the important 
parts of the community. For 
example, the children’s 
services and the physical 
environment of our town.” 

Mrs Freule Jones—
President MIG 

The MIG consists of prioritised 
projects and actions—the 
members have been able to 
work towards goals that 
improve the town with 
enthusiasm, and the 
satisfaction once an action 
was achieved.   
 
MIG appreciated the 
leadership for community 
planning given by the Swan 
Hill Rural City Council staff. 

Through community planning, Council will investigate the Transition Towns concept to 
further support communities to plan for a sustainable future. This includes looking at 
food production and distribution, transport, renewable energy and infrastructure. 
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INDIGENOUS  AFFAIRS 

Council continues to be heavily involved in Aboriginal issues, with 
Council’s Manager of Aboriginal Affairs being involved in a number of 
initiatives to support the local Aboriginal community, particularly in the 
area of promoting Aboriginal employment. This builds on the foundation 
formed through Council’s Aboriginal Partnership Plan, which is currently 
being implemented. 

HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Adoption of the Aboriginal Employment Strategy.  The strategy 
promotes the employment of Aboriginal people within Council and 
provides encouragement to the broader community to increase 
employment levels of local Aboriginal people.  
 
Appointment of a Manager Aboriginal Affairs.  The role of this position 
is to foster partnerships between Council and the Aboriginal community by 
providing ongoing assistance to the local Aboriginal community in the 
areas of employment, service delivery and leadership in Aboriginal issues.  
This position has been funded to 30 June 2010 with ongoing funding 
provided by Council thereafter. 
 
Initiatives to support the local Aboriginal community particularly in the 
area of promoting Aboriginal employment.  This builds on the foundation 
formed through Council’s Aboriginal Partnership Plan, which is currently 
being implemented. 
 
The Aboriginal Partnership Plan has been, and continues to be, an 
important document in setting the framework for Council’s involvement in 
Indigenous issues.  It underpins and supports the employment of 
Council’s Manager Aboriginal Affairs.  In addition to achievements as part 
of the Aboriginal Partnership Plan, Council has also achieved the 
following: 

• Delivery of the Connectus program to provide training and 
employment outcomes to 15 young Aboriginal jobseekers. 

• Running of Vibe 3 on 3 Basketball tournament which attracted 
participation from over 400 Aboriginal people as spectators and/or 
players and gained commitment for the running of further events. 

• Erection of Aboriginal specific flag poles and the subsequent raising of 
the Aboriginal flag on a daily basis and the development and 
acknowledgement of Country. 

• Support for the running of Aboriginal-based events such as the Strong 
and Deadly Concert, Murray River Challenge Cup (cricket) and the 
Ken Kropinyeri concert. 

• Support for Victoria Police recruitment. 
 
 
 
 
 

CHALLENGES 
 
Achieving 15 employment 
outcomes for young Indigenous 
people is a key challenge for the 
Manager Aboriginal Affairs  

THE YEAR AHEAD 

• Delivery of Indigenous cross-
cultural training to Council 
staff 

• Implementation of Year 2 
actions of the Aboriginal 
Employment Strategy 

• Continued support for 
initiatives within the local 
Aboriginal community 
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COMMUNITY FUNDING 

Over the past year a new program called Community Pride was 
developed and administered by the Community Facilitation Unit.   
 
The Community Pride Program is a Swan Hill Rural City Council 
initiative which aims to encourage a greater spirit of pride within our 
community.  Funding was made available to the following groups 
and organisations: 

Organisation Project Amount Funded 

Kunawaa Pre-School 
To beautify the front garden of the school and 
co-ordinate a worm farm for the children. $1,200.00 

Manangatang 100 

To lay a professional ‘buy a brick’ paved path 
to commemorate the Manangatang 100 
Celebrations. $2,000.00 

Manangatang Cemetery 
Signage for the cemetery and planting of trees 
to beautify the entrance. $1,000.00 

Manangatang Community Stadium 

Clean up of the front of the facility, planting of 
trees and shrubs and coordination of a working 
bee. $501.40 

Manangatang P-12 College 
Revitalise the school grounds by engaging the 
students in tree planting. $1,000.00 

Nyah District Guides 
Beautify the surrounds of the Ross Den Hall in 
Nyah West. $1,000.00 

Nyah West Tennis Club 

Removal of weeds, planting and trimming of 
trees at the facility.  Overall clean up of the 
facility. $1,500.00 

Robinvale Football Club 
Funds towards the painting and beautification 
of front of club rooms. $500.00 

Swan Hill District Health (Health Promotions 
Department) 

Funds towards beautification and landscaping 
of the front of the new premises located in 
McCrae Street. $2,000.00 

Swan Hill Primary School 

Community vegetable garden at the primary 
school to teach students about the benefits of 
recycling and composting $1,000.00 

Swan Hill Scouts 
Funds towards a working bee to clean up the 
front of the Scout Hall. $500.00 

Swan Hill Specialist School 
Equipment and plants to be used in the 
community garden. $1,000.00 

Ultima Progress Association 
Funds towards the clean up of the town 
entrance. $1,500.00 

TOTAL  $14,701.40 
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COMMUNITY FUNDING 

Council continues to provide assistance to community organisations 
and clubs in the delivery of their programs, activities and services 
through our Community Grants Programs.   
 
The details of the recipients of the 2009-2010 program are: 

Organisation Project Amount Funded 

Kunawaa Pre School Upgrading of outdoor play equipment. $1,000.00 

Lakeside Golf Club Updating of food handling, preparation and delivery service area.   $1,000.00 

LIFT Breast Cancer Group Funds towards postage for mailouts/delivery of the program. $500.00 

Mallee Artists Swan Hill (MASH) Funds towards open air exhibition in the Swan Hill CBD. $500.00 
Mallee Steam Oil and Machinery 
Club Upgrades to the former ‘Apex’ Trailer. $1,500.00 

Manangatang 100 Committee Funds towards Manangatang 100 Celebrations. $1,000.00 

Meatian Public Hall Funds to complete the maintenance to the exterior of the building. $1,000.00 

Murray Valley Aboriginal Co-Op Furniture for the childcare centre. $1,000.00 

Noah’s Ark Incorporated 
Two day workshop targeting parents, carers, teachers and 
disability support workers in educating them about early childhood. $500.00 

Nyah District Christmas Carnival Funding towards Nyah District Christmas Carnival in December. $1,000.00 

Nyah District Pony Club Funds towards fit-out of new clubrooms. $2,000.00 

Nyah West Kindergarten Upgrade of outdoor play equipment. $1,500.00 

Riding for the Disabled Construction of new tie up yards. $1,000.00 

Robinvale District Health Services 
Purchase of child-friendly equipment for the new Robinvale 
Occasional Care service. $2,000.00 

Robinvale Table Tennis Association Upgrades to table tennis tables. $1,000.00 

Robinvale Tongan Senior Citizens Funding of musical instruments for festivals/church/social group. $2,000.00 

Sudanese Community of North West 
Victoria Money to host an event for the Sudanese People. $1,000.00 

Swan Hill Aboriginal Health Service School Matters program . $1,000.00 

Swan Hill Basketball Association Install a refrigerated fresh water drink dispenser.  $2,000.00 

Swan Hill Boxing Club Stage Two upgrades to boxing club facilities . $1,000.00 

Swan Hill Child Care Co-Op Upgrades to administration/computer programs. $1,000.00 

Swan Hill District Band Inc Replacing of chairs. $800.00 

Swan Hill Kart Club To line the clubrooms. $2,000.00 

Swan Hill Model Aero Club Inc Repairs to toilet facilities and removal of graffiti. $1,000.00 

Swan Hill Portsea Camp Funds towards the costs of sending three children on camp. $900.00 

Swan Hill Stroke Support Group Funds for luncheon for victims and families. $750.00 

Swan Hill Table Tennis Association OH&S equipment and facilities. $1,000.00 
Swan Hill Theatre Group Co-Op 
Limited Renovation of the roof. $2,000.00 
Visitor and Community Comfort 
Centre Upgrade to furnishings. $500.00 

Waitchie Hall Committee OH&S equipment to comply. $1,500.00 

Woorinen Cricket Club Funding towards new cricket net structure. $2,000.00 

Woorinen Football Netball Club Install safety glass in visitor room windows. $1,000.00 

TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS  $37,950.00 



P 54  

 

SHRCC  
2009/2010 Annual Report 
BUILDING OUR FUTURE TOGETHER 
 

Our Performance 
sustainable communities 

YOUTH SERVICES 

HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Swan Hill Rural City Youth Strategy 2010 - 2013.  In February 2010 Council adopted 
the Swan Hill Youth Strategy.  The Youth Strategy comprises three documents: 
1. Youth Strategy Summary Document 
2. Youth Strategy Action Plan 
3. Youth Strategy Background Report 
 
The Youth Strategy 2009 – 2013 has been developed for young people in consultation 
with, and representation by, young people and provides youth with a strong voice as to 
what they would like to see in their municipality. The Youth Strategy sits alongside the 
Child and Youth Friendly Charter. 
 
The Youth Strategy provides direction to Council and members of the Youth Partnership 
into the future and will require commitment from all parties. 
 
The Swan Hill Youth Strategy Survey attracted an incredible response rate with some 
1229 youth completing the survey. 
 
Better Youth Services Pilot Project January to June 2010.  The Better Youth Services 
Pilot (BYSP) is the result of a ministerial forum on Vulnerable Youth held in April 2008. 
The forum examined cross agency data about vulnerable young Victorians and endorsed 
the proposal to implement pilot projects, in partnership with Local Government, aimed at 
improving Victorian Youth Services. To achieve this aim, the forum agreed that three key 
questions needed to be answered: 
1. How can vulnerable young people be identified and supported earlier and more 

systematically? 
2. What data is needed to enable better planning of local services to improve 

outcomes for vulnerable young people? and 
3. What can be done to improve existing State Government funded youth service co-

ordination and delivery? 
 
The consultation process revealed widespread agreement among the municipality’s 
service sector for improved data collection and sharing, stronger community-led planning 
and increased intra and inter community collaboration to improve coordination and 
delivery of youth services. Based on this consultation, a total of 26 recommendations 
were made. Each recommendation is framed by the three BYSP research questions and 
refined through the five Vulnerable Youth Framework Focus Areas. 
 
State-wide Youth Forum – National Youth Week.  The Office for Youth, in partnership 
with the Victorian Multicultural Commission and Aboriginal Affairs Victoria, held a state-
wide Youth Forum during National Youth Week in Swan Hill as part of its Young People 
Direct initiative.  Young People Direct aims to provide a diverse range of young people 
with a number of different opportunities to present their views to Government.  Council’s 
Youth Support Officer and local service providers, in conjunction with the Office for Youth 
supported young people to be involved in planning the forum. The forum brought together 
more than 62 young people from  a variety of cultural backgrounds from across the state. 
 
The theme for the Youth Forum was Identity and Place with four discussion topics – 
identity, stereotypes, prejudice, discrimination and the media, feeling connected to your 
community, and positive body image and self esteem. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

DID YOU KNOW? 

Swan Hill is the first 
rural municipality to 
receive Better Youth 
Services Pilot (BYSP) 
funding, and 
established reference 
groups in Swan Hill 
and Robinvale 
comprising of Local 
and State Government 
and key youth service 
support agencies to 
guide the project.  
 
Consultation with 
service providers, 
schools and 
government agencies 
occurred in April and 
May 2010.  
 
A final report was 
completed in June 
2010. 
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YOUTH SERVICES 

When surveyed, youth were most concerned about alcohol use, body 
image, bullying, drugs and family conflict. 
 
Young people were also worried about their health, their 
relationships, their safety and the environment. 
 
What young people liked best about their communities: 

• Having family and friends close by 

• Friendly people 

• Living in a small town 

• Everyone knowing everyone 

• Great sports program 
 

 
 
To 

be a leading example of an organisation embedding best practice 
principles of Youth Participation across all program areas and to build 
awareness and a whole of organisation focus on youth participation. 
 
Youth Council and Youth Inc. and the Random Events Youth 
Committee continue to be utilised as a means for effective youth 
engagement. Council continues its exploration of ways to engage: 

•   Young people from a range of socio-economic backgrounds 

•   Indigenous Youth 

•   Youth from culturally diverse backgrounds 

CHALLENGES 

• There are 26 recommendations within the 
BYSP report and overall, a significant number of 
changes have been suggested.  Being positive 
and focused on what partners can do and 
persevering with actions for change will be 
crucial in the coming months. 

• One of the barriers in going forward without a 
guarantee of funding to enact the 
recommendations is that local agencies and 
service providers may become disengaged.   

• Improvements can be made to the way services 
currently operate that will benefit young people 
and the service sector.  Young people across 
the municipality need the commitment of leaders 
now more than ever. 

THE YEAR AHEAD 

• Swan Hill Rural City Council and the Murray 
Mallee LLEN join to invite leaders from key 
cross sectoral agencies, business, Government 
and community groups together to build on the 
governance model(s) in the BYSP report. 

 

• BYSP forums in Robinvale and Swan Hill to 
ascertain commitment from key stakeholders. 

 

• Swan Hill Rural City Council Youth Partnership 
to prioritise recommendations from the BYSP 
report and assess local capacity for actioning 
these recommendations. 

What Young People said 

Swan Hill Rural City Council is a municipality whose youth 
have a significant need for additional servicing and support.  
SEIFA statistics revealed that of a total of 1474 State 
Suburbs measured across Victoria and Robinvale and 
Swan Hill State Suburbs are in the 2 most disadvantaged 
deciles. 

How are we using this within our municipality? 

State-wide Youth Forum (cont) 
 
Following a Welcome to Country by Aunty Stephanie Charles, the 
Minister for Youth Affairs, James Merlino opened the forum via 
videoconference.  The video conference enabled Minister Merlino to 
hear directly from young people about their views and life 
experiences and for young people to ask the Minister questions 
about issues that concerned them.  They asked questions to Minister 
Merlino in relation to alcohol-influenced violence, stricter road laws 
and youth participation in policy making. These discussions became 
the starting point for further exploration of forum topics in small 
groups during the course of the morning. Young people were there to 
have their voices heard and they had a solution for every issue.  
Council would like to thank all the participants for their outstanding 
contributions. 
 
The State-wide Youth Forum in Swan Hill April 2010 report provides 
valuable insights into the needs and views of young people from our 
area and across the state.  To access an electronic version of this 
report, go to www.youthcentral.vic.gov.au/ypd and follow the links to 
state-wide forums. 
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FAMILIES AND CHILDREN 

Quality child care supports parents in the workforce and in the long term, benefits 
the broader economy, locally and nationally. High-quality childcare services, such 
as those provided or sponsored by Council, contribute significantly to the 
improvement of disadvantaged children’s lives. Many families are not able to offer 
the rich activities and experiences of a child care setting, and participation in the 
services by these families is encouraged and supported by Council staff and 
Government policy.  
 
The Swan Hill Rural City Council provides and supports the following range of 
services to families with children: 

• Maternal and Child Health  

• Family Day Care  

• Preschool Facilities  

• Out of School Hours Care  
 After School Hours Care  
 Vacation Care 

 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Children’s Advocate position was created at the beginning of 2010.  This role 
is part-time and fully funded by the Federal Communities for Children project.  
Council is partnering with Mallee Family Care to support, encourage and enable the 
Swan Hill community to progress the participation, engagement, social and 
educational outcomes for children aged 0 to 12 years who are vulnerable, at risk or 
disadvantaged.  
 
Activities undertaken by the Children’s Advocate include networking with schools, 
early childhood care and education programs and staff and family services, raising 
awareness of the needs of children and families, and sourcing and sharing 
resources. 
 
Care and Education sectors need to be more integrated to enable a more 
holistic approach by all those working with children and families. The Children’s 
Advocate is promoting and supporting this to progress locally. 
 
Accreditation of Council’s Child Care and Education Programs.  In 2009-2010 
each of the child care programs provided by Council has received recognition from 
the National Childcare Accreditation Council for providing high-quality child care 
and education services following a rigorous system of evaluation and independent 
validator assessment.  Out of School Hours Care in Swan Hill and Robinvale as 
well as our Family Day Care Scheme each achieved a high rating across all areas 
of assessment. 

DID YOU KNOW? 
 
That in 2009-2010 a 
total of 340 families 
and 568 children 
accessed Council’s 
Child Care Services 
throughout the year.  
 
These children and 
families have received 
high-quality child care 
and education that will 
ultimately contribute 
positively to their 
health, wellbeing, 
personal and 
community 
development. 

THE YEAR AHEAD 
 

• Continued commitment from Council and the Children’s Services Team to 
provide high-quality early child care and education programs throughout our 
municipality.   

DID YOU KNOW? 
 
Amendments to the 
Children’s Services 
Act and the Children’s 
Services Regulations 
2009 have now been 
in place for over a 
year?  All Child Care 
Services including 
long day care, out of 
school hours and 
family day care must 
meet the new 
requirements of this 
legislation. 
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AGED and DISABILITY 

Aged and Disability Services aims to support, enhance and monitor the wellbeing 
and independence of frail, aged people with disabilities and their carers. Council 
provides a flexible service which responds to the varying needs of clients and 
carers. 
 
Services are provided through two distinct funding streams – Home and Community 
Care (HACC) and Aged Care Packages.  Both these programs aim to enhance 
independence and avoid premature or inappropriate admission to long-term 
residential care. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
Protocols signed with Swan Hill and Robinvale Health Services and Swan Hill 
Aboriginal Health Service regarding  Living At Home Assessment partnerships. 
 
MOU signed with Robinvale Health Service for provision of HACC Assessment 
Services. 
 
Active Service Model.  The introduction of the Victorian Home and Community 
Care’s Active Service Model is an initiative that focuses on the premise that clients 
have the potential to make gains in their wellbeing and that services within the 
HACC program can facilitate this objective.  The philosophy shifts thinking from 
‘doing for’ clients to ‘doing with’ clients. Training for staff is underway to support the 
planning and delivery of this model. 
 
Heatwave Planning.  Staff provided increased support and advice to vulnerable 
community members on the risks associated with extreme heat. 

The Maternal and Child Health (MCH) Service is a universal primary care service 
for Victorian families with children from birth to school age. The service is provided 
in partnership with the Municipal Association of Victoria (MAV), Local Government 
and the Department of Education and Early Childhood Development. The service 
aims to promote healthy outcomes for managing the physical, emotional or social 
factors affecting families in contemporary communities.  

HIGHLIGHTS 
Increased Participation Rates in Developmental Assessments.  Participation 
rates in every key age and stage consultation have improved this year. Importantly, 
participation in the three and half year old developmental assessment, which 
screens preschoolers before the start of school and which traditionally has a low 
uptake by parents across the state, has doubled from 50% to 100% in Swan Hill in 
2009-2010. 
 
Council supported an increase in the number of hours of operation.  This 
response to increased demand for consultations has reduced the growing waiting 
lists for appointments with Maternal and Child Health nurses, parents are now able 
to make  appointments within one week and new babies are seen as promptly as 
required. 
 
Implementation of a new Key Ages and Stages Framework.   This new 
framework focuses more on parents’ evaluation of their child using a developmental 
tool called Parental Evaluation of Developmental Status (PEDS).  The Swan Hill 
Maternal and Child Health Nurses have been trained in the use of PEDS and it has 
now been successfully implemented in Swan Hill Maternal and Child Health 
Centres. 
 

CHALLENGES FOR MCH 
 
During the past year, the numbers of 
babies born to Culturally and 
Linguistically Diverse (CALD) families, 
Aboriginal families and teenage 
parents in Swan Hill has increased. 
Many of the CALD families benefit 
from the use of the telephone 
interpreter service and need longer 
appointments in order to ensure 
effective communication. Many 
families request home visits from the 
MCH Nurses as they do not have 
access to transportation. 
 
Also, as some CALD families come 
from countries which do not have a 
Community or Maternal and Child 
Health Service, these families often 
don’t see the need for well baby 
checks or checks on their older 
children. Engaging these families from 
diverse backgrounds is rewarding but 
challenging and requires significant 
resources. 
 
THE YEAR AHEAD FOR MCH 
 

• The MCH Nurses will commence a 
new parenting program called 1-2-3 
Magic. This program will be offered 
to small groups of parents with 
children aged approximately two 
years onward. 

 

• MCH Nurses will also participate in 
Healthy Start training along with a 
range of family support services from 
local organisations/agencies.  This 
joint professional development has 
been planned to try to ensure that 
parents are supported in their roles 
with consistent strategies and 
techniques from a variety of support 
services to improve outcomes for 
children. 

 

• The MCH Service will conduct a 
client satisfaction survey as part of a 
review of Council’s Children’s 
Services. 
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Meals on Wheels.  This service continues to 
provide an important support service to 
community members who are nutritionally at risk.  
Total number of meals increased this year, with 
significant increases in Lake Boga and 
Manangatang.  These increases reflect ageing 
populations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Property Maintenance.  There was a significant 
change to operations during the year with 
contractors engaged for the lawn mowing/
gardening and minor maintenance components 
of this program.  This has provided clients with a 
regular service to maintain properties in a safe 
condition. 
 
Social Support/Planned Activities.  During the 
year, 20 trips were organised with many repeated 
two to three times due to popularity.  Trips 
included Christmas in July at Mystic Park, 
Pheasant Farm, Garden Tours, Christmas Lights 
and Speed Field Days where two Monash 
Medical students on placement assisted on the 
trip and thus were given a real ‘rural’ look at the 
communities we live in.  An Active Men’s group 
has recently commenced and five other Planned 
Activity Groups continue to be well attended. 
 
Seniors Week.  A total of 8 functions were 
conducted over the week with activities provided 
from Manangatang to Lake Boga, including a 
concert in Robinvale.  All the events were well 
attended and supported by staff and volunteers. 
 
Transport Project.  Funding was obtained to 
conduct a trial transport service from Piangil to 
Swan Hill for four months.  The project was 
positively received by the community and is likely 
to recommence to meet an identified gap for 
isolated community members to travel to Swan 
Hill. 

AGED and DISABILITY (cont) CHALLENGES 
Recruitment.  Department of 
Health require that all Community 
Care staff have minimum 
Certificate III Home Care to 
provide services will be a 
challenge.  There is concern we 
will not be able to recruit staff with 
existing qualifications and 
employment will be dependant on 
an agreement to undertake the 
required courses.  With a 
significant ageing workforce in this 
department, replacement staff with 
required qualifications will create 
some issues. 
 
Complex Clients.  There is an 
increasing number of clients with 
complex issues and this will 
continue to place pressure on all 
levels of staff to support these 
clients in their desire to remain 
living in their communities. 

THE YEAR AHEAD 

• Social Support and Respite 
Review.   

• There is increasing demand for 
personal care services.  
Assistance with bathing or 
showering.  Referrals for this 
service are often associated 
with hospital discharges and 
funded targets will need to be 
monitored. 

• Integration of Aged and 
Disability and Council 
computer systems to improve 
efficiencies and reduce 
duplication of data entry. 

• Review Aged and Disability 
Services Directives and 
Procedures. 

• Review format and content of 
Client Handbook. 

• Continue community 
awareness, Heatwave 
implications and supporting 
vulnerable clients during 
periods of extreme heat. 

Meals on Wheels Delivered
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Aged Care Packages 
 
Swan Hill Rural City Council 
currently administer a total 
of 34 packages across 
Swan Hill and Buloke 
municipalities.  Three 
package types—
Community Aged Care 
Packages, Extended Aged 
Care at Home, and 
Extended Aged Care at 
Home/Dementia provide a 
case manager to co-
ordinate and purchase 
services to support people 
with complex care needs to 
remain living in their own 
homes. 

Hours of Aged Care Support for 
2009-2010 
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DID YOU KNOW? 
 

• The number of Influenza vaccinations administered 
by Council has almost doubled compared to last 
year’s figure 

 

• 704 inspections of food premises were completed 
 

• 4,348 immunisations were administered 
 

• Council has 387 food and health registered premises 

The Environmental Health Services Unit 
incorporates a number of services to provide 
public health programs appropriate to community 
needs and enforces the related legislation.  The 
range of services includes: 
 

• Food Safety 

• Septic Tanks and Wastewater Discharge 

• Accommodation Standards 

• Communicable Disease Control 

• Environmental and Nuisance Control 

• Immunisation 

• Tobacco Investigation and Enforcement 

• Emergency Planning for Public Health 
Response 

• Health Promotion and Education 

• Arbovirus/Mosquito Management 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
Introduction of Food and Health newsletters 
for all registered premises to assist with educating 
proprietors on various issues regarding food 
safety, infectious disease control and upcoming 
legislation changes. 

 
Change of immunisation session venue to the 
Swan Hill Town Hall. This was due to an 
increase in members of the community attending 
Council’s monthly immunisation sessions, a 
change of venue was required to improve the 
service delivered. 

 
Introduction of the new Public Health and 
Wellbeing Act involved altering Environmental 
Health forms and procedures to ensure adequate 
implementation of the legislation. 
 
Joint inspections of all registered caravan 
parks with the CFA to ensure compliance with the 
Caravan Park Fire Safety Guideline and review 
Emergency Management Plans. 
 
Completion of the Food For All 
Program.  VicHealth funded the program for a 
total of 5 years.  Some of the initiatives this 
program assisted in developing are being 
maintained within the community, such as the 
Robinvale Community Market, Manangatang 
Community Garden and Fridge Assist Program. 

CHALLENGES 
 

• Experienced staff shortages 
due to staff members going on 
maternity leave and the lack 
of ability to recruit suitably 
qualified staff on a temporary 
basis.  

 

• This affected follow-up with 
premises inspections and the 
completion and 
implementation of plans such 
as the Municipal Public Health 
and Wellbeing Plan, Influenza 
Pandemic Plan and Heatwave 
Plan. 

THE YEAR AHEAD 
 

• Roll out of the amendments 
to the Food Act to be 
implemented, altering 
Council’s record keeping and 
related procedures. 

• Continue to work with 
caravan parks to maintain 
updated Emergency 
Management Plans and 
compliance. 

• Have the draft Heatwave 
Plan adopted by Council and 
implemented. 

• Complete and implement the 
Municipal Public Health and 
Wellbeing Plan, Pandemic 
Influenza Plan. 

Our  Performance 
sustainable communities 
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REGULATORY SERVICES 

The Regulatory Services Department 
seeks to provide for the peace, order and 
wellbeing of the people in the municipal 
district and to create a safe environment for 
all members of the community. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
The new Robinvale pound facility was 
completed.  In order to foster economic 
growth in the region, local contractors were 
employed for the construction of the facility. 
 
Council initiated a free Micro-chipping 
day.  This was successful with 109 pet 
owners taking part and subsequently 
registering their animals.  The micro-
chipping day also formed part of the 
education program held with our 
Secondary College and Swan Hill Primary 
schools. 
 
A feral cat trapping program was 
implemented.  This was implemented to 
eliminate the impact on the municipality’s 
native fauna.  Council has successfully 
trapped in excess of 350 feral cats. 
 

Animal Management Statistics 

Upskilling of Staff.  Two Regulatory 
Services staff members have successfully 
undertaken and completed Certificate IV 
Statutory Compliance Local Government  
and Animal Management.   
 
The positive approach taken by the 
officers to further develop their skills in 
animal management will ensure Council 
embraces modern animal management 
practices. 
 
Council undertook a six month trial pet 
adoption program to reduce the number 
of euthanised animals.  This was 
extremely successful with in excess of 90 
dogs being re-housed from February 
2009. 
 
The roles of the authorised officers are 
multifaceted.  On many occasions, 
officers have been required to impound 
large dogs and small livestock.  Officers 
identified that this core function posed 
high risk for injury to the officers and was 
in breach of OH&S Legislation. 

 2007-2008 2008-2009 2009-2010 

No. of Effective Full Time 
Authorised Officers 2.5 2.5 2.5 

Hours training per officer  
annually 10 10 15 

No. of registered dogs 2950 2624 2993 

No. of registered cats 541 441 469 

No. of registered declared dogs 0 0 1 

No. of prosecutions completed  0 0 5 

No. of impoundments (dogs).  
Inclusive of surrendered dogs 206 224 505 

No. of dogs returned to owner 44 120 216 

No. of dogs rehoused 0 0 90 

No. of dogs euthanised 157 104 244 

No. of impoundments (cats). 
Inclusive of trapping program 36 41 387 

No. of cats returned to owner 2 7 4 

No. of cats re-housed  0 1 

No. of cats euthanised  34 34 384 

WHY THE INCREASE IN 
IMPOUNDED ANIMALS? 
 
Action plans contained in the 
Domestic Animal 
Management Plan required 
Council to review existing 
work practices. 
 
It was identified that existing 
work practices needed to be 
modified to meet current best 
practice principals. 
 
Most significantly, the  
pro-active approach to animal 
management by the officers in 
enforcing compliance and 
procedural changes in 
reporting, has resulted in 
increased  impound numbers. 
 
The adoption program—while 
successful—has allowed the 
public to give up unwanted 
animals. The Domestic 
Animals Act 1994 states that 
Council must accept any 
unwanted cat or dog.  This 
has also resulted in a spike in 
impoundments. 
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As a result of manual handling and OH&S Legislation, the regulatory 
services team, in conjunction with a local engineering firm and the 
Bureau of Animal Welfare, have developed a prototype lifting device. 
 
The Swan Hill Rural City Council is the first Council to trial this 
design and the manufacturer has allowed Council to trial the unit at 
no cost. 
 
Council officers will continue a close working relationship with the 
manufacturer to promote the success of the unit to all Councils 
throughout Victoria and Australia as Council believes this will be the 
benchmark for all Council ranger vehicles. 
 
Council officers have had discussions with other Councils regarding 
the design of the unit and they await the outcomes of our trial with 
anticipation. 
 
It is anticipated that Council will purchase three units for the 
Regulatory Services Department. 
 
It is exciting that Council was able to source the expertise of a local 
engineer to develop the unit and be involved in the process.  
 
This highlights the wealth of expertise we have in the region and the 
need to promote the skills we have available locally. 
 

DID YOU KNOW? 

CHALLENGES 
 
Despite the overwhelming success of the 
adoption program, Council discovered there 
were issues with the program that needed 
urgent attention. 
 
These included: 

• Overcrowding at the pound facility 

• Non-compliance of the pound 

• Time constraint issued for rangers 

• Additional administrative time spent on the 
program overwhelmed other priorities 

 
The Car Parking and Footpath Strategies were 
delayed due to the ongoing need for 
consultation and re-drafting.  These strategies 
have been rolled over for completion in the 
next year. 

THE YEAR AHEAD 
 

• Design new pound facility for Swan Hill.  

• Hold a micro-chipping day in accordance 
with the Domestic Animal Management 
Plan. 

• Provide relevant information on Council’s 
website regarding animal management and 
pet owner responsibilities. 

• Fire prevention duties will be performed by 
Regulatory Services staff by way of 
assistance to the Municipal Fire Prevention 
Officer in issuing clean up notices and 
following up non-compliance. 

 2007-2008 2008-2009 2009-2010 

Parking  
Infringements 1020 1007 1182 

Regulatory  
Services  
Infringements 20 146 216 

Parking Meter 
Revenue  $215,440 $213,390 $193,231 

Fines 
$12,234 $66,066 $89,592 

Infringements 
Withdrawn n/a 57 46 

Indicators 

Our  Performance 
sustainable communities 
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LIBRARY  

The Swan Hill Regional Library Service has a static library in Swan Hill and Mobile 
Library which visits nine towns in the Swan Hill municipality and seven towns in 
neighbouring council regions as part of service agreements.  
 
The Library Service provides free access to information and recreational resources, 
online resources through the Library’s website, access to computers and the internet, 
meeting room and space for use by the community, baby rhyme times, story times and a 
local history collection.  

HIGHLIGHTS 
Two computers were installed in the Mobile Library for customers to access the 
internet. 
 
The Library hosted one of the six heats held in Victoria as part of the nationwide 
Australian Poetry Slam. 
 
Over 100 children participated in the summer school holidays “Summer Read” Program 
reading more than 1400 books. 
 
Well attended events throughout the year included talks by authors Don Tate and 
Noel Braun and workshops for children with author Lee Fox and illustrator Craig Smith. 
 
A Wii was purchased for use in the Library by library members. 
 
A review of the Library Service’s Section on Council’s website initiated a redesign 
and expansion of the information provided by the Library through the website.  
 
The Victorian public library service consortium, Gulliver was disbanded on 30 June 
2010 which initiated a review of the online resources Swan Hill Regional Library would 
provide from the 1 July 2010. The online resources now subscribed to by the Library 
Service include: 

• Ancestry – records from around the world for family history researchers. 

• World Book Online – World Book Encyclopedia with information accessible at both 
children and adult levels. 

• Computer School – basic tutorials on how to use a variety of computer and internet 
programs. 

• Your Tutor – connects students with qualified tutors who provide help with homework 
and research between 4 to 8 pm weekdays throughout the school year. 

 
The Library is continuing to expand its services in several ways: 

• Membership of the Swift Consortium provides Swan Hill Regional Library members 
with access to an increased number of resources. As more Victorian library services 
join the consortium, their collections become easily accessible through the Swan Hill 
Library’s online catalogue.  

• The Library’s web pages provide access to more information and services 24/7.  

• Your Tutor allows students to get professional help after school with homework and 
research either from a computer in the library or their computer at home.  

• Internet access on the Mobile Library provides the opportunity for people in the 
smaller towns of our region to have faster access to the internet.   

THE YEAR AHEAD 

 

• A successful application to 
be part of the Federal 
Government and NEC 
funded Broadband for 
Seniors program will enable 
the expansion of the 
volunteer service provided 
in the Library to teach 
people how to use a 
computer and the internet.  

 

• Look at possible options for 
a static library in Robinvale. 
. 

FAST FACTS FOR 2009-2010 
 

• Library customers borrowed 
4677 items from other Swift 
Consortium library services. 

• 1084 Children attended story 
times.  

• 7284 Swan Hill Rural City 
Council residents are 
members of the Swan Hill 
Library Service. 

• 1238 people attended 
special events. 

• The Family History Research 
website “Ancestry” can be 
accessed for free in the 
Library. 

• Library computers were used 
for 10,519 hours which is 
73.1% of time available 
compared to 65.6% the 
previous year. 

DID YOU KNOW? 
 
You can renew your library 
materials online. 
 
3014 items were renewed by 
customers in 2009-2010. 
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ART GALLERY 

TOWN HALL 

PERFORMING ARTS 

Located amongst the great historic tourism precinct, next door to the Pioneer 
Settlement Museum on Horseshoe Bend, Swan Hill Regional Art Gallery is one of the 
region's most valued icons. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
12 major exhibitions were held comprising 4 curated by the gallery – the highlight 
being the $10,000 Swan Hill National Print and Drawing Awards -  and 8 touring 
exhibitions.  Regional artists and community groups have been well represented 
through the Access Gallery this year with ten exhibitions being presented.  A number 
of these were included in the Outreach Program that delivers exhibitions to the 
Gannawarra Shire and Robinvale. 
 
Outstanding touring exhibitions and concerts continue to add a rich experience 
for visitors to the gallery.  School groups and school holiday program participants 
continue to benefit from education programs that focus on a direct response to the 
work on show at the time. 
 
In November 2009 the Swan Hill Regional Art Gallery convened a seminar to 
discuss the future of agriculture and the role that art could play in sustaining 
farming communities.  Entitled Australia’s Creative Rural Economy, the ACRE 
Project, brought together speakers from England and Australia who spoke of rural 
communities benefitting from embracing the arts.  The gallery has developed with 
support from Regional Arts Victoria a website dedicated to this and has held 
subsequent forums. 
 
Architects completed a feasibility report for the redevelopment of the gallery. 
This early stage of conceptual development is exciting as Council considers a 
sustainable design and building practices that will further complement the gallery’s 
existing thermal qualities of mud brick construction. 
 
An increase of visitation.  With just under 1000 visitors on average per month. 

The Swan Hill Town Hall 
Performing Arts and 
Conference Centre (PACC) is 
a very versatile, multipurpose 
venue. The Town Hall is used 
for a wide variety of events 
including meetings, 
conferences, seminars, trade 
fairs, concerts, weddings, 
debutant balls, dinners, 
birthday parties, council 
meetings, school 
performances, training and 
theatrical performances. 
 
Usage of the Swan Hill Town 
Hall continues to increase. 
During 2009-2010: 
 

• 27,660 people attended 
events and functions 

• 429 different events and 
functions were held 

• The Town Hall was used 
for total of 2276.5 hours 

The Swan Hill Rural City Council’s Performing Arts Program provides an annual series of diverse cultural events to the 
Swan Hill and Gannawarra Municipalities.  In addition, the Performing Arts Program orchestrates and facilitates the 
annual Fairfax Festival (formerly the George Fairfax Memorial Regional Schools Theatre Festival) which incorporates 
secondary school students from the Mallee and across Victoria. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
The 2009-2010 financial year saw diverse programming.  This programming ranged from the music of Cat Stevens 
and Peter Allen to Marion Martin and CoOpera, from the dramatic tale of The Kursk to the theatrical performance of 
Cosi, from Shakespeare’s The Comedy of Errors to the comedy of Sammy J and the cinematic delights of Little Big 
Shots to the Gothic wonders of The Grimstones. 
 
Major change to the Performing Arts Program’s Flagship event, The Fairfax Festival with the unveiling of its new 
3-Day Workshop, Rehearsal and Gala Performance format. 
 
Over 100 participants from schools within the district, including Mildura and Northcote were accommodated at 
the Pioneer Settlement and performed on the stage of the Swan Hill Town Hall PACC. 
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PIONEER SETTLEMENT 

The Swan Hill Pioneer Settlement was Australia’s first outdoor museum and heritage 
park, established in 1963. It aims to tell the story of the Mallee and its people through a 
range of engaging experiences for visitors including activation and interpretation.  As 
the premier tourist attraction in the region, it attracts around 40,000 visitors per year as 
well as providing a venue for numerous private functions and community programs 
including a popular education program utilised by numerous school groups. 

Completion of the second stage works to the PS Gem. 
 

Continued growing partnership with the “Friends of the Pioneer Settlement” has 
resulted in improvements to the site, increased activation and the development of new 
services which has resulted in increased visitation to the Pioneer Settlement and the 
Swan Hill region as a whole. 
 
Completion of the Swan Hill Pioneer Settlement Interpretive Plan and Investment 
Strategy November 2009 by SGC Economics and Planning. 
 
Completion of structural survey report on the condition of the settlement’s existing 
buildings, May 2010 by Osborne Consulting Group structural and Civil Engineers. 

HIGHLIGHTS 
Pioneer Settlement’s brand-new website.  Tourism to the Swan Hill region is 
certainly very important and as most tourists will consider where they will travel to and 
what’s available at that destination prior to arrival, having comprehensive information at 
their fingertips is vital. 
 
The Pioneer Settlement website showcases one of our premier tourist destinations and 
provides plenty of information for potential tourists wanting to visit the site and our 
Swan Hill region—the new website is a must see. 
 
Tourism Attraction survey.  Tourism to the Swan Hill region is certainly very 
important and the introduction of these surveys will provide information for the Pioneer 
Settlement to take action in relation to the audited outcomes and consumer needs. 

DID YOU KNOW? 
 
The growth of the 
Settlement is in line with the 
overall growth of the Murray 
region and is defying the 
overall state tourism trend 
of a 12% decline.  
 
Discussions with Tourism 
Victoria and Swan Hill Rural 
City Council Marketing and 
Tourism Co-ordinator have 
determined that our region’s 
growth is driven by our 
consistent and effective 
marketing strategies. 

PIONEER SETTLEMENT 
INTREPPRETIVE PLAN 
 
Key Strategic Initiatives are 
in line with the 
implementation of the 
Pioneer Settlement Master 
Plan to redevelop the 
Pioneer Settlement.  The 
challenge is to leverage the 
existing built assets and 
collections into a compelling 
offer for tourists in 
contemporary regional 
Australia. 
 
The redevelopment of the 
Pioneer Settlement shall be 
undertaken with a staged 
series of works within the 
Settlement to improve its 
financial operating position 
to a sustainable level and at 
the same time raise 
economic and social 
contribution to the local 
community.  
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HIGHLIGHTS (cont) 
 
Appointment of Troppo Architects, in association with Taylor Cullity Lethlean to prepare schematic plans for a new 
Interpretation Centre and a Large Object Conservation Facility at the Swan Hill Pioneer Settlement. 
 
Tourism Marketing and Events.  The implementation of the settlement’s strategic marketing plan included regional 
television advertising, targeted national print advertising, local and regional Public Relations campaign, development 
of business partnerships (V/line, local accommodation providers, Tourism Victoria’s Murray Campaign, Swan Hill Inc 
Tourism and Hospitality Committee, Swan Hill Performing Arts). 
 
Working closely with existing committees to create positive links to promote the Settlement, such as Pioneer’s Week, 
Go North Arts Festival, Fairfax Festival, Tour of the Murray, YMCA Murray Marathon and Australia Day Breakfast.  
 
The Lower Murray Inn on New Years Eve was used for the presentation dinner for the YMCA Murray Marathon 
entrants. The evening saw in excess of 1200 people attend.  With organisers impressed with the success of the 
evening, they have rebooked for the following year. 
 
New marketing initiatives throughout the year have seen the introduction of: 
 

• New prepaid local accommodation providers ticketing program 

• Production of promotional brochures for educational programs, functions, weddings, river cruises 

• Five-day itinerary for coach companies promoting district attractions 
 
Visitor numbers continue to grow.  With the launch of the district attractions pack, we have seen groups now 
coming to Swan Hill, not just to see the Settlement, but to tour the other attractions in our municipality. Ongoing 
refinement and development of these packages will ensure tourism continues to grow within our region. 

CHALLENGES 
 

• Difficulties meeting increasing demand on resources while ensuring growth and continuing operations of the 
Pioneer Settlement services while dealing with staff recruitment issues. 

• Resource constraints when accessing external funding. A large amount of time is spent applying for grants and this 
must be balanced with undertaking day-to-day duties. 

• Long time-frames needed to secure State and Federal Government funding for major projects required for the 
redevelopment of the Pioneer Settlement. 

• Uncertain economic times impacting on overall tourist visitation to the region. 

THE YEAR AHEAD 
 
The Swan Hill Pioneer Settlement Masterplan incorporates a new Exhibition and Interpretive Centre and Large 
Object Conservation facility.  While these buildings will provide much needed exhibit, interpretive, storage and 
administration spaces for the Settlement, the principal aim of proposed new works is to enhance the visitor 
experience and help provide for a sustainable future for the Settlement.  
 
Beyond new buildings, master planning for the site and connections to Monash Drive as well as the broader Swan 
Hill region must be explored to understand and develop the visitor experience. 
 
New facilities will be presented in the context of a master plan for redevelopment of the whole of the Settlement site. 
Building on previous recommendations and business plans, it is intended that this Master Plan, through a constant 
process of review and refinement informs development of the Settlement experience in the immediate and long term 
future. 

PIONEER SETTLEMENT 
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2. Economic Growth 
Strategic Objectives 

Creating Population Growth Council will actively seek to 
grow the regional population 
to 40,000 by 2040. 

Housing Council will ensure a 
sufficient and appropriate 
supply of land is available for 
housing development. 

Employment Council will encourage and 
support local employment 
opportunities. 

Education/Skilling Council will seek to advocate 
for increased local post 
secondary education options 
and explore other 
opportunities to encourage an 
appropriate level of skills in 
our community. 

Attracting New Business Council will encourage new 
business development and 
will provide support to attract 
new business investment and 
expansion in the community. 

Existing Business Support Council will support existing 
businesses and encourages 
expansion through building 
business capacity and 
Council’s own procurement 
practices. 

Infrastructure Council seeks to ensure 
appropriate infrastructure to 
continue our economic 
growth. 

HIGHLIGHTS 

• Review and adoption of Council’s Procurement 
Policy 

• Continuation of ongoing funding for the Skilled 
Migration Program 

• Adoption of the Business Incentive Policy 

• Tower Hill Estate Stage 6 infrastructure 
commenced 

• Completion of stage 1 Leonora Street Sales 

• Land sold to TAFE 

• Adoption of Tourism Strategy 

• Contracts developed for line marking 

• Location of Swan Hill Bridge determined 

• Implementation of Swan Hill CBD Masterplan 

• Review of Road Asset Management Plan 

• Outcomes implemented from review of the Swan 
Hill Regional Livestock Exchange 

• Strategic Land purchases in Robinvale and 
Swan Hill 

CHALLENGES FACED 

• Development of whole of life Education Plan to 
expand local educational opportunities 

• Review of the Economic Development Strategy 

• Attracting service centres in Swan Hill 

• Establishment of a university shopfront 

• Review of Planning Scheme and Municipal 
Strategic Statement 

• Review of Car Parking Policy 

• Completion of the South West Precinct 
Development Contributions Plan (DCP) Process 
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Council Plan Initiatives  
Our Commitments and Performance 

What We Said Status 

Continuation of the Skilled Migration Program for permanent and 
temporary new residents.   

Encourage and support local employment opportunities.   

Lobby to expand educational opportunities available locally.   

Decentralisation of services of State and Federal Government to 
establish in the local area.   

Review the Economic Development Strategy.   

Continue to explore opportunities to increase the supply of 
affordable housing.   

Encourage infill developments.   

Investigate and promote alternative housing design with an 
emphasis on sustainability.   

Investigate opportunities for small and home based business.   

Actively lobby to attract State and Federal Government agencies 
to establish service centres in Swan Hill.   

Advocate for educational opportunities in our region.   

Advocate for the establishment of a university shopfront.   

Finalise sale of land to enable the expansion of TAFE.   

Review the Economic Development Strategy with an emphasis 
on attracting new business to the Swan Hill municipality.   

Review the Planning Scheme to facilitate business expansion.   

Finalise development and begin implementation of the Central 
Business District Master Plans for Robinvale and Swan Hill 
including links to riverfronts.   

Develop a tourism strategy incorporating Eco-Tourism and 
heritage discovery drive.   

Review Council Procurement Policy and Procedures.   

     Actions completed      Actions in progress      Actions not achieved 
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What We Said Status 

Investigate appropriate opportunities to encourage development of service 
lanes on major roads with adjacent business development.   

Lobby for replacement of the Swan Hill Bridge.   

Develop and commence implementation of Central Business District plans 
for Swan Hill and Robinvale that link to the riverfronts.   

Lobby to attract irrigation infrastructure upgrades.   

Review Car Parking Policy.   

Review Road Asset Management Plan to ensure the impact of major 
developments are taken into account.   

Review caravan park lease arrangement of Swan Hill Riverside Caravan 
Park.   

Lobby to ensure VicRoads infrastructure maintenance meets community 
needs.   

Implement outcomes of the review of the Swan Hill Regional Livestock 
Exchange.   

Pursue strategic land acquisitions as opportunities arise.   

KEY: What We Said Status 

Develop a package of measures for Council action to give contractors 
confidence, e.g. longer term contracts.   

Completion of South West Precinct Outline Development and 
Development Contribution Plans.   

Review of the Municipal Strategic Statement.   



P 70  

 

SHRCC  
2009/2010 Annual Report 
BUILDING OUR FUTURE TOGETHER 
 

Our Performance 
economic growth 

The Swan Hill Migration program aims to promote, coordinate, facilitate and 
integrate a diverse range of migrants into the Swan Hill region for employment, 
settlement or humanitarian purposes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Assisted businesses and organisations in the Swan Hill region to place 39 
skilled migrants into full-time skilled positions during the past 12 months. 
 
Integrated and supported over 35 new settlement refugee families into the 
region and assisted more than 700 client contact referrals. 
 
Co-ordinated employment opportunities and implemented strategies to 
integrate 32 Pacific Seasonal Workers in the Robinvale community. 
 
Participated in the United Kingdom jobs expo in London with the aim of 
attracting potential skilled migrants in relocating to the Swan Hill region. 
 
Successfully transferred the Settlement Grant Program and Integrated 
Human Settlement Service programs over to Mallee Family Care and 
implemented changes to the Pacific Seasonal Workers Scheme, ensuring the 
continuation of these programs for another 12 months. 

 
CHALLENGES 

• Changes to immigration policy in regards to the Skilled Occupation List, 
General Skilled Migration and Student Visa requirements will have a 
negative impact on the number of migrants coming into the region. 

• Uncertainty with the funding for the Global Skills Provincial Victoria program, 
post June 2011. 

 
THE YEAR AHEAD 

• Seek ongoing funding for the Skilled Migration Program. 

• Continue to promote the program and network with local industries to satisfy 
skilled employment demands. 

• Assist and confirm 25 skilled migrants into employment in the Swan Hill 
region. 

 
 

SWAN HILL MIGRATION PROGRAM 
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ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

HIGHLIGHTS 
 
North West Motor Sports Feasibility Study.  Swan Hill Rural City Council welcomed 
funding from the Brumby Government towards the $100,000 study which will look at the 
viability of developing motor sport in Swan Hill and Mildura.  Council has been working 
very closely with the Chisholm Reserve Motorsport facility group in partnership with the 
drag racing group, who will be participating in the study. 
 
Murray Cod Industry Development Plan.  Australia’s iconic freshwater fish, the Murray 
Cod, could play a major part in a significant new industry that involves multiple water 
use, adding value and sustainability to the precious water resources of the Swan Hill 
region. 
 
The Murray Cod Industry Development Plan was officially launched on Monday 23 
November 2009, by Ben Hardman MP Parliamentary Secretary for Agriculture.  The 
launch event attracted a strong number of interested farmers, investors and current 
industry participants.   
 
Swan Hill Rural City Council, through the Economic Development Unit, will continue its 
lead role in assisting this new industry to develop by co-ordinating a committee to 
oversee the implementation of Priority Actions identified in the Industry 
Development Plan.  
 
Natural gas survey.  Reticulated natural gas is a cost effective energy 
source most Victorians take for granted.  In contrast, municipalities in 
north-west Victoria either do not have access to reticulated natural gas or 
their supply is currently at capacity.  The Swan Hill Rural City Council is a 
strong advocate for the extension of natural gas to north-western Victoria 
and is working to ensure that the region has access to this critical energy 
source.   
 
Council surveyed local businesses and identified potential commercial 
gas energy loads within the region.  The survey of demand for reticulated 
natural gas in the municipality found a strong support for natural gas, with 
75% of respondents stating that the availability of natural gas would either 
have a positive or very positive impact on their business.    
 
Air Service survey.  The Swan Hill Rural City Council received strong interest from the 
local business community eager to facilitate a regular air passenger service to 
Melbourne.  Council conducted a survey of business and community to gauge the 
demand for a regular air service.  This survey is the first stage in developing a business 
case to present to commercial operators, for delivering a regular air passenger service 
between Swan Hill and Melbourne. 

Economic Development is a key function of Council and is the process of expanding the size of the local economy and 
creating wealth for the whole community. Council’s Economic Development Unit plays an important role in facilitating 
this economic growth. 
 
The Council Plan 2009 -2013 is centred on economic development and population growth. Council has looked beyond 
the four year cycle of the Plan and has developed a vision for the Swan Hill municipality that will lead us towards 2040. 
 
The municipality is fortunate to have a diverse economic base with a number of key industries such as agriculture, retail, 
tourism and manufacturing. The Economic Development Unit is undertaking a range of new and exciting projects that 
aim to enhance employment opportunities and help to stimulate the local economy. 
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ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT  

HIGHLIGHTS (cont) 
 
Economic Development Quarterly Newsletter.  The quarterly newsletter 
commenced in 2009 to keep the business community informed about the 
Council’s economic development initiatives, provide relevant business news 
and raise the profile of the Economic Development Unit and their 
achievements.   
 
CBD Masterplan.  An exciting blueprint for the future development of Swan 
Hill’s Central Business District has been accomplished, with the release of the 
Swan Hill CBD Master Plan.  The completion of the plan follows seven 
months of extensive community consultation that commenced in May 2009. 
 
The Master Plan not only aims to improve the visual appeal of the city, but to 
have flow-on benefits for the community, including employment, business 
revitalisation and tourism development and will be a major step in a 
redefinition of Swan Hill as a rejuvenated and dynamic centre. 
 
Rural Life Museum Community Consultation.  Extensive community 
consultation regarding the location of the Rural Life Museum in Robinvale was 
conducted after speculation regarding the best location of the facility.  A 
discussion paper was created to provide an overview of the museum’s current 
operations and relevant issues.  The discussion paper provided a range of 
draft recommendations that the community was asked to provide feedback 
on. 
 
The result of the consultation was overwhelming support from the community 
for the Rural Life Museum to remain in its current location giving Council a 
clear indication of the community views. 

 
Food Bowl Promotion.  The Swan Hill Rural City 
Council participated in a regional showcase at 
Melbourne’s City Square as part of a day-long event 
promoting the Food Bowl region on 4 June 2010.    
 
Swan Hill Rural City Council formed a part of six 
municipalities from the Goulburn Murray Irrigation 
District promoting investment, training and lifestyle 
opportunities available in the region.  
 
Investment Attraction Policy.  Council has endorsed 
a new policy and procedure that provides the 
Economic Development Unit with a clear framework for 
business assistance and incentives.   
 
The Investment Attraction Policy provides a structure 

for the assessment of business incentives applicable to 
either new business investment or the significant expansion 
of existing business in the Swan Hill Rural City Council area. 
 

Economic Development Quarterly Front Page 

Food Bowl Event - Cr Greg Cruickshank, Janelle Earle Economic 
Development and Tourism Executive, renowned Chef Guy Grossi 
and Claire Oswin, Economic Development Team Leader. 
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HIGHLIGHTS (cont) 
 
Tourism Strategy 2010-2013.  In the interest of sound planning in 
guiding Council’s efforts in tourism, tourism development and in 
informing the community of Council’s tourism directions, Council 
recognised the importance of a Tourism Strategy for the municipality 
and subsequently developed a strategy that was adopted in June 
2010.   
 
The Tourism Strategy provides Council with clear directives in the 
delivery of its tourism and marketing function over the life of the 
current Council Plan and allows these directives to be clearly 
communicated to the community.   
 
The implementation of the strategy will ensure the municipality 
remains a competitive and attractive tourism destination into the 
future.   
 
Marketing the Municipality.  The municipality continued to be 
strongly marketed as a key destination to live, work, shop, invest and 
visit over the past 12 months, in conjunction with Swan Hill 
Incorporated and the Robinvale Euston Business Association 
(REBA) some highlights included: 

• Major redevelopment of the Robinvale Euston Official Visitor Guide 

• Buy Local campaigns for Swan Hill and Robinvale 

• Representation at major consumers chows in Melbourne and Adelaide 

• Full page features in major metropolitan newspapers including the 
Herald-Sun and The Age 

• Major redevelopment of Swan Hill Online 

CHALLENGES 

• Downturn in the wine grape industry 

• Reduced water availability for irrigation 

• Need for critical infrastructure such as reticulated natural gas and 
transport infrastructure 

 
THE YEAR AHEAD 

• Developing strategies to diversify the regional economy 

• Emerging renewable energy industry 

• Motor Sport Development 

• Irrigation efficiency through improved water technology 

• Development of Council’s Economic Development Strategy 
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT  

Buy Local Campaign 

Tourism Strategy Document 
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ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

Municipal Gateway Signage Project.  Place and destination branding is an important tool in communicating 
our region to a wider audience of visitors, potential residents, investors and the local community.  It also 
creates our own identity and sets us apart from other municipalities, while strengthening our brand.   
 
Through the community planning process, undertaken throughout the municipality over the last three years, 
signage, in particular town entrance signage, has been a priority identified in a majority of community plans.  
Therefore, Council embarked on a process to identify and develop a uniformed place branding approach to 
identify each town and locality in the municipality. 
 
The project involves the replacement and rollout of over 55 signs across the entire municipality, including all 
town entrance and locality signs and municipal boundary signage.  Given the size and cost of the project, it will 
be rolled out over a number of years, although, with the formal adoption of a theme and style for the project by 
Council in May 2010, the rollout can now commence.  Robinvale will be the first community where the signage 
is erected.  
 
The Swan Hill Rural City Council Gateway Signage Project will unify our municipality by establishing a 
coherent look and consistent brand.  It will link all our small towns and cities while celebrating the unique 
attributes of each community.   

Signage Project 
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CHALLENGES 

• Review of Footpath Trading Strategy 

• Development of Solar Energy Prospectus and establishing our Alternative energy credentials 

• Development of the business case for the supply of Natural Gas to North West Victoria 

• Ongoing redevelopment of the Pioneer Settlement 

• Cross-Border Issues and providing solutions to allow for economic development 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

MORE HIGHLIGHTS 
 
The past twelve months has seen the municipality consolidate its economic position within the region and emerge 
as an important population centre not only for the North West of Victoria but also with respect to our position with 
South Australia and New South Wales. 
 
Building Approvals and Planning Approvals were at record levels reflecting a confidence from within the 
community, but more importantly people and organisations wishing to invest within our Municipality. 
 
The importance of our Municipality with respect to food production that is of such a wide variety reinforces 
our status as a centre of food and agriculture excellence. Council joined the important Water for Food campaign to 
reinforce the need to find the right balance between water for the environment and food production. 
 
There has been expansion in key industries within food and agriculture together with the identification of new 
products and housing figures continue to show strong and sustained growth. 
 
Council has identified key strategic parcels of land throughout the municipality that currently sit with the State 
Government and are negotiating on the possible purchase of this land or to have the State Government place the 
land on the open market. 
 
This land bank will lead to the creation of employment and will add to the attractiveness of our municipality as a 
place to live and work in. 
 
Council continues to strongly advocate for a new bridge crossing at Swan Hill as it is becoming increasingly 
vital to have this connection for the future growth of industries on both sides of the border. 
 
Our Municipality is ideally placed to take advantage of the increased interest in renewable energy and, in 
particular, Council is developing our solar credentials. There are natural advantages within our Council area and 
once successful in securing one of the solar plants on offer, jobs will be created through the construction phase 
and beyond. 
 
Tourism continues to provide a strong economic base with a diversity of businesses employing people to cater 
for the ever increasing number of visitors.  With our close proximity to Melbourne, our municipality is becoming a 
must see destination for a wide cross section of visitors from both intrastate, interstate and indeed overseas. 
 
Council will take advantage of the economic benefits contained in strategies such as Victoria’s Regional 
Blueprint and the Loddon Mallee Northern Plan including identification of increased funding options. 
 
The Swan Hill and Robinvale Aerodromes are being considered for future upgrades and will play an important 
role in being able to attract new businesses and create employment. 
 
Council continues to advocate strongly to both the Federal and State Governments on the need to have 
Natural Gas provided through-out North West Victoria as it will lead to employment and business creation. Whilst 
the cost to provide the natural gas pipe-line might to some appear to be very expensive, if it is provided it will pay 
for itself many times over with the creation of regional economic wealth. 
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JULY 

• Italian Fiesta 

• Swan Hill Kart Club Titles 
Meeting 

• Nyah Harness Racing 
 
AUGUST 

• Nyah District Annual Golf 
Tournament 

• Lake Boga Annual Golf 
Tournament 

• Nyah Harness Racing 

• Pioneer’s Week 
 
SEPTEMBER 

• Swan Hill Short Course Club 
Swap Meet 

• Swan Hill Eisteddfod 

• Nyah District Golf Pro Am 

• Tour of the Murray 

• Nyah Harness Racing 
 
OCTOBER 

• Swan Hill Agricultural and 
Pastoral Society Show 

• Manangatang Races 

• Relay for Life 

• Australian Inland Wine Show 

• Tooleybuc Murray Muster 

• St Mary’s Fair 

• Nyah Racing Club 
 
NOVEMBER 

• Port to Port Bike Ride 

• George Fairfax Drama Festival 

• Go North Arts Festival 

• Girls Day Out Race Day 
 
DECEMBER 

• Forest of Christmas Trees 

• Swan Hill Carols by Candlelight 

• YMCA Murray River Marathon 

• New Years Eve 

• Nyah Harness Racing 

• Swan Hill Speedway 

JANUARY 

• SES Duck Race 

• Australia Day Breakfast 

• Nyah Harness Racing 

• Swan Hill Speedway Titles 
Meeting 

 
FEBRUARY 

• Nyah Harness Racing 

• Murray River International Music 
Festival 

• Country Week Tennis (bi-annual) 
 
MARCH 

• Swan Hill Speedway 

• Nyah Harness Racing 

• Robinvale 80 Ski Classic 

• Mallee Steam Oil and Machinery 
Club Rally 

• Mid Murray Amateur Golf 
Championships 

 
APRIL 

• Nyah Harness Racing 

• Swan Hill Bowls Club Easter 
Carnival 

• Start of the Murray to Moyne 
Cycle from Swan Hill 

• Swan Hill Speedway Easter 

• Strictly Jazz and Wine Weekend 
@ Tooleybuc 

• Robinvale Easter Tennis 
Tournament 

• Swan Hill Easter Tennis 
Tournament 

• St Pats ANZAC Day Racing 

• Easter at the Pioneer Settlement 
 
MAY 

• Nyah Harness Racing 

• Swan Hill Speedway 

• Autumn Swan Hill Bowls Club 
Carnival 

 
JUNE 

• Anglican Art and Craft Show 

• Nyah Harness Racing 

• Swan Hill June Racing Carnival—
Long weekend 

• Swan Hill Speedway 
 

Calendar of events 

Our Council 
economic growth 

The Major Events Support Scheme 
(MESS) provides significant benefits 
to the municipality in terms of 
increasing visitor numbers and 
providing recreational and social 
opportunities for the local 
communities. 
 
Events funded through the MESS 
application process during 2009-2010: 

Event 

YMCA Murray River Marathon 

Swan Hill Junior Basketball Classic 

Manangatang Racing Club 

Port to Port Cycling Race 

Robinvale 80 Ski Race 

Swan Hill Bowling Club 

Mallee Steam Oil and Machinery 
Club 

Murray Valley Group Sides 
Championship 

Swan Hill June Racing Carnival 

Swan Hill Veterans Badminton 

Economic value for events sponsored 
through MESS: 
 

$5,110,000 
 
Swan Hill Rural City Council 
continues to support the local 
community via its extensive calendar 
of events.  The above is only a 
snapshot of the Economic Value they 
bring to the municipality. 
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TOWER HILL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT 

The Commercial Services Unit are responsible for ensuring Council’s procurement practices achieve best value for money, 
the acquisition and disposal of Council properties, management of Council- 
owned caravan parks, risk management and the Tower Hill Residential 
development. 

Procurement 
 
Commercial Services facilitates all publicly 
advertised tenders, quotations, 
submissions and expressions of interest 
ensuring the procurement process is 
transparent and provides best value for 
money. 
 
Council conducted five formal tenders 
during 2009-2010 at a total value of 
$3,792,818 and participated in a further 
seven public tenders conducted by the 
appointment of agents such as MAV 
Procurement and Procurement Australia 
(formerly Strategic Purchasing) of which 
Council entered into two contracts to the 
value of approximately $1,084,000. 
 
In addition to the formal tenders, Council 
sought 12 quotations and 4 requests for 
submissions which resulted in a further 16 
contracts being awarded at a total value of 
$1,421,138. 

HIGHLIGHTS 
Contracts awarded for bituminous sealing and gravel resheeting 
works. 
 

Tenders conducted for the appointment of an internal auditor, 
reconstruction of kerb and footpath in Mellor Grove, Swan Hill and the 
replacement of a blower type road patcher. 
 
Contracts  awarded as a result of agency tenders for the supply of 
fuel and lubricants and mobile telecommunications. 
 
Contracts awarded as a result of quotations for the following: 

• Construction and installation of various shade structures for the 
Swan Hill CBD upgrade. 

• Architectural design consultancy Pioneer Settlement. 

• Steggall Park architecture design, development and 
documentation. 

• Rehabilitation of the Chinkapook Landfill and capping works 

• Supply of outdoor and works staff uniforms. 

• Construction of the Robinvale animal pound. 
 
Extension of Management contract for the operation of Council’s 
leisure and aquatic centres. 
 
Strategic land purchases in Swan Hill and Robinvale. 
 
THE YEAR AHEAD 

• Review Council’s Procurement Policy, Directive and Procedures. 

• Conduct tenders and award contracts for the supply and 
maintenance of photocopiers, property valuation services  
2012-2014, waste management services, Robinvale CBD. 

Swan Hill Rural City Council, in partnership with VicUrban, is 
developing the Tower Hill residential estate.  The Tower Hill estate is 
situated on the Western approach 2.5 km’s from the Swan Hill CBD. It 
is envisaged that the development will provide homes for an additional 
2,500 residents when completed. 
 
251 residential allotments have been released for sale with additional 
land being sold for the development of the Alcheringa Aged Care 
facility and Sunraysia Institute of TAFE expansion. 
 
The development also involves the creation and development of Barry 
Steggall Park, a 15 hectare Regional Park consisting of an all abilities 
playground, open recreation areas, picnic and Barbeque facilities, 
walking and cycling paths with a large lake and wetlands that forms 
part of the overall Tower Hill Water Sensitive Urban Design. 

HIGHLIGHTS 
Completion and adoption of the Steggall Park 
Landscape Masterplan. 
 
Design and construction of an alternative 
landscape treatment within the Village Way 
Reserve. 
 
Construction and release of Stage 6 allotments. 
 
Design of the Steggall Park all abilities 
playground, open recreation area and picnic 
barbeque area. 
 
Sale of additional land for Sunraysia Institute of 
TAFE expansion. 

THE YEAR AHEAD 

• Design and construction of Stage 7 allotements 

• Landscaping of Stage 6 reserves 

• Construction of the Steggall Park open 
recreation area and picnic barbeque area 

• Tower Hill concept plan review 

• Review of Tower Hill Deed of Agreement with 
VicUrban 
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SWAN HILL CBD REDEVELOPMENT 

The Swan Hill CBD project is the largest investment contained in the four year 
Major Projects Plan with $435,000 budgeted for the 2009—2010 financial year 
and $1.5m allocated for the 2010—2011 financial year.  

How significant is this project? 
 
This is the first upgrade to 
infrastructure within the Swan Hill 
CBD for over 25 years. 
 
The investment in the CBD 
infrastructure has had, and will 
continue to have, a positive effect 
on the local manufacturing 
industry as all of the contracts 
have been let to local businesses. 
 
The CBD redevelopment is linked 
to upgrades / developments of the 
Swan Hill Riverfront, which will 
see further investment in the City 
beyond the life of this project.  
 
The works currently underway 
have been designed to 
compliment the Riverfront 
upgrades and are designed to 
open up the City to the river. 

HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Completion of community consultation sessions. The master plan is a set 
of guiding principles used to assist in staging the redevelopment to ensure 
that the works are completed in a co-ordinated way and in accordance with 
the priorities as set out in the community consultation sessions. 
 
Small projects were funded via the Federal Government’s economic 
stimulus package and were all completed. These included: 

•  The installation of shade structures 

• Furniture and bins at McCrae Street and Beveridge Street 
 
Six month trial of alternate taxi bay locations was negotiated with the 
operators and has been underway since April 2010. 
 
Funding commitment secured for the 2010—2011 Council budget. 
 
Aspect Studios (Design Consultants) appointed via a tender process to 
facilitate the development of the master plan.  
 
Completed drainage analysis for the section of the CBD from Rutherford 
Street to Pye Street to ensure that kerb realignments and general road 
improvement works can go ahead.  
 
Modified drainage scheme in the laneway at the rear of the Swan Hill Town 
Hall to prevent flooding to the businesses in Campbell Street that are 
downstream of Beveridge Street. 
 
Contracts let to local businesses for the fabrication, painting and erection of 
the shade structures. 

THE YEAR AHEAD 

• Provide more shade, seating and 
increase the space available for 
people in the CBD while maintaining 
the number of available parking 
spaces. 

• The kerbing in Campbell Street is to 
be slightly realigned to allow for 
increased footpath area and should 
encourage outdoor dining. This is to 
be coupled with the realignment of the 
central medians to control vehicle 
speed. 

• Signage will be placed throughout the 
CBD to assist visitors with directions 
to places such as; the hospital, Visitor 
Information Centre, Council offices, 
railway station, supermarkets and 
Police Station. 

• Water sensitive gardens will be 
constructed at shade structure and 
seating locations. 

• Large sections of footpath will be 
reconstructed. 

• Beveridge Street road pavement will 
be reconstructed. 

 

CHALLENGES 

• The management of traffic and pedestrian movements through the 
precinct during the construction phase of the redevelopment. 

• Ensuring that the restrictions to the available parking spaces are kept to a 
minimum during the realignment of kerbs. 

• Remodelling the Campbell Street Kiosk building to ensure that it remains 
a public space that can be utilised by community groups and clubs as a 
fundraising facility and also be utilised by the public as a gathering point. 

• Minimising the disruption to the operations of the various businesses while 
the works are being completed. 

• The Management of public transport facilities i.e. taxi ranks and bus stops. 
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Annual maintenance and renewal of Council’s infrastructure assets is undertaken by Council’s Engineering Services 
Works Department.   
 
Swan Hill Rural City Council has 2,808km of unsealed roads, 1,369km of 
sealed roads and 134km of footpaths to maintain.  The Engineering 
Services Works Department are also responsible for maintenance of 
kerb and channel, signs, drains, bridges, roadside vegetation, 
streetscapes, playgrounds, parks and sporting grounds. 

FOOTPATH REPAIR/REPLACEMENT
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HIGHLIGHTS 
 
There was 1,245m of footpath replaced across the footpath 
network Renewing and replacing unsafe and broken sections.  
Council also carried out significant maintenance works on the 
footpath network with 1,438 trip hazards being ground.  This was 
mainly due to the hiring of a mini loader with grinder attachment over 
a four week period. 
 
Resealing of approximately 31km of urban and rural roads, and 
7km of final seal were completed during the year. This was the first 
year of a five year contract. 
 
Council’s Road Construction crew completed shoulder resheets 
totalling 19.7km, resheeted 48.2km of unsealed road and undertook 
7.8km of road reconstruction. 
 
2,927 guideposts were installed throughout the municipality on 
sealed and unsealed roads as part of Council’s five-year plan. 
 
Grading of unsealed roads was limited to six months of the financial 
year, however 2,528km of unsealed roads were graded.  This figure 
is significantly greater than the past three years. 
 
Completed upgrades of playground equipment throughout the 
municipality as identified in Council’s Playground Asset Management 
Plan. 
 
Council’s tree maintenance contractor has undertaken inspections 
of trees on nature strips and Council controlled properties and 
completed 892 power line clearances, 95 trees/stumps removals and 
1,200 trees were trimmed to allow footpath and road clearance.   
 
There were 712 hours spent on clearing rural roadsides to allow and 
improve access. 
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PLANT MANAGEMENT 

CHALLENGES 
 

• Due to the drought conditions, the maintenance of sealed roads in respect to shoulder grading has been 
restricted to only 381km. This was completed in April, May and June 2010 when conditions were favourable. 

• During 2009-2010, Council planted 210 trees.  This figure is below normal due to the drought conditions and 
vandalism of young trees.  The purchasing of mature trees is required to ensure the survival of trees planted. 

 

THE YEAR AHEAD 
 

With many concrete footpath trip hazards needing to be completed by the end of December, Engineering Works are 
hiring the mini loader with grinder attachment again to complete all defects. 

 

Overall, challenges in the next 12 months relate to the drought and Council’s ability to supply the services that 
ratepayers expect. These services range from maintaining Council’s parks and sporting reserves, to tree 
maintenance, through to road maintenance. Until a water allocation is made, the supply of these services is in 
jeopardy. 

The fleet and plant management programs function is to provide efficient and effective management, maintenance 
and operational services for Council's fleet, plant and equipment assets, providing a commercially competitive option 
for the provision of equipment in support of Council programs. The program provides all management functions 
including technical specifications, procurement, operational, contractual and disposal services for the Council fleet 
and plant. The program also engages in the negotiation for short-term, task specific vehicles and plant. 
 

It provides a viable and competitive maintenance facility for the purpose of maintaining Council fleet and plant and 
ensures maximum service with minimum equipment downtime.  In addition, all maintenance and management of the 
municipal drainage and irrigation pumping systems are provided through the Plant Management program.  
 

Plant and fleet assets are categorised into the following main groupings: 
Fleet: Passenger vehicles, cars, station wagons, passenger derivative utes. 
Plant: Roads and Parks & Gardens machinery: Trucks, Light Commercial vehicles, Tractors, Graders, Mowers 
Small Plant: Brush cutters, Chain saws, Leaf blowers 
Pumps: Fixed drainage and irrigation, Portable pumps 
 

Revised Motor Vehicle Policy to include more fuel and environmentally efficient vehicles in the available selection.  
Included in the Motor Vehicle Policy will be incentives for staff to select more environmentally efficient vehicles. 
 

Initiated plant utilisation and efficiency review committee with focus on reviewing the appropriate use (fit for 
purpose) of plant and adopting work practices and plant selection with an appropriate emphasis on fuel efficiency. 
 

Roll-out of manufacturer approved increased service intervals for plant as a strategy to reduce environmental 
impacts.  
 

Swimming Pools (Outdoor) 
 

Total visitor numbers across the three outdoor pools at 38,586. 
Visitor Number Summary by centre 

 
 
Increased water use efficiency at Swan Hill pool for the fifth consecutive year.  Cumulative water savings of 
87.3% or 53.1 m/Lt since 2005/2006 season. 

Swan Hill Outdoor 22,616 

Nyah and District 8,399 

Manangatang 7,571 
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ASSET MANAGEMENT 

Asset management is a systematic process to guide the planning, acquisition, maintenance, renewal and disposal of 
assets.  Its objective is to maximise asset service delivery potential 
while minimising related risks and costs over their entire lives. 

Assets managed by Council include: 

• Roads 

• Bridges 

• Kerb and channel 

• Footpaths 

• Parks and playgrounds 

• Sports grounds and facilities 

• Urban drainage 

• Buildings and land 

• Monuments 

• Collections of artworks and historical artefacts 

• Machinery, vehicles and equipment 

• Waste management and recycling facilities 

• Commercial enterprises: Saleyards and caravan parks 

• Swimming pools and leisure centres 

How do we assign asset project priorities? 

A Major Projects Application form can be submitted by 
the community or Council staff, which includes: 

• Details of the proposed project 

• Timeframe and staging 

• Why the project is necessary 

• Estimated cost 

• Availability of Government grants,  community or 
other contributions 

• Community benefit 

Criteria Criteria 
Weighting 

Project is a legislative/mandatory 
requirement and must proceed 

Automatically 
proceeds 

    

Degree project is an existing Council Plan 
priority 

10% 

Degree project is in community plan and/or 
has identified need 

15% 

Degree project is an existing Council 
strategy and/or project 

10% 

Degree of renewal/replacement of existing 
assets in project 

30% 

Degree project generates savings and/or 
revenue or reduces risk 

10% 

Degree to which matching grants are 
available for project 

5% 

Amount of local economic or social benefit 
in project 

10% 

Degree of positive environmental outcome 5% 

Degree of innovation, uniqueness etc in 
project 

5% 

Total 100% 

Proposed projects are then assessed on the following criteria 

HIGHLIGHTS 
 
New asset management plans developed and adopted for 
playgrounds and kerb and channel. 
 
Road Management Plan reviewed and updated in 
accordance with legislation. 
 
Footpath Asset Management Plan developed and 
scheduled for adoption at the August 2010 Council meeting. 
 
Sale of Nyah playgroup and Waitchie CFA.  The disposal 
of these assets will result in savings in ongoing maintenance 
costs. 
 
Implementation of the Work Orders Module. Council’s 
new financial package will allow the collection of more 
detailed and accurate information on the cost of 
maintenance and renewal of Council assets. 
 
Ongoing implementation of the Buildings Asset 
Management Plan building rationalisation program 
resulted in the demolition of the following disused buildings: 
Swan Hill croquet club rooms, Nyah West fire station, 
Robinvale guide hall, 245-251 Beveridge Street Swan Hill, 
Annuello hall external toilets, Tresco tennis shelters, 
Beverford Jack Bail reserve toilets, Meatian hall external 
toilets and Waitchie hall external toilets. 

THE YEAR AHEAD 

• Council will continue to encourage and facilitate the 
multiple use of buildings and facilities to reduce 
ongoing operational, maintenance and renewal 
costs. 

• Ongoing participation in the Municipal Association of 
Victoria Asset Management “STEP” program. 

CHALLENGES 

• The implementation of a new Federal Government 
Asset Management Framework that all Councils have 
to comply with and report to. 
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SWAN HILL REGIONAL LIVESTOCK EXCHANGE 

The Swan Hill Regional Livestock Exchange as it currently stands, was built in 1995. Cattle sales are conducted on 
a fortnightly basis with sheep sales on alternative fortnights. Special sales, both cattle and sheep are conducted at 
the agents’ request.  
 
There are a total of 209 cattle pens, all soft standing, and 588 hard and soft standing sheep pens. The Livestock 
Exchange attracts livestock and buyers from across Victoria’s, southwest NSW and South Australian regions.  The 
Swan Hill Regional Livestock Exchange is the largest livestock trading centre in Northwest Victoria.   
 
The Swan Hill Regional Livestock Exchange is: 

• National Saleyard Quality Assurance accredited 

• Meat Standards Australia Accredited 

• National Livestock Identification System (NLIS) equipped 

HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Rebranded facility from Swan Hill Livestock Selling Centre to Swan Hill Regional Livestock 
Exchange. 
 
Completed feasibility study into the sale and redevelopment of surplus lands within the 
facility boundaries. 
 
Successful submission to host the 2010 Livestock Saleyards Association of Victoria 
annual conference. 
 
Improved livestock throughput by 4.5% from 2008-2009 figures for a total 195,209 head 
yarded. 
 

SHEEP   CATTLE 

DATE 

SHEEP 
HEAD 
NO. 

 SHEEP $ 
TURNOVER   DATE 

CATTLE 
HEAD 
NO. 

CATTLE $ 
TURNOVER 

2005-
2006 

    
197,919 11,219,996   

2005-
2006 

      
19,816 13,517,718 

2006-
2007 

    
154,638  7,385,760   

2006-
2007 

      
20,740 11,498,563 

2007-
2008 

    
181,230  9,599,408   

2007-
2008 

      
29,174 15,941,466 

2008-
2009 

    
169,259 9,880,747   

2008-
2009 

      
17,103 10,185,532 

2009-
2010 

    
177,491 12,600,293   

2009-
2010 

      
17,718 10,808,725 
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BUILDING 

Our  Performance 
economic growth 

The Building Department provides an efficient and effective statutory building control service, within the Swan Hill 
Rural City Council for the purpose of ensuring the structural efficiency, health and amenity and energy efficiency of 
buildings for developers, home owners, builders and the general public. 

HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Record Processing Figures.  Building permits processed in an 
average of 16.3 days, down from 18 in 2008-2009. 
 
Record dwelling permit figures since the amalgamation in 
1995. 129 dwellings at a total value of $29,827,063.  The 
previous best dwelling permit figure was 111 dwellings back in 
1999-2000. 
 
Record total dollar value of all building permits issued was 
$62,149,060. 
 

Other major contributing factors to the record value of 
building permits include: 

• The construction of the new Swan Hill Police Station ($9.9M)  

• The Swan Hill Retirement Village (Stage 1) 

• Various school upgrade works initiated by the Federal 
Government’s “Building the Education Revolution” Funding 
program  

 
CHALLENGES 
 

• Balance the processing of building permit applications with the 
need to increase inspections carried out on both Council and 
privately owned buildings to ensure compliance with Essential 
Safety Measures legislation. 

• Increased emphasis on proactive enforcement and compliance 
issues with respect to illegal building works, pool safety 
barriers and Essential Safety Measures Maintenance. 

• Balancing these increased enforcement and compliance 
demands and expectations against departmental resources. 

• Total number of dwellings constructed in Swan Hill = 95.  
(This represents 72.5% of Municipality Total); 
 

• Total number of dwellings constructed in Robinvale = 23. 
(This represents 17.5% of Municipality Total). 

 

• Of the 95 dwellings constructed in Swan Hill 54 were 
constructed at “Tower Hill”.  (This represents 41.2% of 
Municipality Total and 56.8% of Swan Hill Total). 

DID YOU KNOW? 

THE YEAR AHEAD 

• Continue to provide an efficient and effective 
statutory building control service, within the 
municipality for the purpose of ensuring the 
structural efficiency, health and amenity of 
buildings for developers, home owners, builders 
and the general public. 

• Increase the emphasis on proactive enforcement 
and compliance issues with respect to illegal 
building works, pool safety barriers and Essential 
Safety Measures Maintenance. 
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PLANNING 

The Planning Unit is responsible for administering the Planning and Environment Act 1987 through the Swan Hill 
Planning Scheme, as well as other related legislation such as the Subdivision Act 1988.  Services include provision 
of planning advice and property information, processing subdivision plans, assessment and decisions on planning 
permit applications, representation of Council at VCAT hearings and enforcement of planning permit conditions and 
Planning Scheme provisions. 
 
Also undertaken is a range of strategic projects that result in amendments to the Planning Scheme to provide 
guidance on decision making.  Input is provided into state and regional planning initiatives, and amendments 
undertaken to rezone land when required.  The Planning Scheme is reviewed every four years to improve its 
performance. 

HIGHLIGHTS 
 
The Strategic Planning function of Council’s Planning Unit is responsible for the preparation of strategies, 
master plans and guidelines.  
 
This helps the Council to establish the strategic planning framework and to articulate its planning vision in the 
Municipal Strategic Statement. These strategies also help the Council to develop Local Planning Policies to convey 
to the community its position on planning matters and its intentions, for example, planning and provision of open 
space or car parking policies to inform the assessment of development and land use applications. 
 
A number of Council’s strategic studies may be viewed at Council’s web site at: 
http://www.swanhill.vic.gov.au 
 
Council undertook the four year review of the Swan Hill Planning Scheme.  The review report was completed in 
June 2010 and was to be presented to Council for adoption in July. 
 
Council supported the seeking from the Minister for Planning the authorisation to prepare a number of planning 
scheme amendments including the rezoning of land at the former Robinvale Bowling Club from Public Use Zone to 
Residential 1 Zone to assist in facilitating the development of 34 Aged Care Units for the Robinvale Committee for 
the Ageing. 
 
The rezoning of land adjacent to the Swan Hill Anglican Church from Residential 1 Zone to the Public Use Zone to 
allow Swan Hill Health to facilitate the expansion of acute care facilities at the Swan Hill Hospital, was also 
supported by Council and sent to the Minister for Planning for amendment authorisation. 
 
 
Statutory Planning 
 
Statutory planning is the way Local Government applies the provisions of the Planning and Environment Act 1987, 
which was introduced by the State Government to ensure that development and land use in Victoria occurs in an 
orderly and sustainable manner. This legislation created the Swan Hill Planning Scheme, which applies specific 
controls to land within municipality. 
  
The Statutory Planning function assesses a variety of applications; from starting up a home business, through to 
construction of a multi-million dollar development. One of the main roles of the statutory planning function is to 
provide advice on the conditions that govern property development and land use proposals.  
 
Planning Permit Activity 
 
Planning permit activity was fairly static during 2009-2010 and remained at levels similar to 2008-2009, indicated by 
planning application numbers reducing by 1%. Permit numbers remain below the long-term average. The slowdown 
in permit activity may be attributable to the economic slowdown and rises in interest rates over the last 12 months, 
together with the longer term effects of the ongoing drought. 
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DID YOU KNOW? 
 
A total of 131 permit applications 
were received during 2009-2010 
compared to 132 in 2008-2009 and 
the value of development approvals 
this year was $24.6 million compared 
to $32.4 million in 2008-2009.  

PLANNING PERMIT HIGHLIGHTS 
Council approved approximately 99% of applications during 2009-2010. 
One application was decided by VCAT. 97% of planning permits were issued 
under delegated authority from Council. 
 
98% of applications were approved within the statutory timeframe in 2009-
2010 which was a 10% improvement on 2008-2009. 
 
Process improvements within the planning department saw an 8% 
improvement in the average number of days required to issue planning 
permits within the statutory time limits. 
 
A risk management audit was conducted by our insurers, Civic Mutual 
Plus, in February 2010.  This audit assessed town planning process and 
procedures. The audit confirmed that the processes and procedures were all 
in place and working well. Council’s Planning Department received a score 
of 15 out of a possible 15. 
 
Pre-application meetings.  Applicants have been encouraged, where 
possible, to take part in a pre-application meeting prior to submission of their 
planning application.  The proportion of permit applicants involved in this 
process has steadily increased from 25% to 40% over three years.   During 
this period, requests for further information decreased from 40% to 30% of 
all applications.  It is reasonable to conclude, therefore, that pre-application 
meetings reduce the incidence of requests for further information. 
 
CHALLENGES 
 

• The South West Development Precinct Development Contributions Plan 
(DCP) was not completed during 2009-2010 due to ongoing consultation 
and negotiation with relevant land owners within the precinct.  The DCP 
is yet to be finalised and is awaiting final submissions from landowners in 
the area. The failure to finalise the DCP has hindered the preparation of 
the planning scheme amendment to rezone land in the South West 
Precinct for residential development. 

 
The challenge for Council’s Planning Unit is to constantly seek improvement 
in all areas of its function. These improvements could be sought by: 
 

• Site inspection times have reduced from 30 days to 23 days.   A reduction 
of the time taken to conduct the initial site inspection could lead to further 
improvements in the overall assessment time.  

• The retention of experienced staff and continued professional 
development is important. 

• Better educate stakeholders and work with the development industry in 
regard to planning requirements and processes, to improve the quality of 
planning permit applications to reduce the processing time of 
applications. 

• Balance the challenge of reducing processing times and increased 
enforcement and compliance demands and expectations against 
departmental resources. 

• Implementation of a community education program for planning in order 
to better inform the community of the planning process and function of the 
Planning Unit. 

DID YOU KNOW? 
 
Swan Hill processing times are 20% 
better than the Victorian rural 
average, and 30% more decisions 
are made in Swan Hill within statutory 
time frames compared to the 
Victorian rural average. 
 
Some more notable applications 
during the past year included 
approval of a new medical clinic 
facility in Swan Hill and an additional 
10 dwelling aged care unit extension 
at the Robinvale Retirement Village. 

THE YEAR AHEAD 
Undertake further strategic work as 
identified in Stage 1 of the Planning 
Scheme Review scheduled for 
preparation this year is as follows: 

• Complete the South West Residential 
Precinct Development Contributions 
Plan (DCP) and subsequent Planning 
Scheme Amendment. 

• Preparation of the documentation for 
the Stage 2 planning scheme 
amendment to finalise the Planning 
Scheme Review. 

• Review the Swan Hill Residential 
Development Strategy 2030. 

• Preparation of a Highway Business 
Development Strategy. 

• Continue with the review and 
inspection of planning permits. 

• Continual improvement in the 
processing of planning applications by 
promoting pre-application meetings. 

• Further reduction in the times for 
inspection of planning permits. 
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HIGHLIGHTS 

• Actively lobbied with state and federal 
organisations on the future of the Murray Darling 
Basin. 

• New contracts developed for kerbside collection 
of household garbage and recyclable materials. 

• Facilitated management of the Sustainable 
Living in the Mallee Group (SLIM). 

• Reviewed motor vehicle policy. 

• Study undertaken about use of renewable 
energy for Council’s operations. 

• Reviewed Waste Management Strategy. 

• Energy efficient options replaced in Council 
buildings. 

• Process developed for stormwater disposal. 

• Development of a Community Pride Campaign. 

 

CHALLENGES FACED 

• Involvement in external discussions regarding 
the Murray River. 

• Council’s roles and responsibilities with regard to 
pest plants and animals. 

• Development of strategy for re-use of water at 
the Swan Hill Leisure Centre. 

• Procedures for demolition control and disposal 
of building waste. 

Our  Performance 
3. environmental management 

3. Environmental management 
Strategic Objectives 

Contributing To Good 
Environmental Outcomes for 
the Murray River, its 
environs and the lake 
systems. 

Council recognises that our 
economic and community 
wellbeing are linked to the 
health of the Murray River 
and lakes systems.  Council 
seeks to minimise any 
detrimental impact on the 
health of the river or the lakes 
through advocacy, facilitation 
and direct action. 

Contributing To Good 
Environmental Outcomes 
For The Mallee and 
Bushland Reserves. 

Council recognises that our 
economic and community 
wellbeing are linked to the 
health of the Mallee and 
bushland reserves.  Council 
seeks to minimise any 
detrimental impact on the 
health of these environs 
through advocacy, facilitation 
and direct action. 

Promoting and Advocating 
Sound Environmental 
Practices. 

There are many ways in 
which we can all minimise our 
environmental footprint.  
Council will encourage the 
adoption of practices that 
reduce our overall impact on 
the environment. 

Protecting Indigenous Flora 
and Fauna. 

Council will seek to protect 
indigenous flora and fauna, 
with individual decisions 
based on sound application of 
legislation, policies and 
guidelines. 

Managing The Built and 
Natural Environment. 

Using environmentally-
sensitive practices, Council 
will seek to ensure the 
appropriate management and 
protection of our built and 
natural environment to meet 
the needs of the community. 

Improving Co-ordination 
Between Council and Other 
Authorities on the 
Environment. 

Council will seek to achieve a 
greater coordination of all the 
stakeholders in the municipal 
environment to minimise 
complexity and duplication, 
and improve the 
environmental management 
of our region. 
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Council Plan Initiatives  
Our Commitments and Performance 

What We Said Status 
Initiate active involvement in external discussions that affect the 
Murray River and its tributaries and lake systems. 
There are numerous lobbying and working party memberships 
and are part of actions in progress.   

Engage with all levels of Government and water authorities to 
develop a strategic co-ordinated approach to the Murray River.   

Determine Council’s roles and responsibilities with regard to pest 
plants and animals.   

Advocate and determine Council’s roles and responsibilities with 
regard to pest plants and weeds in conjunction with the Municipal 
Association of Victoria and State Government.   

Kerbside collection of household garbage.   

Kerbside collection of recyclable materials.   

Promoting and advocating sound environmental practices within 
Council and the broader community.   

Investigate innovative initiatives for reuse and retention of water.   

Review fleet management and purchasing to minimise 
environmental impact.   

Use of renewable energy for Council’s operations.   

Prepare to respond to changes in State Government legislation 
regarding disposal of waste.   

Review the Waste Management Strategy.   

Renewals and improvements to Council facilities will be 
completed with reduced impact on the environment.   

Investigate techniques, cost and market for recycled concrete 
and other materials.   

Ensure demolition control and appropriate disposal of building 
waste will occur.   

Consider increased use of (constructed) wetlands as an 
alternative to conventional drainage systems.   

Develop a Community Pride campaign to engage the community 
as partners in riverfront protection and presentation.   

     Actions completed      Actions in progress      Actions not achieved 
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The Swan Hill landscape is typically a diverse collection of vegetation communities and topography. It is within this 
landscape the Environment Unit is charged with protecting and enhancing the natural and living landscape. 
Objectives of the Environment Unit: 
 

• To educate and encourage the community and officers to embrace sustainable living practices. 

• Protect native vegetation and restore and rehabilitate the landscape. 

• Implement sustainable water practices. 

• Identify and control pest plant and animal infestations. 

• Develop and implement Environmental Management Systems (EMS). 

• To increase Recycling rates while emphasising Reduce and Reuse principles. 

• Contribute to the ongoing reduction of the municipality's environment footprint. 
 

The Environment Unit promotes the highest standards and awareness of environmental and natural resource 
management throughout the municipality. 

HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Environmental innovation, water conservation and 
reuse, and protection of the Environment.  Swan Hill 
has been working towards environmental innovation, 
water conservation and reuse and protection of the 
environment.   
Active participation in Water Advisory Groups including:  

• Northern Victorian Irrigation Renewal Project (NVIRP). 

• Torrumbarrry Reconfiguration and Asset 
Modernisation Strategy Working Group (TRAMS). 

• Little Murray Weir Technical Reference Committee. 
 
The Milloo Street Wetlands.  This project recognises 
outstanding achievement in the protection of the natural 
environment with a particular focus on the preservation 
and management of local fauna and flora. 
 
Stop Green Waste Dumping Campaign in Lake Boga 
and surrounds, this included distributing flyers and 
signage to raise community awareness to recycle the 
green waste by mulching this valuable organic matter 
instead of burning or dumping.  
 
Alternative Nature Strip Treatments Campaign: To 
encourage the use of waterwise plants and installation of 
gravels and mulches in naturestrips, and the installation of 
the demonstration Tower Hill Trial Planting plot.  
 
Implementation of Street tree themes for urban and 
rural streetscapes, this process involves extensive 
community consultation to identify preferred street tree 
species ensuring all community members have input.  

Managing Indigenous Cultural Heritage on Council 
owned or managed Land.  Completion of a cultural 
heritage conservation management plan for a 
significant roadside in Manangatang and application 
for cultural heritage restoration works permit. 
 
Achieved Murray Darling Association Study Tour 
Bursary.  To explore alternative water use 
technologies. A funded a study tour to South 
Australia’s arid zone to investigate subsurface 
irrigation in sporting grounds, storm water recapture 
and sewage water treatment for reuse on sporting and 
passive recreational facilities. 
 
The Swan Hill community is committed to caring 
for Lake Boga and its environs and have developed a 
range of restoration projects that have an emphasis 
on the repair and revegetation of this unique and 
complex landscape, whilst managing the built and 
natural environment.   
 
This commitment has been demonstrated through our 
rejuvenation projects which include: Turtle Lagoon 
Lake Boga, Wood Wood and Boundary Bend River 
Reserves where these significant achievements are 
enjoyed by residents and tourists. Furthermore this 
commitment is demonstrated by communities who 
have taken ownership of these sites by planting 
indigenous vegetation, removing weeds and picking 
up rubbish. 
 
 

Our  Performance 
3. environmental management 
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Environmental outcomes.  These projects can make a difference to the sustainable 
amenity and biodiversity values of our region by creating high quality environmental 
outcomes. These sites demonstrate the achievable outcomes when community 
groups come together and create great environmental outcomes for the future. 
 
Pest Plant and Animal Programs.  Responsibility of pest plant and animal control 
has been debated since 2005. In the interim the Minister for Agriculture has 
established an independently chaired working party comprising of officers from the 
Municipal Association Victoria (MAV), Department Primary Industries (DPI) and other 
key stakeholders to examine the fundamental questions of what the objective of 
roadside weed and pest animal management is, who is best placed to efficiently and 
effectively deliver it and potential legislative options to provide the best outcome. 
 
To enable pest management on roadsides to take place in the most practical and 
effective way possible, DPI will continue to work in partnership with MAV and 
municipal councils by offering the Roadside Grants program over the next year. This 
program will operate on a ‘without prejudice’ basis and therefore ongoing responsibility 
will not be assumed to lie with council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Pest Animal Control Project.  The dry conditions have encouraged pest rabbit 
infestations in the Waitchie area. Council and DPI developed a partnership project to 
identify and mechanically destroy rabbit warrens in conjunction with a landholder 
education and enforcement program. Council and DPI have coordinated treatment of 
these infestations on roadsides adjoining these landholders for follow up control 
programs. 
 
Pest Plant Control Project.  Council, working in partnership with DPI and the Lake 
Boga Sea Scouts have grouped together to develop the Lake Boga Bone Seed 
Control project. Boneseed has been identified as a weed of significance and can only 
be hand pulled for effective control. The Lake Boga Sea Scouts have located and 
removed large numbers of plants, documented their locations using GPS and 
prepared relative information brochures. 
 
The key to this project is putting in place a means to facilitate a collaborative approach 
between the Council, DPI, and local Landcare groups to gain greater outcomes over a 
larger scale. This project proposes follow up works on the initial pilot program, a 
control program in partnership with the DPI enforcement program and establishment 
of a coordinator to facilitate the works and community engagement. 
 

Rabbit ripping warrens in Waitchie National Tree Day 2009-2010 
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Sustainability  
The Sustainability Accord Program provided funding to develop the 
Sustainable Living Strategy. This project included extensive community 
consultation and information gathering sessions that identified six key 
environmental management priorities.  This included establishing 
Sustainable Living in the Mallee Group (SLIM). SLIM is a community group 
that will be facilitated by Council to explore energy and water use reduction 
options in conjunction with reducing our ecological footprint.  
 
This project has facilitated community participation and developed key 
partnerships with the community, Sunraysia TAFE Eco Demonstration 
House, Greenhouse Alliances and sustainability groups.  
 
Keeping the community informed 
 
This initiative has been well supported by the community and the local 
papers (the Guardian and the Sentinel) and local radio including ABC 
Swan Hill and Mildura have generously included these initiatives as news.  
Other valuable information sharing tools include: 

• The community newsletter 

• Regular updates on the Council’s web page 

• The quarterly Environment Muster SLIM Newsletters –email 
 
The above media provided the opportunity to reach: our community, 
visitors, schools, environment groups and members of SLIM. 
 
The Environment team regularly attends information sessions and 
provides updates to community groups, schools and community events 
about environmental initiatives. 
 
 
THE YEAR AHEAD 
 
To continue to encourage community members to take action and ensure 
the program has strong publicity to encourage further uptake of the 
program. The program will include new projects that include community 
gathering spaces, community vegetable gardens, walking tracks through- 
out the town and community designed passive recreation urban forests.  
 
 

 
 

Our  Performance 
3. environmental management 

Planning for a changing 
climate.  Swan Hill Rural City 
Council is one of four Murray 
Region councils taking a lead 
role in adapting to climate 
change.  Swan Hill Rural City 
Council, Moira Shire Council, 
Shire of Campaspe and Mildura 
Rural City Council have 
successfully secured $800,000 
under the Australian 
Government's Strengthening 
Basin Communities Program to 
deliver the Strengthening 
Victoria's Foodbowl: Adaptation 
to Reduced Water Availability in 
a Changing Climate project. 
 
The project will address all 
sectors of the region and aim to 
assist communities to adapt to 
climate change through strategic 
planning and the development of 
practical solutions. 
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Lobbied State and Federal Government and advisors to establish well 
researched arguments to ensure Murray Darling Authority (MDA) Sustainable 
Diversion Limits and Market Mechanisms have a minimal impact on the region.   
 
Water is a complex issue in the Murray Darling Basin and any change to water 
management will require extensive community consultation and engagement at all 
stages of the Basin Plan development. Council provided submissions to the MDA 
Sustainable Diversion Limits Issues Paper and the Market Mechanisms for Water in 
Murray Darling Basin.  
 
These response papers highlight that the North West Victoria region will be 
significantly impacted by these proposed changes. Our Mallee communities accept the 
need to change, however, they must be provided with transparent information and 
extensive support throughout the development of the MDA Basin Plan.  
 
Tidy Towns Community Pride Campaign.  The Mayor of Swan Hill Rural City 
Council has facilitated the development of a Community Pride Campaign in response 
to the need to build community pride after the long drought. This highly successful 
project includes engaging community members and businesses to develop a sense of 
pride about their town, achieved through a funded project for community members. 

• This has included installing alternative treatment naturestrips including drought 
proof plants, gravels and mulches. 

• Cleaning up of Council owned or managed facilities by users of the facility. 

• Landscaping projects to be installed by community groups including Feldtmann 
Park and Michael Holmes Park. 

• Clean up Australia Day—this ongoing community driven project that has occurred 
annually for the past 10 years.  There are considerable numbers of volunteers 
collecting rubbish from waterways including the Murray River and roadsides with 
many tonnes of rubbish collected annually. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This is a highly innovative and exciting project that demonstrates Council’s 
commitment to empowering our community to really make a difference. The program is 
open to all residents within the municipality and has been readily embraced and grant 
funding will be quickly taken up.  Not only has this campaign benefited the environment 
by improving the amenity of the town, it has also developed the community’s 
commitment to sustainability. 
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How did Tidy Towns Young Leaders Originate? 
 
Environmentally Aware Sustainable Youth (EASY) is a group of youth concerned about our environment and the 
future sustainability of our region. The opportunity was given to 8 youth of the region to attend a Youth Lead 
program in Albury, New South Wales.  The event was sponsored by Swan Hill Rural City Council and Swan Hill 
Rotary Club. After travelling for over six hours to attend this dynamic intensive three day leadership training 
workshop our youth were inspired to create change in Swan Hill.  
 
The group returned enthused, passionate and ready to make a difference in our community. The EASY group have 
presented to Council and Swan Hill Rotary about their experience and future project plans. 
Projects include: 
 

• An energy reduction challenge between the Swan Hill College, MacKillop College and Manangatang 
P12 College. 

• Promoting and speaking at Earth Hour in March 2010. 

• In 2010, running an Environmental Road Show that includes movies and education workshops in 
schools – Kids teaching Kids. 

• In 2010, running a Youth Lead project in Swan Hill and engaging local kids to participate. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 

• Actively lobbied with State and Federal organisations on the future of the Murray Darling Association 

• Completion of the Milloo Street Constructed Wetlands 

• Completed several revegetation projects on the Murray River Reserve and urban passive recreation landscapes 

• Established the Sustainable Living in the Mallee Group  

• Established  the Environmentally Sustainable Youth Group  

• Conducted several successful community information sessions on water, energy and compost 

• Study undertaken exploring the renewable energy opportunities for Council’s operations 

• Energy Efficient fittings installed in Council’s buildings 

• Increased uptake in alternative waterwise landscape treatments throughout the municipality 

• Developed the Community Pride Campaign 

• Conducted extensive community engagement sessions for the Sustainable Living Strategy 
 
CHALLENGES 

• The impact of the Murray Darling Basin Plan –Sustainable Diversion Limits 

• The impacts of the introduction of the VEAC River Red Gum Investigation recommendations 

• Reduced water allocations for Council’s operations, recreation reserves, parks and gardens 

• Lobbying State Government for clarification of roles and responsibilities for pest plant and animal management 
on roadsides 

• Managing the impacts of Climate Change seasonal variations of rainfall and temperature 

• Development of water reuse systems on Council owned buildings, the Swan Hill Leisure Centre 

• Installation of Conservation works on Aboriginal Cultural heritage site on roadside in Manangatang 

• Conduct review of the Waste Management Strategy including adjustment for changes to the State Government 
waste management legislation 
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• Self funded 

• $2 million annual 
expenditure 

• 22,000 municipal population  

• 11,540 rateable premises 

• 8011 households; 

• 5,219 provided with 120L 
bin 

• 2,792 provided with 240L 
bin 

• Council charges are $220 
for the 120L bin and $320 
for 240L bin  

Waste Management Program 

WASTE MANAGEMENT 
 

The objectives of Council’s Waste Management services are to: 

• Provide Council with a safe, efficient and effective domestic garbage collection 
service,  

• Collect garbage from any approved residential premises or place located in the 
‘garbage collection’ district on a weekly basis,  

• Collect recyclable material from approved residential premises or place located 
in the ‘garbage collection’ district on a fortnightly basis. 

 

Council’s Waste services also include education campaigns and projects to assist and 
support residents' practice of efficient waste disposal by using the Reduce, Reuse & 
Recycle process.  
 

HIGHLIGHTS 
 

Waste Management Strategy.  The objective of Swan Hill Rural City Waste 
Management Strategy is to evaluate all existing practices and services, ensuring a 
significant reduction in the amount of waste going to landfill has been achieved, 
ultimately reducing Council’s ecological footprint.  
 

Together with its financial plan, the current strategy will need to be reviewed  
in-line with the new Waste Management services contracts.  Council will continue to 
meet the needs of our diverse community by delivering cost effective waste services 
and sound environmental practices.  Council is working with the Central Murray 
Regional Waste Management Group (CMRWMG) on educating the local community 
on waste minimization and encouraging recycling. 
 

Council Waste Services / Contracts.  The current waste services contracts are due 
for renewal by October 2010. Implications from the newly emerged State Government 
legislation and Environment Protection Act and Regulations have been considered in 
the new contract documents and budget allocation for 2010-2011. Following are 
services provided: 
 

Waste Contracts       

• Kerbside collection service including household, public place litter and 
recycling  

• Management of the recyclables transfer station facility  

• Management of Swan Hill and rural landfills  

• Management of Robinvale Landfill  
 

Other services 

• Education on waste (operational)                                                                                              

• Municipal hard waste collection (operational)            

Combined Audit Results - Recycling

(Kgs)
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294, 26%

276, 24%

32, 3%
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MG-80

New sprint

HDPE

PET

Mixed Plastics

Steel

Ally 
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Education on waste (operational)                                                                                               

FAST FACTS 
 

• Crushed over 3,000 tonnes of old concrete stock at Robinvale Landfill. 

• Capped Chinkapook Landfill and Robinvale Landfill face (stage 1). 

• Processed 69.5 tonnes of e-waste and small electrical appliances at Swan Hill Re-use Centre.  

• Installed 15 new Public Place Recycling bins in Swan Hill’s CBD. 

• Successful application for $78,000 shed facility for processing the e-waste at Swan Hill Landfill site 

• Council was presented with a certificate in recognition of recycling 200,000 agricultural chemical drums. 

• Collected silage wrap at the Swan Hill Landfill as part of the Plasback collection program. 
 

CHALLENGES 
 

• Increase in Council’s charges for the garbage bins in-line with the Environment Protection Act new Best 
Practice Guidelines.                    

• High level of contamination in Robinvale’s recycling waste. 
 

THE YEAR AHEAD 

• Improvement in Council’s environmental practices. 

• Robinvale and Swan Hill Landfills will be operated to the same standards. 

• Implementing household Green Waste collection service. 

• There will be significant improvement in the waste management infrastructure projects. 

• Maintaining the employment of supported workers within our waste facilities. 

• Construct new e-waste facility at Swan Hill Landfill . 

Municipal Waste
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Our  Performance 
3. environmental management 

Community / Education Programs 

• Participated in ‘Don’t be a Ronnie’ Campaign to increase recycling and reduce contamination in kerbside 
bins. 

• Part of the ‘Get it Sorted’ Campaign to encourage residents to sort their trailer loads before going to the 
landfill. 

• Collected 430 fluorescent tubes and globes as part of the Blinky Bulb project. 

Financial Year 

T
o
n
n
a
g
e
 



P 96  

 

SHRCC  
2009/2010 Annual Report 
BUILDING OUR FUTURE TOGETHER 
 

governance and leadership 



P 97 SHRCC  
2009/2010 Annual Report 

BUILDING OUR FUTURE TOGETHER 

  

HIGHLIGHTS 

• Review of Council’s Communication Strategy 

• Review and adoption of Councillor Code of 
Conduct 

• Completion of Municipal General Revaluation 
and updated Rating Strategy 

• Strategy developed for externally funded 
functions 

• Review of Council’s Major Projects Plan 

• Review of Council’s Media Policy 

• Implementation of Phase 1 of Corporate 
Software 

 

CHALLENGES FACED 

• Roll over from Customer Service Request 
System 

• Ensuring compliance with relevant legislation 

• Continuing to advocate leadership within the 
organisation 

• Implementation of the Staff Code of Conduct 

Our  Performance 
4. Governance and Leadership 

4. Governance and Leadership 
Strategic Objectives 

Developing Open 
Community Relationships. 

Council seeks to achieve 
greater community 
inclusiveness and 
understanding of Council’s 
operations and decisions. 

Councillor and Staff 
Accountability. 

Council will represent the 
interests of our community 
and will conduct its affairs 
openly and with integrity, 
reflecting high levels of good 
governance. 

Responsible Management of 
Resources. 

Council will continually 
improve the management of 
its finances, assets, systems 
and technology to achieve 
and maintain Best Value in its 
operations. 

Valuing our Staff. Council is committed to invest 
in its staff to ensure that the 
organisation is and remains 
able to deliver high level 
services to our community. 

Nurturing Critical External 
Relationships. 

Many issues of importance 
are outside of Council control, 
and can only be resolved 
through others.  Council will 
maintain and enhance 
relationships with external 
organisations to maximise 
positive outcomes for our 
community. 
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Council Plan Initiatives  
Our Commitments and Performance 

What We Said Status 

Review the communication strategy.   

Review of Local Law Number One.   

Review the Swan Hill Rural City Council Councillor and Staff 
Codes of Conduct.   

Develop a strategy for externally funded functions. 

Food For All 
Global Skills 
Drought Social Recovery 
Aboriginal Affairs 
So Great 

             Rural Access Worker   

Review of Strategies: 

Rating Strategy 
Workforce Plan 

             Procurement Policy   

Review and rationalise Council’s Major Projects Plan to ensure 
projects are sufficiently scoped and preliminary design to be 
accurately costed and grant ready.   

Implementation of new Customer Service Request System.   

     Actions completed      Actions in progress      Actions not achieved 
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PUBLIC RELATIONS AND EVENTS 
Keeping the Community Informed 

HIGHLIGHTS 
Swan Hill Rural City Council Communication Strategy 2010-2013.  Adopted 
in June 2010, the Swan Hill Rural City Council Communication Strategy sets out 
a number of aims and objectives to enhance Council’s communication both 
externally and internally. 
 
As an organisation that is accountable to its community, effective and open 
communication between Council, its residents and ratepayers and other 
stakeholders is a priority of Swan Hill Rural City Council. 
 
The Communication Strategy 2010-2013 endeavours to achieve a number of 
communication initiatives during its implementation, including: 
 

• Increase awareness of the Swan Hill Rural City Council, its functions, 
activities and responsibilities. 

• To continue to improve internal communication across the organisation. 

• To ensure elected representatives are kept informed and are skilled in 
dealing with the media and public. 

• To maintain and develop the Council website as a primary point of 
communication. 

• To reach and engage younger members of the community. 

• To continue to recognise and engage our Aboriginal community. 

• To communicate effectively with our multicultural population. 

• To increase the level of effective consultation with the community. 

• To receive and respond to queries, complaints, suggestions and feedback 
from members of the community. 

 
A regular review of the Communication Strategy will take place to ensure 
that these initiatives continue to be actioned, with a full assessment of the 
strategy to occur every three years. 
 

This service area provides overall public relations and events support across 
Swan Hill Rural City Council, ensuring key messages regarding Council 
activities are conveyed to the public through the media and other means, 
including newsletters, advertising and the Council website. 
 
The Media and Events Unit provides administrative, marketing and publicity 
support for a number of events throughout the year including Pioneer’s Week, 
Tour of the Murray, Senior’s Festival Week, Go North Arts Festival, New Year’s 
Eve and any other events that may arise during the year.  

Media liaison is a priority of the 
Unit, with a number of media 
enquiries coming through to 
the Media and Events Unit per 
week, while the Unit also 
issues around 250 media 
releases per year, is 
responsible for the co-
ordination of print advertising, 
regularly updates relevant 
sections of the Council 
website, such as Latest News 
and is responsible for 
producing the Your Community 
Newsletter, delivered 
throughout the municipality 
three times a year. 

The Unit also provides in-kind 
support to a number of 
community events such as the 
Swan Hill Eisteddfod, 
Australia Day Breakfast and 
the Swan Hill-Yamagata 
Exchange program and 
provides assistance with 
business and other 
organisations holding 
conferences within Swan Hill, 
as well as outside events 
coming into the region. 
 
The unit also reviewed 
Council’s media policy which 
was adopted at the November 
2009 Council meeting, and will 
be reviewed again in 2011. 
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ITS @ a Glance 
 

• $800,000 operating budget.  
 

• The direction of ITS is 
determined by the IT 
Strategic Plan which is 
reviewed regularly to ensure 
changing business needs 
and technology are 
considered. 

 

• The ITS infrastructure 
consists of seven primary 
sites linked by fibre optical 
cables, 16 physical servers, 
eight virtual servers and over 
180 workstations. 

 

• During the 2009-2010 
financial year we received 
over 120,000 legitimate 
emails and sent nearly 
85,000. 

 

• Approximately 50% of all 
email sent to Council email 
addresses is considered 
spam. 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SERVICES 

Information Technology Services (ITS) provides a range of services directly 
to Council staff and Councillors as well as indirectly to the Swan Hill 
community. The services are broad and cover the support of the desktop 
computing environment, application servers, telephone systems and 
computer network. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
Replacement of the Council’s core business application was worthy of 
particular note in a year that saw many upgrades and replacements for 
software applications and underpinning services. 
 
The ageing Fujitsu 2000 Plus System was replaced with the Civica 
Authority application.  Authority provides of range of interrelated modules 
covering the various business functions of Council, from financial 
management, rates, payroll and Human Resources through to Health, Local 
Laws and infringements. 
 
Council’s wireless network continues to expand to cover the ever-
growing need for remote connectivity and access to core applications, 
wireless links were recently installed at the Youth Office and Maternal Child 
and Health Services. These site-to-site links augment the existing optical 
fibre links between Council’s main locations.  
 
Council continues to expand its use of both video and internet protocol 
based conferencing tools.  As a means to reducing travelling costs and 
thereby green-house gas emissions. The increased use of video 
conferencing also increases Council officer availability by ensuring they are 
no longer inconvenienced with long travel times. 

THE YEAR AHEAD 

• The installation of a Storage Area Network - enabling flexible storage 
capacity across a range of services. 

• Increased access to virtual desktops enabling staff to have increased 
"remote working" options. 

• Continued process improvement following on from the recent Authority 
Installation. 

• Single sign-on ability. 



P 101 SHRCC  
2009/2010 Annual Report 

BUILDING OUR FUTURE TOGETHER 

  Our  Performance 
governance and leadership 

Records and record keeping are fundamental to transparent, accountable Government. They are 
indispensable to the efficient and effective functioning of all Government agencies and the responsibility of 
all their staff. 
 
The Records Management Section of Council is responsible for the capture, registration and maintenance 
of the bulk of Council’s records.  The section currently processes in excess of 65,000 documents annually, 
and is responsible for managing approximately 6,900 boxes of archived records.   
 
During the year 102 boxed records were transferred to off-site storage in Melbourne and a further 325 
boxes of records were destroyed in accordance with appropriate disposal authorities. 
 
Following the tabling of the Victorian Auditor General’s report ‘Records Management in the Victorian Public 
Sector’ and the adoption of the new Evidence Act 2008, many of the standards for Records Management 
have been, or are being, reviewed and the Records Management section look forward to bringing the 
organisation into compliance with these new and evolving standards. 

RECORDS MANGEMENT 

Number of Mail Items Processed
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Items of inwards, outwards and internal Correspondence Processed 

  

  

    2006 2007 2008 2009 2010   

  
  47,278 64,077 59,577 62,802 65,305 

  

‘Records Management in the Victorian Public Sector’, Victorian Auditor General’s 
Office; March 2008 



P 102  

 

SHRCC  
2009/2010 Annual Report 
BUILDING OUR FUTURE TOGETHER 
 

Full  

Time  

57%

Part 

Time 

43%

Our Council 
our people 
 

OUR PEOPLE 
 
At the Swan Hill Rural City 
Council we recognise the 
importance of continuing to 
take into consideration the 
specific needs and 
expectations of 
staff to manage the juggling 
act between paid work and 
other activities that 
are important to people. In 
particular, ensuring staff 
have options 
for career development and 
progression, while 
simultaneously meeting 
family responsibilities, 
requires significant culture 
change, which pleasingly is 
already occurring across the 
organisation. 

Health and Wellbeing 

Swan Hill Rural City Council continues its commitment to staff health and wellbeing 
through several initiatives introduced to encourage a healthy lifestyle and improved work 
life balance among our employees. 

 
Funding was accessed through WorkSafe to support independent health checks for all 
Council workers and, by the end of June 2010, over 100 staff had participated in the 
program with their cholesterol, blood pressure, blood sugar, eating and exercise habits 
and overall general health assessed. 
 

HUMAN RESOURCES 

WORKFORCE Male Female Male Female 
Part Time 
EFT 

Part Time 
EFT 

Total EFT 
Staff 

Total EFT 
Staff 

FUNCTION FT FT PT PT Male Female Male Female 

ECONOMIC 7 (7) 6 (4) 8 (7) 13 (15) 4 (4) 6 (8) 11 (11) 12 (12) 

ENVIRONMENT 64 (46) 16 (13) 5 (11) 19 (23) 1 (3) 6 (8) 65 (49) 22 (21) 

LEADERSHIP & 
IDENTITY 24 (20) 30 (20) 4 (4) 7 (10) 2 (0) 4 (4) 26 (20) 34 (24) 

SOCIAL 
DEVELOPMENT 11 (9) 16 (12) 13 (16) 75 (81) 2 (4) 31 (33) 13 (13) 47 (45) 

  106 (82) 68 (49) 30 (38) 114 (129) 9 (11) 47 (53) 115 (93) 115 (102) 

0

50

100

150

200

Full Time Part Time

Females

Males

Staff by Employment Status 

Staff by Gender and Employment Category 

Employment Statistics 2010 

(Number) reflects statistics as at 30 June 
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Council’s commitment to staff wellbeing also saw a continuation of the following initiatives: 
• Corporate Wellness Program (subsidised gym memberships) 

• Quit Smoking Initiative  

• Free Skin Cancer checks 

• Free Employee Assistance Program 

• Ergonomic Assessments 

• Six-weekly issue of the HR Newsletter  
 

Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S) 

Council and staff recognise that they each have obligations under the Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004 and it is 
their intention to fulfil their respective obligations in accordance with that act including regular audits and actioning of 
audits within reasonable timeframes and in accordance with resources available. 

OH&S Committee 

Council has an OH&S Committee consisting of management and staff representatives.  The committee meets every two 
months to review policy, review hazard and injury incidents, discuss workplace OH&S issues and identify opportunities to 
improve Council’s OH&S performance.   

 
The committee met six times between 2009-2010 with outcomes including the identification of new OH&S initiatives, 
provision of support to Regulatory Services to improve manual handling risks associated with the animal handling, 
implementation of a Heat Policy, fire warden equipment updates and emergency planning. 
 

HIGHLIGHTS 

OH&S Awards 

During the year, two staff received OH&S Awards as determined by the OH&S Committee.  They were Guy Romeo for 
his work on an emergency call out procedure for Building Department staff and Karen Lower for her suggestion regarding 
homecare supporting in-home assessments for clients of Council’s home library service. 

 

OH&S Initiatives  

The OH&S Committee continued its aim to improve the flexibility and general well being of our Engineering Services and 
Fleet workers through providing regular morning onsite stretching routine and access to in-house physiotherapy.   

 
In recognition of the extreme heat experienced in our region in the summer months, OH&S training was expanded to 
include dealing with heat stress and all staff who are expected to work outdoors were provided with cooling neck ties.   
 
Council’s outdoor workers also received a further boost with the OH&S Committee installing a water cooler in the Depot 
Tea Room. 
 

OH&S Training included: 

• First Aid Level I and Level II which is made available to all staff 

• CPR Update 

• Traffic Management 

• Workplace specific Manual Handling training 

• Fire Warden training 

• Confined Space Entry 

• Incident and Hazard Reporting and  

• OH and S Refresher Courses  
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Claims Year by Standard Number of Claims 

Claims Year by Average Cost per Standard Claim 

OH&S Performance 

In 2009-2010 there were 36 reported incidents compared to 39 in the previous year.   

 
In 2009-2010  there were 11 lost time injuries compared to seven in 2008-2009.   
 
Council has had increased rehabilitation success of injured workers during the year 
resulting in average claims costs reducing by 34% and saving over $130,000 in 
premium costs for the 2009-2010 year. 
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Volunteers 

Swan Hill Rural City Council is proud to source local people as volunteers to support 
delivery of our services to the community.     
 
Seventy-three volunteers are registered with Council to provide activities and catering 
services at the Pioneer Settlement, becoming integral to the operations of the Pioneer 
Settlement and its continued growth and development. 
 
Volunteers also support Council’s Out of School Hours Program, the L2P Driver Mentor 
Program, Family Day Care, Art Gallery operations, Youth Services and the Yamagata 
Youth Exchange.   
 

Swan Hill Rural City Council continues to be at the forefront of professional development 
and training options for staff with over 3,300 hours of organisational training alone 
provided to staff during the year, this being the equivalent of 10 hours of training per 
effective full time staff member.   

 
HIGHLIGHTS 
Swan Hill Rural City Council Scholarship Program  which sees seven local students 
completing either graduate or TAFE studies financially supported during the school year 
and receiving valuable on-the-job experience by working at Council during their 
semester breaks.  Thomas Dullard, Bachelor of Communication (Media) and Danielle 
Jewson, Bachelor of Design (Landscape Architecture) / Bachelor of Applied Science 
(Planning) were awarded Scholarships from the January 2010 intake. 
 
Building Internship  Council was successful in accessing funding from Regional 
Development Victoria and the Building Commission to support a two-year building 
surveying internship.  Council has one of five interns from across four Councils in 
regional Victoria completing an internship, which is a combination of theoretical, 
practical and on-the-job training. 
 

Internal Leadership  Council continued its focus on developing internal leadership 
capabilities, successfully applying for entry into the highly-sought after LG Pro Emerging 
Leaders Program for the fifth consecutive year with the nominated staff member, Ashley 
Free, Council’s Financial Accountant, graduating in February 2010.  Claire Oswin, 
Economic Development Officer, has been selected for the 2010-2011 program and 
commenced studies in March.   

 
Other professional development and leadership studies accessed by staff during the 
year included the LGPro ‘Ignite’ Program and the LGPro Mentoring Program.  
 
Other training initiatives focused on the extension of Council’s induction program, 
professional workplace culture, industrial relations, compliance issues, retirement 
advice, first aid and CPR and occupational health and safety.   

RURAL CADETSHIP 
 
In 2009-2010, Swan Hill 
Rural City Council 
participated in the State 
Government’s Rural Skills 
Cadetship Program and 
received funding from 
Regional Development 
Victoria to provide a 
cadetship to Erin Raggatt in 
the environment science 
field.  
 
The cadetship supported a 
local student to obtain 
semester break employment 
at Council whilst completing 
studies, providing an 
opportunity for Council to 
contribute to addressing 
skills shortages by investing 
in future prospective 
employees.   
 
The candidate was 
subsequently employed as 
Council’s Environment 
Officer and commenced full 
time employment with 
Council in January 2010. 
 
The cadetship is an 
extension of Council’s 
existing Scholarship 
Program.  

How Do We Determine Our Staff Training Needs? 
Staff training needs are identified individually during annual performance review 
discussions.  Council’s training has continued to focus on training specific to 
position requirements and leadership, mentoring, business, team building and 
personal development.  Staff are encouraged to pursue further studies and 
currently Council staff are completing graduate and post graduate qualifications in 
civil design, business, planning, engineering and human resources. 
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Winner 
Darren Rovere 
 
Nominees 
Sustainable Communities 
Kane Sparks 
 
Governance and Leadership 
Rhonice Graham 
Eleanor Smith 
 
 

10 Years 
Belinda Howard 
Marita Saville 
Narelle Ladson 
Norma Dean 
Rebecca Carmichael 
Tony Jenkins 
Narelle Williams 
Hodi Beauliv 
 

20 Years  
Keith Campbell 
David Lane 
Tony Evans 
Tracey Free 
Tony Heffer 
 
25 Years  
Pamela Martin 

Years of Service Awards 

Black Duck  Awards 

CHALLENGES 

 

• Ability to attract Aboriginal candidates 
to participate in Council’s Scholarship 
Program. 

 

• Recruitment of suitably qualified staff 
to Council position vacancies. 

 

• Promotion of benefits of working in 
Local Government to ensure Council 
remains an employer of choice. 

 
 

Environment 
Darren Rovere 
 
Special Commendation Certificates 
Leah Farrow 

THE YEAR AHEAD 

 

• Review and adoption of the Workforce 
Plan 2010. 

 

• Investigation of Council supported 
Childcare Scheme for staff. 

 

• Renegotiation of Council’s Enterprise 
Agreement. 

DID YOU KNOW? 

 
Every year Swan Hill Rural 
City Council presents awards 
to staff who have reached 
years of service milestones. 

 
This year, 20 staff were 

presented with Staff Service 
Awards at the annual All 

Staff Function.  
 

Council also marked its third 
year of the Black Duck 

Awards which recognises 
staff contributions and 
achievements to both 

Council and the community.   
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Strategies and Plans 

Workforce Plan.  Extensive research was conducted internally to 
devise strategies that will enable Council to anticipate and respond 
to the changing needs of our community ensuring we have 
adequate and appropriately skilled staff employed in the most 
effective way for ongoing service delivery.  Whilst the plan remains 
in draft form it is anticipated to be adopted in September 2010. 
 
Rating Strategy.  The draft rating strategy was developed and 
advertised for public consultation.  Council made further 
amendments and adopted the strategy in June 2010. 
 
Procurement.  A new policy was developed to provide a framework 
and consistent approach for procurement throughout Council.  The 
Local Government Act 1989 requires Council to review and adopt a 
procurement policy within 12 months of a general election.  On 18 
November, 2010 at the Special Council meeting Council adopted 
the procurement policy with the recommendation to review the 
policy annually. 
 
Major Projects.  Council staff have developed a Major Projects 
process whereby all projects are scoped and estimated prior to be 
considered by Council. This scoping process allows management 
and ultimately Council, to feel a level of confidence in the rationale 
and justification of any given project. By developing the whole of life 
costing as well, ensures that all factors are considered in the 
prioritisation of drafting the four year major projects plan. 
 
Councillor Code of Conduct:  Council adopted its new Code of 
Conduct in November 2009 which further  incorporates the 
specified changes in accordance with the Local Government Act 
1989 and has been further amended to include policies that govern 
Councillor behaviour within the Swan Hill Rural City Council. 
 

CHALLENGES 

• Local Law Number 1 was not adopted during the financial 
year and has rolled over to the 2010-2011 financial year for 
completion. 

 

• The Staff Code of Conduct is anticipated to be adopted in 
September 2010.  Draft documents have been through Coun-
cil’s Executive Management Team.  The document has also 
been opened up for consultation via staff representatives on 
the Consultative Committee. 

Externally Funded Positions—Development of 
Strategy 

 
Council has in the past received funding from 
both the State and Federal Governments to allow 
for the employment of staff for a specific role and 
for a specified period of time. 
 
Examples of these positions have included: 

• Food For All 

• Global Skills 

• Drought Recovery 

• Aboriginal Affairs 

• So Great 
 
and have led to a variety of successful outcomes. 
 
The funding provided has meant in a number of 
cases that the programs cannot continue which 
has led to disappointment amongst the 
community. 
 
The Executive Management Team now have a 
strategy in place that allows for the review of all 
funding being offered for funded staff positions 
and the process evaluates issues such as: 
 

• Project and how it relates to Council’s 
Strategic Plan and direction 

• Length of funding period 

• Amount of funding 

• Council contribution 

• Likelihood of receiving additional funding 

• Potential of any risk to Council 

• Community expectation of the program 
continuing 

 
and then the Councillors are provided with a 
briefing on the outcome of the evaluation. 
 
In some instances such as the Aboriginal Affairs 
and Community Planning officer position, Council 
chose to fund the positions on an ongoing basis 
despite there not being any additional outside 
funding given the importance of the position. 
 
Council will continue to evaluate all offers of 
funding for Project specific staff members. 
 



P 108  

 

SHRCC  
2009/2010 Annual Report 
BUILDING OUR FUTURE TOGETHER 
 

Appendices 



P 109 SHRCC  
2009/2010 Annual Report 

BUILDING OUR FUTURE TOGETHER 

  Appendices 
feedback 

ANNUAL REPORT 2009-2010 

Return by mail to: 
The Chief Executive Officer 
PO Box 488 
SWAN HILL VIC 3585 
 
 
Or drop it into: 45 Splatt Street, Swan Hill 
 
Fax: (03) 5036 2340 
 
Email: council@swanhill.vic.gov.au 

My main interest in the report is as a:  

What did you like most about the report? 
 
 

Was there anything else you would have liked included in the report? 
 

Do you have any other comments or suggested improvements? 
 

□ Customer □ 
Government body 
(Federal) □ Developer 

□ Contractor/supplier □ 
Member of a community 
group □ Business investment 

□ Local business □ 
Member of a sporting 
group □ Local resident 

□ 
Government body 
(local) □ 

Member of an 
environment group □ Student 

□ 
Government body 
(State) □ 

Member of a financial 
group □ Local 
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Operating Result 
 

Council completed the year with extremely financially pleasing results.  On a rates determination basis, the result of 
$111,497 better than budget prior to allowing for timing differences in the receipt of Government grants of $531,315. 
 

On a full accruals basis the deficit for the year was $280,159.  It is important to note that this is an accounting profit after 
recognising non-cash items such as depreciation of $5.8 million and the ‘receipt’ of infrastructure assets created by 
developers (such as roads and drainage on Council’s Tower Hill Estate). 
 

Major revenue and expenditure items included in the operating result can be identified from the following graphs.  
 

For more information on the comprehensive income statement, balance sheet and cash flows for the year, please refer to 
the audited General Purpose Financial Report in the following section of this annual report. 

Total Expenditure (Total $44.8M)

Other Expenses

7.1%

Contract 

Payments, 

Materials & 

Services

49.5%

Depreciation

13.2%

Employee 

Benefits
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Total Revenue ($44.5M)         
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2.3%
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0.7%

Recurrent 

Grants

27.9%
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Revenue 
Council’s total revenue for the 2009-2010 
year was $44.5 million as per the Standard 
Income Statement. 
 
A breakdown of Council’s revenue sources 
highlights that  85.2% of Council’s income 
comes from four income categories. 
 

• Rates and Garbage Charges    42.3% 

• Grants                                       34.4% 

• Other Revenue                            8.2% 

• User Fees                                    6.8% 

Expenditure 
Council’s total expenses for the 2009-2010 
year were $44.8 million as per the 
Standard Income Statement (excluding net 
loss on disposal of assets). 
 
A breakdown of Council’s expenses 
highlights that 95.9% relates to three 
expenditure categories. 
 

• Employee Benefits                       33.2% 

• Contract Payments, Materials and 
Services                                       49.5% 

• Depreciation                                13.2% 

Financials 

Finance Costs 
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Purchase & Creation of Assets
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Capital Expenditure 

During the financial year, Council spent $11.1 million on 
capital works and asset purchases, bringing the five year 
total of expenditure on fixed assets to over $35.1 million.  
The graph shows the level of expenditure spent on new 
and redeveloped assets over the past five years. 

Equity 

The Balance Sheet in the audited General Purpose 
Financial Report shows total community equity of $272.8 
million, represented by Accumulated Surplus and Asset 
Revaluation Reserve.  The growth in equity is due to the 
identification and revaluation of assets.  This graph shows 
the growth in equity over the past five years. 

Borrowings (excluding finance leases) 

Loans are used to fund major capital projects and asset purchases that are unable to be funded from other sources.  
Loan funding allows the community to pay for the asset (such as a leisure centre) over some of the time it is being used.  
At 30 June 2010, Council had a loan liability of $6.6 million.  This is a planned and responsible level of debt, achieved in 
accordance with Council’s borrowing strategy.  Loan repayments are currently $1.1 million per annum, a level at which 
they will remain for the next few years. 

Loan Balance at 30 June each year
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Revenue Ratio
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The Revenue Ratio shows rate revenue as 
a proportion of total revenue, and seeks to 
measure Council’s reliance on property 
rates.  It is influenced by other revenue 
sources such as Government grants, 
contributions, user fees and charges. 

 
 
 
Working Capital Ratio shows that level of 
current assets Council has available to 
meet its current liabilities.  The graph 
shows that the ratio is very healthy and has 
remained stable over the past five years. 

 
 
 
The Debt Exposure Ratio is an indicator of 
Council’s ability to pay its debts.  The ratio 
compares total liability to total realisable 
assets, (all realisable assets not subject to 
any restriction).  The graph shows that the 
amount of realisable assets available to 
meet each $1 of total liability, has remained 
steady and improved over the last five 
years and places Council in a strong 
financial position. 

Financial Indicators 
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The Debt Commitment Ratio identifies the 
percentage of rate revenue required to pay 
interest and principal on Council’s loans.  
Closely tied to the Borrowing Strategy, the 
ratio shows that Council is in a healthy 
position.  The ratio is expected to reduce 
further over the next few years in 
accordance with the Borrowing Strategy. 

 
 
 
The Debt Servicing Ratio shows the 
amount of rates required to pay the interest 
on Council’s loan liability.  This ratio 
documents that loan interest does not 
place a burden on finances.  The ratio 
includes operating leases. 
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Understanding the financial statements 

1. Comprehensive Income Statement 
 

The Comprehensive Income Statement measures Council’s performance 
over the year and shows if a surplus or a deficit has been made in delivering 
services.   
 
The Statement includes all sources of income, less all operating expenses 
incurred in delivering Council services.  This includes depreciation, or the 
writing down, of the value of buildings, roads, footpaths, drains and all other 
infrastructure assets, which are used to deliver Council services.  These 
assets are depreciated over the life of the asset or as they are consumed. 
Capital costs or new assets purchased or created during the year are 
excluded from the Statement but, as indicated above, are depreciated as 
they are used.  
 
The Statement is prepared on an ‘accrual’ basis.  This means that all 
income and costs for the year are recognised even though the income may 
not yet be received (such as interest on bank deposits) or expenses not yet 
paid (invoices not yet received for goods and services already used).   
 
If the Statement is in a deficit (loss) situation, this means that Council is not 
creating sufficient funds to replace infrastructure assets at the time when 
they need to be replaced. Continual deficits may indicate concern about 
Council’s ability to be financially viable in the longer term.  
 
The key figure to look at is the profit/(loss) for the year. A loss means that 
the expenses were greater than revenue. 
 
 
2. Balance Sheet 
 

The Balance Sheet is an important financial statement.  This one page 
summary is a snapshot of the financial situation as at 30 June 2010.  It 
shows what the Council owns as Assets and what it owes as Liabilities.  The 
bottom line of this Statement is Net Assets.  This is the net worth of Council, 
which has been built up over many years.  
 
The assets and liabilities are separated into Current and Non-Current.  
Current means those assets or liabilities, which will fall due or be consumed 
in the next 12 months. The components of the Balance Sheet are described 
here. 
 
 

Introduction 
 

The Financial Report is a key report by 
the Swan Hill Rural City Council.  It 
shows how Council performed 
financially during the 2009-2010 
financial year and the overall position 
at the end of the financial year  
(30 June 2010).  
 
Council presents its financial report in 
accordance with the Australian 
Accounting Standards.  Particular 
terms required by the Standards may 
not be familiar to some readers.  Swan 
Hill Rural City Council is committed to 
accountability and it is in this context 
that the following explanations have 
been developed to assist readers 
understand and analyse the financial 
report. 
 
 
What is contained in the Annual 
Financial Report? 
 

Council’s financial report has two main 
sections, namely the Report and the 
Notes.  There are four Statements and 
42 notes.  These are prepared by 
Council staff, examined by the Council 
Audit Committee and Council, and are 
audited by the Victorian Auditor-
General.  
 
The four Statements included in the 
first few pages of the report are the 
Comprehensive Income Statement, 
Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes 
in Equity and a Cash Flow Statement.  
 
The Notes detail Council’s accounting 
policies and the make-up of values 
contained in the Statements. 
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Current and Non-Current Assets 
 

• Cash includes cash and cash equivalents i.e. cash held in the 
bank, petty cash and term deposits 

• Receivables are monies owed to Council by ratepayers and 
others 

• Other assets include income earnt but not yet received and 
accounts which have been prepaid 

• Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure is the largest 
component of Council’s worth and represents the value of all land, 
buildings, roads, vehicles, equipment, and other items which have 
been invested in by Council over many years 

 
Current and Non-Current Liabilities 
 

• Payables are those to whom Council owes money as at 30 June 
2010 

• Provisions include Employee Benefits which is the accounting 
term for accrued Long Service and Annual Leave provisions. 
Landfill restoration works are also grouped under provisions 

• Interest bearing loans and borrowings, which are repaid over a 
set period of time, Finance Leases that are leases of assets 
where ownership of the asset is transferred to the Council 

 
Net Assets 
 

This term is used to describe the difference between the value of 
Total Assets and the value of Total Liabilities. It represents the net 
worth of Council as at 30 June 2010.  The net value of the Council is 
also synonymous with Total Equity. 
 
Total Equity 
 

• Asset Revaluation Reserve is the difference between the 
previously recorded value of property and infrastructure assets 
and their current valuations 

• Other Reserves are allocations of the Accumulated Surplus to 
specific projects 

• Accumulated Surplus is the value of all net assets accumulated 
over time 

3. Statement of Changes in Equity 
 

During the course of the year, the value of 
Total Ratepayers Equity as set out in the 
Balance Sheet changes.  This Statement 
shows the values of such changes and how 
these changes arose.  
 
The main reason for a change in equity stem 
from: 

• The profit (loss) for the year from 
operations, described in the 
Comprehensive Income Statement as the 
profit/(loss) for the year 

• Revaluation of assets; takes on a regular 
schedule basis on average every three 
years. It also occurs when existing assets 
are taken up in the books for the first time 

 
4. Cash Flow Statement 
 

The Cash Flow Statement summarises 
Council’s cash payments and cash receipts 
for the year.  This Statement is presented 
according to a very specific Accounting 
Standard and needs some care in analysis.  
The values may differ from those shown in 
the Comprehensive Income Statement 
because the Comprehensive Income 
Statement is prepared on an accrual 
accounting basis.   
 
Cash in the Statement refers to bank deposits 
and other forms of highly liquid investments 
that can readily be converted to cash.  
 
Council’s cash arises from, and is used in, 
three main areas: 
 
Cash Flow from Operating Activities 
 

• Receipts – All cash received into Council’s 
bank account from ratepayers and others 
that owed money to Council. Receipts also 
include the interest earnt from Council’s 
cash investments. It does not include the 
costs associated with the sale of assets 

• Payments – All cash paid by Council from 
its bank account to staff, creditors and 
other persons.  It does not include the 
costs associated with the creation of 
assets 

Understanding the financial statements 
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Understanding the financial statements 

Notes to the Accounts 
 

The Notes are a very important and informative section of the report. The 
Australian Accounting Standards are not prescriptive in a lot of issues.  
Therefore, to enable the reader to understand the basis on which the values 
shown in the Statements are established, it is necessary to provide details 
of Council’s accounting policies.  These are described in Note 1.   
 
Apart from the accounting policies, the Notes also give details behind many 
of the summary figures contained in the Statements.  The Note numbers are 
shown beside the relevant items in the Comprehensive Income Statement, 
Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity and the Cash Flow 
Statement.  
 
Where Council wishes to disclose other information, which cannot be 
incorporated into the Statements, then this is shown in the Notes. 
 
Other Notes include: 

• The cost of the various functions of Council 

• The breakdown of expenses, revenues, reserves and other assets 

• Transactions with persons related to Council 

• Comparisons of Budget to Actual results (Standard Statements) 

• Financial performance indicators  
 
The Notes should be read at the same time as, and together with, the other 
parts of the Financial Statements to get a clear picture of the accounts. 
 
Statements by Principal Accounting Officer and Councillors 
 

The Certification of the Principal Accounting Officer is made by the person 
responsible for the financial management of Council that, in his opinion, the 
Financial Statements have met all the statutory and professional reporting 
requirements.   
 
The Certification of Councillors is made by two Councillors on behalf of 
Council that, in their opinion, the Financial Statements are fair and not 
misleading.  The Chief Executive Officer also endorses and signs the 
certification. 
 
Auditor General’s Report 
 

The Independent Audit Report is the external and independent opinion on 
the Financial Statements.  It provides the reader with a totally independent 
opinion on the Financial Statements.  The opinion covers both the Statutory 
and professional requirements and also the fairness aspects of the Financial 
Statements. 

Cash Flow from Investing Activities 
 

The accounting term Investing 
Activities relates to payments for the 
acquisition and creation of assets, such 
as new plant, roads and other long-
term revenue producing assets; and 
the proceeds from the sale of assets 
such as plant, and land. 
 
 
Cash Flow from Financing Activities 
 

This is where the receipt and 
repayment of borrowed funds are 
recorded.   
 
The bottom line of the Cash Flow 
Statement is the Cash at End of 
Financial Year.  This shows the 
capacity of Council to meet its debts 
and other liabilities. 



P 119 SHRCC  
2009/2010 Annual Report 

BUILDING OUR FUTURE TOGETHER 

  

General 
Purpose 
Financial 
Statements 





 

 

General Purpose 
Financial Statements 





 
 
 
 
 

 

 SHRCC  
2009/2010 Annual Report 

BUILDING OUR FUTURE TOGETHER 

121 

General Purpose 
Financial Statements 

INDEX 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STATEMENT .................................................................................................................... 122 
BALANCE SHEET ............................................................................................................................................................ 123 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY ........................................................................................................................ 124 
CASH FLOW STATEMENT.............................................................................................................................................. 125 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL REPORT............................................................................................................................ 126 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................................................... 126 
Note 1 Significant accounting policies............................................................................................................... 126 
Note 2 Rates and charges................................................................................................................................. 134 
Note 3 Statutory fees and fines ......................................................................................................................... 134 
Note 4 User fees ............................................................................................................................................... 134 
Note 5 Grants .................................................................................................................................................... 135 
Note 6 Contributions.......................................................................................................................................... 137 
Note 7 Reimbursements.................................................................................................................................... 137 
Note 8 Other income ......................................................................................................................................... 137 
Note 9 Employee benefits ................................................................................................................................. 137 
Note 10 Materials and services ........................................................................................................................... 138 
Note 11  Bad and doubtful debts.......................................................................................................................... 138 
Note 12 Depreciation and amortisation ............................................................................................................... 138 
Note 13 Finance costs......................................................................................................................................... 139 
Note 14 Other expenses ..................................................................................................................................... 139 
Note 15 Cash and cash equivalents.................................................................................................................... 139 
Note 16 Trade and other receivables .................................................................................................................. 139 
Note 17 Financial assets ..................................................................................................................................... 140 
Note 18 Inventories ............................................................................................................................................. 140 
Note 19 Inventories – Tower Hill Estate .............................................................................................................. 140 
Note 20 Other assets .......................................................................................................................................... 140 
Note 21 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment........................................................................................ 141 
Note 22 Intangible assets.................................................................................................................................... 149 
Note 23 Trade and other payables...................................................................................................................... 149 
Note 24 Trust funds and deposits ....................................................................................................................... 149 
Note 25 Provisions .............................................................................................................................................. 149 
Note 26 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings .................................................................................................. 151 
Note 27 Reserves................................................................................................................................................ 152 
Note 28 Correction of error.................................................................................................................................. 153 
Note 29 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus (deficit) .............................................. 154 
Note 30 Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents ......................................................................................... 154 
Note 31 Financing arrangements ........................................................................................................................ 155 
Note 32 Restricted assets ................................................................................................................................... 155 
Note 33 Superannuation ..................................................................................................................................... 156 
Note 34 Commitments......................................................................................................................................... 157 
Note 35 Operating leases.................................................................................................................................... 158 
Note 36 Contingent liabilities............................................................................................................................... 158 
Note 37 Financial Instruments............................................................................................................................. 159 
Note 38 Auditors’ remuneration........................................................................................................................... 164 
Note 39 Related party transactions ..................................................................................................................... 165 
Note 40 Revenues, expenses and assets by function/activity ............................................................................ 166 
Note 41 Financial ratios....................................................................................................................................... 167 
Note 42 Capital expenditure................................................................................................................................ 168 
Note 43 Events occurring after balance date ...................................................................................................... 168 

CERTIFICATION OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT ............................................................................................................ 169 
NOTES TO THE STANDARD STATEMENTS.................................................................................................................. 171 
STANDARD INCOME STATEMENT ................................................................................................................................ 172 
STANDARD BALANCE SHEET ....................................................................................................................................... 174 
STANDARD CASH FLOW STATEMENT ......................................................................................................................... 176 
STANDARD STATEMENT OF CAPITAL WORKS........................................................................................................... 178 
CERTIFICATION OF STANDARD STATEMENTS .......................................................................................................... 180 
AUDITOR GENERAL’S REPORT – THE FINANCIAL REPORT & STANDARD STATEMENTS .................................... 181 
PERFORMANCE STATEMENT FOR 2009-2010 ............................................................................................................ 184 
CERTIFICATION OF PERFORMANCE STATEMENT..................................................................................................... 188 
AUDITOR GENERAL’S REPORT – PERFORMANCE STATEMENT.............................................................................. 189 
 



 

 

 

 

 

  

SHRCC  
2009/2010 Annual Report 
BUILDING OUR FUTURE TOGETHER 

122 

General Purpose 
Financial Statements 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STATEMENT 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2010 
 
 Note 2010 2009 

  $ $ 
    

Income    

Rates and charges 2 18,847,785 17,574,720 

Statutory fees and fines 3 1,031,220 811,266 

User fees 4 3,036,608 2,789,116 

Grants – recurrent 5 12,403,682 14,728,616 

Grants – non-recurrent 5 2,888,817 2,428,974 

Contributions – cash 6(a) 1,229,667 1,270,653 

Contributions – non-monetary assets 6(b) 825,842 1,242,300 

Reimbursements 7 311,014 - 

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment  300,324 47,445 

Other income 8 3,651,633 3,292,903 

    

Total Income  44,526,592 44,185,993 

 

 

Expenses    

Employee benefits 9 15,611,753 13,942,129 

Materials and services 10 19,809,696 20,788,977 

Bad and doubtful debts 11 89,442 6,141 

Depreciation and amortisation 12 5,805,679 5,628,144 

Finance costs 13 404,095 473,074 

Other expenses 14 3,086,086 1,253,143 

    

Total Expenses  44,806,751 42,091,608 

 

Profit/(loss)  (280,159) 2,094,385 

    

Other comprehensive income    

    

Net asset revaluation increment (decrement) 27 11,964,761 4,115,419 
 

Comprehensive result  11,684,602 6,209,804 

 
The above Comprehensive Income Statement should be read with the accompanying notes. 
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BALANCE SHEET 
As at 30 June 2010 
 
 Note 2010 2009 

  $ $ 
    

Assets    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 15 10,413,042 11,486,289 

Trade and other receivables 16 2,052,589 1,357,161 

Financial assets 17 2,600,000 3,500,000 

Inventories 18 384,440 112,500 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 19 105,380 125,205 

Other assets 20 210,147 595,992 

Total Current Assets  15,765,598 17,177,147 

 

Non-current assets    

Trade and other receivables 16 214,206 76,897 

Financial assets 17 - 600,000 

Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure 21 269,703,046 255,749,406 

Intangible assets 22 863,334 1,135,200 

Total non-current assets  270,780,586 257,561,503 

Total assets  286,546,184 274,738,650 

 

Liabilities    

Current Liabilities    

Trade and other payables 23 2,210,114 2,551,666 

Trust funds and deposits 24 294,766 204,811 

Provisions 25 3,343,623 2,914,407 

Interest – bearing loans and borrowings 26 1,166,017 1,164,534 

Total current liabilities  7,014,520 6,835,418 

 

Non-current liabilities    

Provisions 25 1,234,591 1,374,733 

Interest – bearing loans and borrowings 26 5,487,496 5,403,524 

Total non-current liabilities  6,722,087 6,778,257 

Total Liabilities  13,736,607 13,613,675 

    

Net Assets  272,809,577 261,124,975 

 

Equity    

Accumulated surplus  190,327,829 190,607,988 

Reserves 27 82,481,748 70,516,987 

    

Total Equity  272,809,577 261,124,975 

 
The above balance sheet should be read with the accompanying notes. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2010 
 

 
 

2010 

Note Total 
2010 

 

Accumulated 
Surplus 

2010 
 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve 
2010 

    $    $    $ 

Balance at beginning of the financial year  261,124,975 190,607,988 70,516,987 

Profit (loss) for the year  (280,159) (280,159) - 

Net asset revaluation increment 27 11,964,761 - 11,964,761 

Balance at end of the financial year  272,809,577 190,327,829 82,481,748 
 
 
 

 
 

2009 

 Total 
2009 

 

Accumulated 
Surplus 

2009 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve 
2009 

    $    $ $ 

Balance at beginning of the financial year  254,915,171 184,637,272 70,277,899 

Profit (loss) for the year  2,094,385 2,094,385 - 

Net asset revaluation increment (decrement) 27 4,115,419 - 4,115,419 

Transfers from other reserves 27 - 3,876,331 (3,876,331) 

Balance at end of the financial year  261,124,975 190,607,988 70,516,987 
 
 
The above statement of changes in equity should be read with the accompanying notes. 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2010 
 
 Note 2010 

Inflows/ 
(Outflows) 

2009  
Inflows/ 

(Outflows) 
  $ $ 

    

Cash flows from operating activities    

Rates  18,168,107 17,489,302 

Statutory fees and fines  1,031,220 811,266 

User charges and other fines (inclusive of GST)  3,073,518 3,482,673 

Grants (inclusive of GST)  15,578,518 17,445,475 

Developer contributions (inclusive of GST)  1,352,634 1,397,718 

Reimbursements (inclusive of GST)  342,115 - 

Interest  - 903,465 

Other receipts (inclusive of GST)  3,973,078 2,740,025 

Net GST refund/payment  1,699,680 1,501,571 

Payments to suppliers (inclusive of GST)  (21,716,858) (24,346,520) 

Payments to employees (including redundancies)  (16,232,183) (14,207,971) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 29 7,269,829 7,217,004 

 

Cash flows from investing activities    

Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment  (10,851,372) (5,139,146) 

Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment  1,326,936 543,827 

Payments for other financial assets  1,500,000 (2,000,000) 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (8,024,436) (6,595,319) 

 

Cash flows from financing activities    

Finance costs  (89,477) (93,991) 

Borrowing costs  (404,095) (473,074) 

Proceeds from interest bearing loans and borrowings  1,250,000 1,160,000 

Repayments of interest bearing loans and borrowings  (1,075,068) (1,058,302) 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  (318,640) (465,367) 

 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (1,073,247) 156,318 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  11,486,289 11,329,971 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 30 10,413,042 11,486,289 
 

Financing arrangements 31   

Restrictions on cash assets 32   
 
The above Cash Flow Statement should be read with the accompanying notes. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL REPORT 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2010 
 
Introduction 
 
This financial report of Swan Hill Rural City Council is a general purpose financial report that consists of a 
Comprehensive Income Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement, and notes 
accompanying these financial statements.  This general purpose financial report complies with Australian Accounting 
Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the Local Government Act 
1989, and the Local Government (Finance and Reporting) Regulations 2004. 
 
Note 1 Significant accounting policies 
 

(a)  Basis of accounting 
  
 This financial report has been prepared on the accrual and going concern bases. 

 
This financial report has been prepared under the historical cost convention, except where 
specifically stated in note 1(g), 1(j) and 1(s). 
 
Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the prior year.  
Where appropriate, comparative figures have been amended to accord with current presentation, and 
disclosure has been made of any material changes to comparatives. 
 
Council has elected not to consolidate Special Committees of Management as the assets and 
liabilities involved were deemed to have an immaterial impact on the financial position or 
performance. 
 

 
(b)  Revenue recognition 
  
 Rates, grants and contributions 
 Rates, grants and contributions (including developer contributions) are recognised as revenues when 

the Council obtains control over the assets comprising these receipts. 
 
Control over assets acquired from rates is obtained at the commencement of the rating year as it is 
an enforceable debt linked to the rateable property or, where earlier, upon receipt of the rates. 
 
Control over granted assets is normally obtained upon their receipt (or acquittal) or upon earlier 
notification that a grant has been secured, and are valued at their fair value at the date of transfer. 
 
Income is recognised when the Council obtains control of the contribution or the right to receive the 
contribution, it is probable that the economic benefits comprising the contribution will flow to the 
Council and the amount of the contribution can be measured reliably. 
 
Where grants or contributions recognised as revenues during the financial year were obtained on 
condition that they be expended in a particular manner or used over a particular period and those 
conditions were undischarged at balance date, the unused grants or contributions is disclosed in Note 
5.  The note also discloses the amount of unused grant or contribution from prior years that were 
expended on Council’s operations during the current year. 
 
Grants are considered Recurrent if funding agreements state that the grant will be paid over a period 
exceeding two financial years.  Non-Recurrent grants are those where funding is expected as a once 
off payment, payments to be received within a period less than two years, or grants acquired of a 
capital nature. 
 
A liability is recognised in respect of revenue that is reciprocal in nature to the extent that the requisite 
service has not been provided at balance date. 
 
User fees and fines 
User fees and fines (including parking fees and fines) are recognised as revenue when the service 
has been provided, the payment is received, or when the penalty has been applied, whichever first 
occurs.  A provision for doubtful debts is recognised when collection in full is no longer probable. 
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Note 1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

 Sale of property, plant and equipment, infrastructure 
 The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined when control of the asset has irrevocably passed 

to the buyer. 
  
 Interest and rents 
 Interest and rents are recognised as revenue on a proportional basis when the payment is due, the 

value of the payment is notified, or the payment is received, whichever first occurs. 
 

(c)  Inventories 
  
 Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost adjusted when applicable for any loss of service 

potential.  Other inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
 

(d)  Depreciation of non-current assets 
  
 Buildings, land improvements, plant and equipment, infrastructure, cultural and heritage assets, and 

other assets having limited useful lives are systematically depreciated over their useful lives to the 
Council in a manner which reflects consumption of the service potential embodied in those assets.  
Estimates of remaining useful lives and residual values are made on a regular basis with major asset 
classes reassessed annually.  Depreciation rates and methods are reviewed annually. 
 
Where infrastructure assets have separate identifiable components that are subject to regular 
replacement, these components are assigned distinct useful lives and/or residual values and a 
separate depreciation rate is determined for each component. 
 
Water rights are not depreciated. 
 
Straight line depreciation is charged based on the residual useful life as determined each year. 
 
Major depreciation periods used are listed below and are consistent with the prior year unless 
otherwise stated: 

 
 Period 
Land and buildings  

Land improvements 
Buildings 

10 to 100 years 
10 to 100 years 

  
Cultural and heritage assets  

Heritage assets 100 years 
Artworks 100 years 
Library books 5 to 100 years 

  
Plant and equipment  

Plant, machinery and equipment – large 5 to 10 years 
Plant, machinery and equipment – small 2 to 4 years 
Fixtures, fittings and furniture 3 to 10 years 
Computers and telecommunications 3 to 5 years 
Leased plant and equipment 5 to 6 years 

 
Infrastructure 

 

Roads  
� road pavements  25 to 30 years 
� road ancillary assets 20 to 25 years 
� unsealed roads 100 years 

Footpaths 20 to 50 years 
Kerb and channel 25 to 50 years 
Drainage 20 to 80 years 
Waste management 85 years 

  
Other infrastructure  

Irrigation & sprinkler systems 10 years 
Parks and gardens furniture & equipment 10 years 
Playground equipment 10 years 
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Note 1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(e)  Repairs and maintenance 
  
 Routine maintenance, repair costs, and minor renewal costs are expensed as incurred.  Where the 

repair relates to the replacement of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation 
threshold the cost is capitalised and depreciated.  The carrying value of the replaced asset is 
expensed. 

 
(f)  Borrowing costs 
  
 Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.  Borrowing 

costs include interest on bank overdrafts and interest on borrowings, and finance lease charges. 
 

(g)  Recognition and measurement of assets 
  
 Acquisition 
 The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets, being the fair value of 

assets provided as consideration at the date of acquisition plus any incidental costs attributable to the 
acquisition.  Fair value is the amount for which the asset could be exchanged between 
knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length transaction.   

 

Where assets are constructed by Council, cost includes all materials used in construction, direct 
labour, and an appropriate share of directly attributable variable and fixed overheads. 

 
The following classes of assets have been recognised in note 21  In accordance with Council's policy, 
the threshold limits detailed below have applied when recognising assets within an applicable asset 
class and unless otherwise stated are consistent with the prior year: 

 

 

Threshold 
Limit 

$ 
Property  

Land 1 
Land improvements 1,000 
Land under roads 1 
Buildings 5,000 

Cultural and heritage assets  
Heritage assets 1,000 

 Artworks 1 
 Library books 1 

Plant and equipment  
Plant and machinery 1,500 
Furniture, fittings and office equipment 1,500 
Computers and telecommunications 1,000 

Infrastructure  
Roads  
� Construction  5,000 
� Major patches 10,000 
� Seal 5,000 

Footpaths 5,000 
Kerb and channel 5,000 
Drainage 5,000 
Waste Management 1 

Other infrastructure  
Irrigation & sprinkler systems 5,000 
Parks & gardens furniture & equipment 5,000 
Playground equipment 5,000 
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Note 1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(h) Recognition and measurement of assets (continued) 
  
 Revaluation 
 Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, non-current physical assets, other than plant and 

equipment, furniture and fittings, computers and communication equipment, land under roads and 
library books are measured at their fair value, being the amount for which the assets could be 
exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an arms length transaction.  At balance date, the 
Council reviewed the carrying value of the individual classes of assets measured at fair value to ensure 
that each asset materially approximated its fair value.  Where the carrying value materially differed from 
the fair value at balance date the class of asset was revalued. 
 
In addition, Council undertakes a formal revaluation of land, buildings, and infrastructure assets on a 
regular basis ranging from 2 to 5 years.  The valuation is performed either by experienced council 
officers or independent experts. 
 
Where the assets are revalued, the revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation 
reserve except to the extent that an increment reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset 
that had been recognised as an expense in which case the increment is recognised as revenue up to 
the amount of the expense.  Revaluation decrements are recognised as an expense except where prior 
increments are included in the asset revaluation reserve for that class of asset in which case the 
decrement is taken to the reserve to the extent of the remaining increments.  Within the same class of 
assets, revaluation increments and decrements within the year are offset. 
 

 
 Land under roads 
 Land under roads acquired after 30 June 2008 is brought to account using the deemed cost basis.  

Council does not recognise land under roads that it controlled prior to that period in its financial 
report. 

 
(i) Cash and cash equivalents 
  
 For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, 

deposits at call, and other highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, 
net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 
 

 
(j) Financial assets 
  
 Financial assets are valued at fair value, being market value, at balance date.  Any unrealised gains 

and losses on holdings at balance date are recognised as either a revenue or expense. 
 

 
(k) Investments 
  
 Investments, other than investments in associates, are measured at cost and interest revenues are 

recognised as they accrue. 
 

 
(l) Tender deposits 
  
 Amounts received as tender deposits and retention amounts controlled by Council are recognised as 

Trust funds until they are returned or forfeited (refer to note 24). 
 

 
(m) Employee benefits 
  
 Wages and Salaries 
 Liabilities for wages and salaries and rostered days off are recognised and are measured as the 

amount unpaid at balance date and include appropriate oncosts such as workers compensation and 
payroll costs. 
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 Annual leave 
 Annual leave entitlements are accrued on a pro rata basis in respect of services provided by 

employees up to balance date. 
 
Annual leave expected to be paid within 12 months is measured at nominal value based on the 
amount, including appropriate oncosts, expected to be paid when settled. 
 
Annual leave expected to be paid later than one year has been measured at the present value of the 
estimated future cash outflows to be made for these accrued entitlements.  Commonwealth bond 
rates are used for discounting future cash flows. 

 
 Long Service Leave 
 Long service leave entitlements payable are assessed at balance date having regard to expected 

employee remuneration rates on settlement, employment related oncosts and other factors including 
accumulated years of employment, on settlement, and experience of employee departure per year of 
service. 
 
Long service leave expected to be paid within 12 months is measured at nominal value based on the 
amount expected to be paid when settled. 
 
Long service leave expected to be paid later than one year has been measured at the present value 
of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for these accrued entitlements.  Commonwealth 
bond rates are used for discounting future cash flows. 

 
 Classification of employee benefits 
 An employee benefit liability is classified as a current liability if the Council does not have an 

unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the period.  
This would include all annual leave and unconditional long service leave entitlements. 

 
 Superannuation 
 A liability is recognised in respect of Council's present obligation to meet the unfunded obligations of 

defined benefit superannuation schemes to which its employees are members.  The liability is defined 
as the Council's share of the scheme's unfunded position, being the difference between the present 
value of employees’ accrued benefits and the net market value of the scheme’s assets at balance 
date. 
 
The superannuation expense for the reporting year is the amount of the statutory contribution the 
Council makes to the superannuation plan which provides benefits to its employees together with any 
movements (favourable/unfavourable) in the position of any defined benefits schemes. Details of 
these arrangements are detailed in note 33. 

 
(n) Leases 
  
 Finance Leases 
 Leases of assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the asset, 

but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the Council are classified as finance leases.  Finance 
leases are capitalised, recording an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the minimum 
lease payments, including any guaranteed residual value.  Lease payments are allocated between 
the reduction of the lease liability and the interest expense.  Leased assets are amortised on a 
straight line basis over their estimated useful lives to the Council where it is likely that the Council will 
obtain ownership of the asset or over the term of the lease, whichever is the shorter.  Leased assets 
are currently being amortised over a 5 to 6 year period. 
 

 Operating leases 
 Lease payments for operating leases are recognised as an expense in the years in which they are 

incurred as this reflects the pattern of benefits derived by the Council. 
 

(o) Allocation between current and non-current 
  
 In the determination of whether an asset or liability is current or non-current, consideration is given to 

the time when each asset or liability is expected to be settled.  The asset or liability is classified as 
current if it is expected to be settled within the next twelve months, being the Council’s operational 
cycle, or if the Council does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of a liability for at least 
12 months after the reporting date. 
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Note 1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(p) Agreements equally proportionately unperformed 
  
 The Council does not recognise assets and liabilities arising from agreements that are equally 

proportionately unperformed in the Balance Sheet.  Such agreements are recognised on an ‘as 
incurred’ basis. 

 
(q) Web site costs 
  
 Costs in relation to websites are charged as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

 
(r) Goods and services tax (GST) 
  
 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount 

of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office.  In these circumstances the GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  
Receivables and payables in the Balance Sheet are shown inclusive of GST. 
 
Cash flows are presented in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis, except for the GST 
component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 

 
(s) Impairment of assets 
  
 At each reporting date, the Council reviews the carrying value of its assets to determine whether 

there is any indication that these assets have been impaired.  If such an indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use, is compared to the assets carrying value.  Any excess of the assets carrying value over its 
recoverable amount is expensed to the Comprehensive Income Statement. 

 
(t) Intangible assets 
  
 An intangible asset is measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value.  Intangible assets 

are not amortised as they are revalued annually. 
 

(u) Rounding 
  
 Unless otherwise stated, amounts in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest dollar. 
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Note 1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(v) Pending accounting standards 
 

The following Australian Accounting Standards have been issued or amended and are applicable to the Council but are 
not yet effective. 

 
They have not been adopted in preparation of the financial statements at reporting date. 

 
 
Standard/Interpretation Summary Applicable for annual reporting 

periods beginning or ending on 
Impact on Local 
Government financial 
statements 

AASB 2009-5 Further 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from 
the Annual Improvements 
Project.  [AASB 5, 8, 101, 
107, 117, 118, 136 & 
139] 
 

Some amendments will result 
in accounting changes for 
presentation, recognition or 
measurement purposes, while 
other amendments will relate 
to terminology and editorial 
changes. 

Beginning 1 Jan 2010 Terminology and editorial 
changes. 
Impact minor. 

AASB 2009-8 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Group Cash-
settled Share based 
Payment Transactions. 
[AASB 2] 
 

The amendments clarify the 
scope of AASB 2. 

Beginning 1 Jan 2010 No impact.  AASB 2 does 
not apply to Local 
Government; consequently 
this Standard does not 
apply. 

AASB 2009-9 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Additional 
Exemptions for First-time 
Adopters [AASB 1] 

Applies to entities adopting 
Australian Accounting 
Standards for the first time, to 
ensure entities will not face 
undue cost or effort in the 
transition process in particular 
situations. 
 

Beginning 1 Jan 2010 No impact.  Relates only to 
first time adopters of 
Australian Accounting 
Standards. 

AASB 2009-10 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – 
Classification of Rights 
Issues [AASB 132] 
 

The Standard makes 
amendments to AASB 132, 
stating that rights issues must 
now be classified as equity 
rather than derivative liabilities. 

Beginning 1 Feb 2010 No impact.  Local 
Government do not issue 
rights, warrants and 
options, consequently the 
amendment does not 
impact on the statements. 

AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments 

The standard simplifies 
requirements for the 
classification and 
measurement of financial 
assets resulting from Phase 1 
of the IASB’s project to replace 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement 
(AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. 
 

Beginning 1 Jan 2013 Detail of impact is still 
being assessed. 
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AASB 2009-11 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from 
AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 
7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 
118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 
132, 136, 139, 1023 & 
1038 and Interpretations 
10 & 12] 
 

This gives effect to 
consequential changes arising 
from the issuance of AASB 9. 

Beginning 1 Jan 2013 Detail of impact is still 
being assessed. 

AASB 2009-12 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards [AASBs 5, 8, 
108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 
137, 139, 1023 & 1031 
and Interpretations 2, 4, 
16, 1039 & 1052] 

This Standard amends AASB 
8 to require an entity to 
exercise judgement in 
assessing whether a 
government and entities know 
to be under the control of that 
government and considered a 
single customer for purposes 
of certain operating segment 
disclosures.  This Standard 
also makes numerous editorial 
amendments to other AASs. 
 

Beginning 1 Jan 2011 AASB 8 does not apply to 
Local Government 
therefore no impact 
expected.  Otherwise, only 
editorial changes arising 
from amendments to other 
standards, no major 
impact.  Impacts of editorial 
amendments are not 
expected to be significant. 

AASB 2009-13 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from 
Interpretation 19. [AASB 
1] 

Consequential amendment to 
AASB 1 arising from 
publication of Interpretation 19 

Beginning 1 Jul 10 Local Governments do not 
extinguish financial 
liabilities with equity 
instruments therefore 
requirements of 
Interpretation 17 and 
related amendments have 
no impact. 

AASB 2009-14 
Amendments to 
Australian Interpretation 
– Prepayments of a 
Minimum Funding 
Requirement [AASB 
Interpretation 14] 
 

Amendment to Interpretation 
14 arising from the issuance of 
Prepayments of Minimum 
Funding Requirement. 

Beginning 1 Jan 2011 Expected to have no 
significant impact. 

 
 
(w) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities and commitments 
 

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet, but are disclosed by way 
of a note and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value.  Contingent assets and liabilities are presented 
inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively. 

 
Commitments are not recognised in the Balance Sheet.  Commitments are disclosed at their nominal value and 
inclusive of GST payable. 
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$ 
2009 

$ 
 
Note 2 Rates and charges 
 

Council uses Capital Improved Value as the basis of valuation of all properties within the 
municipal district.  The Capital Improved Value of a property is the value of its Land, 
Buildings and Improvements. 
 
The valuation base used to calculate general rates for 2009/2010 was $2,798 million 
(2008/2009 $2,675 million).  The 2009/2010 rate in the Capital Improved Value dollar was 
0.00564184 (2008/2009, 0.0053783).  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Residential 7,668,579 6,770,492 

Commercial 1,444,553 1,509,983 

Industrial 469,120 490,502 

Farm/Rural 7,044,476 6,720,219 

Garbage charge 2,028,536 1,926,940 

Special marketing rates 281,302 258,473 

Other 18,456 59,649 

Abandonment’s (107,237) (161,538) 

Total rates and charges 18,847,785 17,574,720 

   

Rate (Cents in the $ CIV)   

General Rate in the Capital Improved Value 0.00564184 0.0053783 

25% Premium Differential Rate in the Capital Improved Value Dollar 0.00705230 0.0067229 

50% Reduced Differential Rate in the Capital Improved Value Dollar 0.00282097 0.0026892 

General rate and Drainage – Swan Hill Differential Rate in the Capital Improved Value 0.00585174 0.0055784 

25% Premium and Drainage – Swan Hill Differential Rate in the Capital Improved Value 0.00726212 0.0069229 

General rate and Drainage – Robinvale Differential Rate in the Capital Improved Value 0.00605315 0.0057704 

25% Premium and Drainage – Robinvale Differential Rate in the Capital Improved Value 0.00746365 0.0071150 

 

The date of the latest general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the municipal 
district was 1 January 2010, and the valuation was first applied in the rating year 
commencing 1 July 2010. 

 

The date of the previous general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the 
municipal district was 1 January 2008, and the valuation first applied to the rating period 
commencing 1 July 2008. 

  

 
Note 3 Statutory fees and fines 
 

Building and planning fees 438,923 250,591 

Valuation data fees 18,783 19,435 

Animal registration/release fees 144,757 109,862 

Health registration fees 117,198 99,713 

Parking control fees and fines 270,046 279,455 

Other fees and fines 41,513 52,210 

Total statutory fees and fines 1,031,220 811,266 

 
Note 4 User fees 
 

Sales – admissions 628,607 519,306 

Sales – merchandise, catering, other sales 409,752 521,188 

Hire & leasing fees 471,407 543,599 

Saleyards 294,187 214,573 

Aged services 607,925 359,444 

Other 624,730 631,006 

Total user fees 3,036,608 2,789,116 
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Note 5 Grants 
 

Grants were received in respect of the following: 
 

  

Recurrent   

Commonwealth Government – roads to recovery 964,330 758,413 

Commonwealth Government – health and aged care 3,119,597 2,920,786 

Victorian Grants Commission – general purpose 3,880,923 4,412,717 

Victorian Grants Commission – local roads 1,579,220 2,037,440 

Victorian Government – unbundling of water adjustment package - 1,230,000 

Employment subsidies 16,800 128,860 

Public health 38,220 58,690 

Home and community care 1,214,243 1,166,539 

Maternal and child health 270,598 284,536 

Family and children 558,693 887,952 

Economic Development 95,000 - 

Community projects 136,000 382,000 

School crossing 9,118 18,235 

Art gallery and performing arts 150,300 143,000 

Natural resource management - 23,000 

Libraries 171,978 258,168 

Other 198,662 18,280 

Total recurrent 12,403,682 14,728,616 

 

Non-recurrent – Operating   

Community projects 140,394 277,207 

Environmental protection 114,390 20,382 

Art gallery and performing arts - 1,991 

Family and children 194,706 83,710 

Library services 45,910 - 

Indigenous affairs 160,909 143,545 

Drought support initiatives 2,000 75,000 

Economic Development 150,000 - 

Home and community care 118,073 15,300 

Economic development 106,923 - 

Recreation 77,729 - 

Victorian Government – unbundling of water adjustment package 920,000 - 

Other 12,200 50,650 

 2,043,234 667,785 
- 

Non-recurrent – Capital   

Buildings 130,000 263,800 

Roads 184,670 12,000 

Drainage - 106,577 

Footpaths 17,500 285,203 

Art & heritage 20,636 150,164 

Parks, playgrounds and street beautification 427,980 680,323 

Other 64,797 263,122 

 845,583 1,761,189 

Total non-recurrent 2,888,817 2,428,974 
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Condition on Grants 
 

2010 

$ 

2009 

$ 

Grants recognised as revenue during the year that were obtained on condition that they be 
expended in a specified manner that had not occurred at balance date were: 

  

   

Operating grants 2,359,940 2,862,480 

Capital grants 796,300 2,794,291 

 3,156,240 5,656,771 

   

Grants which were recognised as revenue in prior years and were expended during the 
current year in the manner specified by the grantor were: 

  

   

Operating grants 2,616,900 662,030 

Capital grants 2,382,141 2,111,960 

 4,999,041 2,773,990 

   

Net increase (decrease) in restricted assets resulting from grant revenues for the year: (1,842,801) 2,882,781 
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Note 6 Contributions 

 

 

(a)  Cash 
 

Parks & gardens 181,166 51,143 

Cultural & heritage 296,659 192,423 

Economic development 33,400 79,730 

Sealed roads 172,608 - 

Waste management 300 52,170 

Recreational, leisure and community facilities 75,825 95,527 

Environmental protection 5,980 - 

Health services - 112,669 

Child care/children’s programs 306,412 401,186 

Aged care 124,377 211,590 

Other 32,940 74,215 

Total contributions - cash 1,229,667 1,270,653 

 
(b)  Non-monetary assets 

 

Roads 428,165 749,023 

Drainage 202,319 285,985 

Footpaths 94,380 197,683 

Artworks 56,510 - 

Library books 7,340 9,609 

Other 37,128 - 

Total contributions – non-monetary assets 825,842 1,242,300 

 
Total contributions 2,055,509 2,512,953 

 
Note 7 Reimbursements 
 

Road maintenance/works 88,150 - 

Other 222,864 - 

Total reimbursements 311,014 - 

 
Note 8 Other income 
 

Interest 605,111 735,085 

Interest on rates 181,516 168,380 

Other 122,838 143,018 

Tower Hill land sales 2,798,157 2,323,723 

Less - Tower Hill cost of goods sold (55,989) (77,303) 

Total other income 3,651,633 3,292,903 

 
Note 9 Employee benefits 
 

Wages and salaries 12,715,755 10,891,034 

Agency staff 603,063 607,704 

WorkCover  274,534 462,533 

Long service leave 274,436 327,138 

Staff training 311,719 258,087 

Superannuation 1,219,505 1,129,033 

Fringe benefits tax 99,088 151,611 

Other oncosts 113,653 114,989 

Total employee benefits 15,611,753 13,942,129 
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$ 

2009 

$ 
 
Note 10 Materials and services 
 

Business enterprises  232,085 315,285 

Economic development 3,912,917 3,354,924 

Amenity 2,264,301 1,705,765 

Waste management 2,115,963 1,649,356 

Recreation 768,042 555,660 

Aquatic facilities 962,277 904,872 

Heritage and culture 809,304 719,616 

Transport 1,445,705 2,561,405 

Governance & organisational support 1,624,370 3,453,212 

Social infrastructure 294,711 296,052 

Protecting community well-being 374,707 337,292 

Aged and disability services 3,353,052 3,022,302 

Families and children support 899,471 1,204,691 

Pioneer settlement 752,791 708,545 

Total materials and services 19,809,696 20,788,977 

 
Note 11  Bad and doubtful debts 
 

Parking and by-law debtors 10,423 11,222 

Rates debtors - (463) 

Private schemes 16,184 7,283 

Other debtors 62,835 (11,901) 

Total bad and doubtful debts 89,442 6,141 

 
Note 12 Depreciation and amortisation 
 

Buildings   

Buildings – freehold 467,957 636,235 

Buildings – other controlled 233,734 154,223 

Plant and equipment   

Plant, machinery and equipment 846,422 778,463 

Furniture, fittings and office equipment 41,075 40,133 

Computers and telecommunications 157,839 145,399 

Leased plant, machinery and equipment 49,442 49,442 

Leased furniture, fittings & office equipment 58,521 64,539 
Cultural and heritage assets   

Artworks 12,909 13,753 

Pioneer Settlement plant & office equipment 3,140 4,453 

Library collection 192,419 168,289 

Pioneer Settlement vehicles and vessels 40,391 40,391 

Pioneer Settlement site exhibits 14,287 14,285 

Pioneer Settlement other infrastructure 10,701 10,702 

Pioneer Settlement buildings 100,655 104,903 

Infrastructure   

Sealed roads 1,490,686 1,494,067 

Kerb and channel 286,280 232,781 

Unsealed roads 563,851 580,871 

Drainage 457,187 436,744 

Footpaths 260,824 201,108 

Waste management 61,141 58,824 

Other infrastructure 456,218 398,539 

Total depreciation and amortisation 5,805,679 5,628,144 
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Note 13 Finance costs 
 

Bank overdraft charges   

Interest – borrowings 373,937 379,083 

Interest – finance leases 30,158 93,991 

Total finance costs 404,095 473,074 

 
 
Note 14 Other expenses 
 

Auditors’ remuneration 40,197 65,766 

Councillor emoluments 204,114 158,104 

Vehicle registrations 86,954 80,942 

Bank charges 51,694 43,025 

Asset write offs/adjustments 2,561,346 735,150 

Other 75,918 101,953 

Legal costs 65,863 68,203 

Total other expenses 3,086,086 1,253,143 

 
 
Note 15 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash on hand 6,440 - 

Cash at bank 242,114 5,627 

Money market call account 2,430,000 2,410,000 

Bank bills 7,734,488 9,070,662 

Total cash and cash equivalents 10,413,042 11,486,289 

Users of the financial report should refer to Note 32 for details of restrictions on cash 
assets and note 34 for details of existing Council commitments. 

  

 
 
Note 16 Trade and other receivables 
 

Current   

Rates debtors 1,282,474 602,796 

Provision for doubtful debts – rates debtors (28,560) (21,702) 

Parking infringement and by-laws debtors 43,740 22,155 

Provision for doubtful debts – parking and by-law debtors (29,346) (11,222) 

Private scheme debtors 57,520 64,939 

Provision for doubtful debts – private scheme debtors (21,761) - 

Other debtors 558,176 506,978 

Provision for doubtful debts – other debtors (79,227) (45,478) 

Net GST receivable 269,573 238,695 

Total 2,052,589 1,357,161 

 
Non-current   

Private scheme debtors 214,206 77,058 

Provision for doubtful debts - (161) 

Total 214,206 76,897 

 
Total trade and other receivables 2,266,795 1,434,058 
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$ 

2009 
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Note 17 Financial assets 
 

Current   

Bank bills (note 1(j)) 2,600,000 3,500,000 

 
Non-current   

Bank bills (note 1(j)) - 600,000 
 

Total financial assets 2,600,000 4,100,000 
 
 
Note 18 Inventories 
 

Inventories held for distribution 360,310 58,960 

Inventories held for resale 24,130 53,540 

Total inventories 384,440 112,500 
 
 
Note 19 Non-current assets classified as held for sale 
 

Tower Hill Estate   

Opening balance 125,205 175,443 

Cost of acquisitions 36,164 27,065 

Cost of goods sold (55,989) (77,303) 

Closing balance – non current assets classified as held for sale 105,380 125,205 

 
 
Note 20 Other assets 
 

Current   

Prepayments 63,198 450,189 

Accrued income 132,770 145,803 

Other 14,179 - 

Total other assets 210,147 595,992 
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Note 21 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 
 

Summary   

At cost 23,192,002 25,041,091 

Less accumulated depreciation (9,487,695) (9,859,306) 

 13,704,307 15,181,785 

   

At fair value as at 30 June 2005 1,080,000 6,834,925 

Less accumulated depreciation (53,999) (4,407,915) 

At Council valuation as at 30 June 2006 24,427,181 24,427,183 

Less accumulated depreciation (11,397,409) (10,961,602) 

At fair value as at 30 June 2007 144,285,936 144,285,935 

Less accumulated depreciation (44,752,409) (43,767,739) 

At Council valuation as at 30 June 2007 - 104,886,063 

Less accumulated depreciation - (41,364,643) 

At Council valuation as at 31 December 2007 - 87,913,802 

Less accumulated depreciation - (41,289,063) 

At Council valuation as at 31 December 2008 15,984,747 16,068,162 

Less accumulated depreciation (8,420,461) (8,174,414) 

At Council valuation as at 31 December 2008 13,558,097 13,660,077 

Less accumulated depreciation (7,698,426) (7,543,150) 

At Council valuation as at 30 June 2010 137,066,207 - 

less accumulated depreciation (59,350,263) - 

At fair value as at 30 June 2010 109,393,103 - 

Less accumulated depreciation (58,123,565) - 

 255,998,739 240,567,621 

Total 269,703,046 255,749,406 
 
 
 

  

Property 
 

  

Land - freehold   

At fair value as at 31 December 2007 - 13,110,209 

At fair value as at 30 June 2010 15,219,718 - 

 15,219,718 13,110,209 

Land – other controlled   

At fair value as at 31 December 2007 - 3,677,572 

At fair value as at 30 June 2010 5,795,800 - 

 5,795,800 3,677,572 

Land – under roads   

At fair value as at 31 December 2007 5,210 1,542 

   
Total Land 21,020,728 16,789,323 
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Note 21 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment(cont) 
 

2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

 
Buildings on freehold land 

  

At cost - 725,933 

Less accumulated depreciation - (13,584) 

 - 712,349 

   

At Council valuation as at 31 December 2007 - 35,822,694 

Less accumulated depreciation - (19,197,262) 

 - 16,625,432 
   

At Council valuation as at 30 June 2010 44,712,495 - 

Less accumulated depreciation (27,898,100) - 

 16,814,395 - 
   
Buildings on other controlled land   

At cost - 106,241 

Less accumulated depreciation - (5,312) 

 - 100,929 

   

At Council valuation as at 31 December 2007 - 35,303,327 

Less accumulated depreciation - (22,091,801) 

  13,211,526 
   

At fair value as at 30 June 2010 37,041,493 - 

Less accumulated depreciation (25,092,603) - 

 11,948,890 - 

 
   

Total Buildings 28,763,285 30,650,236 

   

Total Property 49,784,013 47,439,559 

   

Fair value of land was determined at 30 June 2010 by qualified independent valuer Mr Franz J Turzi, Dip.Agr.Sc. 
AAPI (VAL) Certified Practicing Valuer - State of Victoria of Franz J Turzi and Associates Pty Ltd.  The valuation of 
land is at fair value, being market value based on highest and best use permitted by relevant land planning provisions. 
 

Land under roads is valued at deemed cost.  Deemed cost is based on Council valuations at 30 June 2008 for land 
under roads in existence at that date and at the date acquired for subsequent acquisitions using site values adjusted 
for englobo characteristics, access rights and private interests of other parties and entitlements of infrastructure 
assets and services. 
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Note 21 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment(cont) 

 

 

2010 

$ 

 

2009 

$ 

Plant and Equipment    

Plant and equipment   

At cost 9,982,427 10,616,275 

Less accumulated depreciation (5,925,707) (6,516,027) 

 4,056,720 4,100,248 
Fixtures, fittings and furniture   

At cost 829,119 836,035 

Less accumulated depreciation (590,446) (556,287) 

 238,673 279,748 
Computers and telecommunications   

At cost 1,015,421 1,284,411 

Less accumulated depreciation (649,393) (886,012) 

 366,028 398,399 

   
Leased plant and equipment   

At cost 247,211 247,211 

Less accumulated depreciation (224,724) (175,282) 

 22,487 71,929 

   
Leased furniture, fittings and office equipment   

At cost 372,831 372,831 

Less accumulated depreciation (292,469) (233,948) 

 80,362 138,883 

   

Total plant and equipment 4,764,270 4,989,207 

   
Cultural and heritage assets   

   
Artworks   

At cost 141,347 84,838 

Less accumulated depreciation (11,309) (9,200) 

 130,038 75,638 
   

At fair value as at 30 June 2005 1,080,000 1,080,000 

Less accumulated depreciation (53,999) (43,200) 

 1,026,001 1,036,800 

   
Library collection   

At cost 1,634,593 1,574,384 

Less accumulated depreciation (1,423,026) (1,289,288) 

 211,567 285,096 

   
Pioneer Settlement plant and office equipment   

At cost 30,396 30,396 

Less accumulated depreciation (19,277) (16,137) 

 11,119 14,259 
 

Pioneer Settlement vehicles and vessels   

At cost 527,284 399,813 

Less accumulated depreciation (11,994) (7,996) 

 515,290 391,817 
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Note 21 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment(cont) 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 

Pioneer Settlement vehicles and vessels (cont)   

At fair value 30 June 2006 3,639,300 3,639,300 

Less accumulated depreciation (145,572) (109,179) 

 3,493,728 3,530,121 
   
Pioneer Settlement site exhibits   

At fair value as at 30 June 2006 1,428,509 1,428,510 

Less accumulated depreciation (57,141) (42,855) 

 1,371,368 1,385,655 
   
Pioneer Settlement other infrastructure   

At Council valuation as at 30 June 2006 696,898 696,898 

Less accumulated depreciation (115,552) (104,851) 

 581,346 592,047 
   
Pioneer Settlement buildings   

     At cost - 129,860 

     Less accumulated depreciation - - 

 - 129,860 
   

At fair value as at 30 June 2005 - 5,754,925 

Less accumulated depreciation - (4,364,715) 

 - 1,390,210 

   

At fair value as at 30 June 2010 6,623,597 - 

Less accumulated depreciation (5,132,862) - 

 1,490,735 - 

   

Total cultural and heritage assets 8,831,192 8,831,503 

 
 
 
Fair value of Council's permanent artwork collection was prepared in 2005 on the basis of Estimated Replacement Cost 
on the Australian Market by Mr Warren Joel, Managing Director of Leonard Joel Australia, South Yarra, Victoria. 

 
Valuation of Pioneer Settlement vehicles and vessels and site exhibit assets was conducted by qualified independent 
valuer Mr David Freeman, member of Auctioneers and Valuers Association of Australia, and Chief Executive Officer of 
Amanda Adams Auctions, Bulleen, Victoria.  The valuation is based on average market realisation prices that should be 
obtained if the items were sold via private treaty or auction sales. 
 
Pioneer Settlement other infrastructure assets were brought to account at Officer’s Valuation at 30 June 2006.  The 
valuation took into account movements in condition and costs of construction at that date and was undertaken by 
Council Officer Roger Lambert, BE(Civil), based upon current replacement costs and physical inspection of the assets.  
Asset values represent the written down replacement costs of the assets allowing for remaining useful lives. 
 
Fair value of Pioneer Settlement buildings was determined at 30 June 2010 by qualified independent valuer Mr Franz J 
Turzi, Dip.Agr.Sc. AAPI (VAL) Certified Practicing Valuer - State of Victoria of Franz J Turzi and Associates Pty Ltd.  The 
valuation of buildings is determined from market-based evidence if the building is considered to be of resaleable value.  
If there is no market-based evidence of fair value because of the specialised nature of the building a depreciated 
replacement cost approach is used to determine market value. 
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 2010 

$ 

2009 

$ 
 
Note 21 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment(cont) 
 

Infrastructure   

   
Sealed roads   

At cost - 3,103,010 

Less accumulated depreciation - (36,241) 

 - 3,066,769 

   

At Council valuation as at 30 June 2007 - 104,886,063 

Less accumulated depreciation - (41,364,643) 

 - 63,521,420 

   

At fair value as at 30 June 2010 137,066,207 - 

Less accumulated depreciation (59,350,263) - 

 77,715,944 - 

   

Unsealed roads   

At cost  775,077 - 

Less accumulated depreciation - - 

 775,077 - 

   

At fair value as at 30 June 2007 109,382,940 109,382,939 

Less accumulated depreciation (32,722,992) (32,159,141) 

 76,659,948 77,223,798 

Kerb and channel   

At cost 224,508 - 

Less accumulated depreciation - - 

 224,508 - 

   

At Council valuation as at 31 December 2008 15,984,747 16,068,162 

Less accumulated depreciation (8,420,461) (8,174,414) 

 7,564,286 7,893,748 

   
Footpaths and cycleways   
At cost 1,015,545 - 
Less accumulated depreciation (46,058) - 

 969,487 - 

   

At Council valuation as at 30 June 2009 13,558,097 13,660,077 

Less accumulated depreciation (7,698,426) (7,543,150) 

 5,859,671 6,116,927 

   
Drainage   

At cost 2,908,035 2,629,383 

Less accumulated depreciation (50,865) (14,497) 

 2,857,170 2,614,886 

   

At fair value as at 30 June 2007 34,902,996 34,902,996 

Less accumulated depreciation (12,029,417) (11,608,598) 

 22,873,579 23,294,398 
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2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

Note 21 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment(cont)   
   
Waste management assets   

At cost 46,342 46,342 

Less accumulated depreciation (2,317) - 

 44,025 46,342 

   

At Council valuation as at 30 June 2006 5,470,000 5,470,000 

Less accumulated depreciation (2,971,799) (2,912,975) 

 2,498,201 2,557,025 
 

Other infrastructure   

At cost 2,561,514 1,797,727 

Less accumulated depreciation (240,110) (99,495) 

 2,321,404 1,698,232 

   

At fair value as at 30 June 2006 13,192,474 13,192,475 

Less accumulated depreciation (8,107,345) (7,791,742) 

 5,085,129 5,400,733 

Total infrastructure 205,448,429 193,434,278 

 
Sealed roads, including sealed road ancillary assets, were brought to account at Council Officer's valuation at 30 
June 2010 by Roger Lambert, BE(Civil). The valuation is based upon condition ratings collected during 2009/10.  
Current replacement costs are determined by reference to current sealing and construction contract prices.  Values 
represent the written down replacement costs of the assets allowing for remaining useful lives. 
 
Kerb and channel were brought to account at Council officer’s valuation at 31 December 2008. The valuation was 
undertaken by Council Officer Roger Lambert, BE(Civil), based upon Condition rating collected in November and 
December 2008.  Asset values represent the written down replacement costs of the assets allowing for remaining 
useful lives. 
 
Footpaths were brought to account at Council officer’s valuation at 30 June 2009. The valuation was undertaken by 
Council Officer Roger Lambert, BE(Civil), based upon Condition rating collected in March 2009.  Asset values 
represent the written down replacement costs of the assets allowing for remaining useful lives. 
 
Fair value of unsealed roads and drainage assets were brought to account at fair value at 30 June 2007 and was 
undertaken by Council Officer Roger Lambert, BE(Civil). The valuation is based upon Cordell Building and Plumbing 
Cost Guides and physical inspection of the assets, and represents the written down replacement costs allowing for 
the remaining useful life of these assets.   
 
Fair value of other infrastructure assets were determined during 2005/06 and was undertaken by council officer 
Roger Lambert, BE(Civil). The valuation is based upon Cordell Building and Plumbing Cost Guides and physical 
inspection of the assets, and represents the written down replacement costs allowing for the remaining useful life of 
these assets. 
 
Waste Management assets were brought to account at Officer’s Valuation at 30 June 2006.  The valuation took into 
account movements in condition and costs of construction at that date and was undertaken by Council Officer Roger 
Lambert, BE(Civil), based upon current replacement costs and physical inspection of the assets.  Asset values 
represent the written down replacement costs of the assets allowing for remaining useful lives. 

 

Works in progress   

Capital Works in progress 875,142 1,054,859 

   

Total property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 269,703,046 255,749,406 
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Note 21 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment(cont) 

 
 

 

2010 
 

 

Balance at 
beginning of 
financial year 

Acquisition of 
assets 

Revaluation 
increments 

(decrements) 
(note 31) 

Depreciation 
and 

amortisation 
(note 14) 

Written 
down value 
of disposals 

Transfers 

 

Balance at 
end of 

financial year 

 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Property        

Land - freehold 13,110,209 648,718 2,221,899 - (761,108) - 15,219,718 

Land under roads 1,542 3,668 - - - - 5,210 

Land - other controlled 3,677,572 - 2,287,728 - (169,500) - 5,795,800 

Total land 16,789,323 652,386 4,509,627 - (930,608) - 21,020,728 

        

Buildings – freehold 17,337,781 1,115,999 (1,167,993) (467,957) (21,374) 17,939 16,814,395 

Buildings – other controlled 13,312,455 13,835 (988,748) (233,734) (154,918)  11,948,890 

Total buildings 30,650,236 1,129,834 (2,156,741) (701,691) (176,292) 17,939 28,763,285 

Total property 47,439,559 1,782,220 2,352,886 (701,691) (1,106,900) 17,939 49,784,013 

        

Plant and Equipment        

Plant, machinery and 
equipment 

4,100,248 1,320,930 - (846,422) (518,036) - 4,056,720 

Furniture, fittings & office 
equipment 

279,748 - - (41,075) - - 238,673 

Computers and 
telecommunications 398,399 125,611 - (157,839) (143) - 366,028 

Leased plant, machinery & 
equipment 71,929 

-  
(49,442) - - 22,487 

Leased fixtures, fittings and 
furniture & office 138,883 - - (58,521) - - 80,362 

Total plant and equipment 4,989,207 1,446,541  (1,153,299) (518,179) - 4,764,270 

        

Infrastructure        

Sealed roads 66,588,189 4,359,968 9,986,099 (1,490,686) (1,914,130) 186,504 77,715,944 

Unsealed roads 77,223,798 775,078 - (563,851) -  77,435,025 

Kerb & channel 7,893,748 224,508 - (286,280) (43,182) - 7,788,794 

Footpaths 6,116,927 596,720 - (260,824) (42,490) 418,825 6,829,158 

Drainage 25,909,284 267,603 - (457,187) - 11,049 25,730,749 

Waste management 2,603,367 - - (61,141) - - 2,542,226 

Other infrastructure 7,098,965 685,874 - (456,218) - 77,912 7,406,533 

Total infrastructure 193,434,278 6,909,751 9,986,099 (3,576,187) (1,999,802) 694,290 205,448,429 

        

Cultural and heritage 
assets 

       

Library collection 285,096 118,890 - (192,419) - - 211,567 

Artworks 1,112,438 56,510 - (12,909) - - 1,156,039 

Pioneer Settlement plant &  

equipment 14,259 - - (3,140) - - 11,119 

Pioneer Settlement vehicles &  

vessels 3,921,938 124,321 - (40,391) - 3,150 4,009,018 

Pioneer Settlement site 
exhibits 1,385,655 - - (14,287) - - 1,371,368 

Pioneer Settlement other  

infrastructure 592,047 - - (10,701) - - 581,346 

Pioneer Settlement buildings 1,520,070 96,295 (102,358) (100,655) - 77,383 1,490,735 

Total cultural and heritage 
assets 8,831,503 396,016 (102,358) (374,502) - 80,533 8,831,192 

 

 

       

Works in progress        

Capital works in progress 1,054,859 613,045 - - - (792,762) 875,142 

Total property, 
infrastructure, plant and 
equipment 255,749,406 11,147,573 12,236,627 (5,805,679) (3,624,881) - 269,703,046 
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Note 21 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment(cont) 

 
 

 

2009 
 

 

Balance at 
beginning of 
financial year 

Acquisition 
of assets 

Revaluation 
increments 

(decrements) 
(note 26) 

Depreciation 
and 

amortisation 
(note 11) 

Written down 
value of 

disposals 

Transfers 

 

Balance at 
end of 

financial year 

 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Property        

Land - freehold 13,181,816 - - - (71,607) - 13,110,209 

Land under roads - - -  - 1,542 1,542 

Land - other controlled 3,677,572 - -  - - 3,677,572 

Total land 16,859,388 - - - (71,607) 1,542 16,789,323 

        

Buildings – freehold 17,604,941 317,941 - (636,235) (104,864) 155,998 17,337,781 

Buildings – other controlled 13,466,678 - - (154,223) - - 13,312,455 

Total buildings 31,071,619 317,941 - (790,458) (104,864) 155,998 30,650,236 

Total property 47,931,007 317,941 - (790,458) (176,471) 157,540 47,439,559 

        

Plant and Equipment        

Plant, machinery and 
equipment 

3,886,549 1,444,832 - (778,463) (452,670) - 4,100,248 

Furniture, fittings & office 
equipment 

231,148 33,233 - (40,133) - 55,500 279,748 

Computers and 
telecommunications 395,316 149,196 - (145,399) (714) - 398,399 

Leased plant, machinery & 
equipment 121,370 

- - 
(49,441) - - 71,929 

Leased fixtures, fittings and 
furniture & office 203,423 - - (64,540) - - 138,883 

Total plant and equipment 4,837,806 1,627,261 - (1,077,976) (453,384) 55,500 4,989,207 

        

Infrastructure        

Sealed roads 66,855,755 1,660,768 - (1,494,067) (450,377) 16,110 66,588,189 

Unsealed roads 77,763,372 - - (580,871) 41,297 - 77,223,798 

Kerb & channel 4,372,439 193,826 3,608,034 (232,781) (47,770) - 7,893,748 

Footpaths 5,601,132 222,908 556,807 (201,109) (62,811) - 6,116,927 

Drainage 24,581,061 512,195 - (436,744) (110,624) 1,363,396 25,909,284 

Waste management 2,615,848 46,342 - (58,823) - - 2,603,367 

Other infrastructure 6,778,514 574,043 - (398,539) - 144,947 7,098,965 

Total infrastructure 188,568,121 3,210,082 4,164,841 (3,402,934) (630,285) 1,524,453 193,434,278 

        

Cultural and heritage 
assets 

       

Library collection 334,326 119,059 - (168,289) - - 285,096 

Artworks 1,100,220 25,971 - (13,753) - - 1,112,438 

Pioneer Settlement plant & 
office  

equipment 16,348 2,364 - (4,453) - - 14,259 

Pioneer Settlement vehicles &  

vessels 3,962,329 - - (40,391) - - 3,921,938 

Pioneer Settlement site 
exhibits 1,399,940 - - (14,285) - - 1,385,655 

Pioneer Settlement other  

infrastructure 602,749 - - (10,702) - - 592,047 

Pioneer Settlement buildings 1,495,112 129,861 - (104,903) - - 1,520,070 

Total cultural and heritage 
assets 8,911,024 277,255 - (356,776) - - 8,831,503 

 

 

       

Works in progress        

Capital works in progress 1,835,450 1,006,961 - - - (1,787,552) 1,054,859 

 

Total property, infrastructure, 
plant and equipment 252,083,408 6,439,500 4,164,841 (5,628,144) (1,260,140) (50,059) 255,749,406 
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 2010 

$ 

2009 

$ 
 
 
Note 22 Intangible assets 

 

Water rights 863,334 1,135,200 

Total intangible assets 863,334 1,135,200 

   

Gross carrying amount – Water rights   

Balance at beginning of financial year 1,135,200 1,184,622 

Asset revaluation movement (271,866) (49,422) 

Balance at end of financial year 863,334 1,135,200 
 
Note 23 Trade and other payables 

   

Accrued expenses – operating  1,047,664 278,384 

Accrued expenses – capital - 128,981 

Salaries and wages 469,574 344,554 

Trade creditors – operating 623,919 1,306,102 

Trade creditors - capital 68,957 493,645 

Total trade and other payables 2,210,114 2,551,666 
   

Note 24 Trust funds and deposits 

   

Refundable house removal deposits 62,600 56,500 

Refundable vehicle crossing deposits 15,800 4,346 

Refundable design section security deposits 25,999 15,192 

Refundable civic facilities deposits 9,064 12,480 

Retention amounts 176,918 115,816 

Other refundable deposits 4,385 477 

Total trust funds and deposits 294,766 204,811 

   
Note 25 Provisions 
 

2010 Annual 
leave 

$ 

Long service 
leave 

$ 

Landfill 
restoration 

$ 

Other 
 

$ 

Total 
 

$ 

Balance at beginning of the 
financial year 

1,092,239 2,231,061 965,840 - 4,289,140 

Additional provisions 798,289 122,181 - 70,802 991,272 

Amounts used (631,774) (70,424) - - (702,198) 

Balance at the end of the financial 
year 1,258,754 2,282,818 965,840 70,802 4,578,214 

 
2009      

Balance at beginning of the 
financial year 

1,011,568 2,155,400 965,840 - 4,132,808 

Additional provisions 893,060 138,941 - - 1,032,001 

Amounts used (812,389) (63,280) - - (875,669) 

Balance at the end of the financial 
year 1,092,239 2,231,061 965,840 - 4,289,140 
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 2010 

$ 

2009 

$ 
Note 25 Provisions (cont) 
 

(a) Employee benefits   

Current           (i)   

Annual leave 1,258,754 1,092,239 

Long service leave 2,014,067 1,822,168 
 

3,272,821 2,914,407 
Non-current   (ii)   

Long service leave 268,751 408,893 
 

268,751 408,893 

Aggregate carrying amount of employee benefits:   

Current 3,272,821 2,914,407 

Non-current 268,751 408,894 
 

3,541,572 3,323,300 
 

The following assumptions were adopted in measuring the present value of 
employee benefits: 

  

Weighted average increase in employee costs 4.50% 4.75% 

Weighted average discount rates 2.31% 1.66% 

Weighted average settlement period 12 years 14 years 
 

(i) Current   

All annual leave and long service leave entitlements representing 10 or 
more years 

  

-Short-term employee benefits, that fall due within 12 months after the end 
of the period measured at nominal value 1,259,754 1,241,720 

-Other long-term employee benefits that do not fall due within 12 months 
after the end 2,013,067 1,672,687 
 

3,272,821 2,914,407 

(ii) Non-current   

Long service leave representing less than 10 years of continuous service 
measured at present value 268,751 408,893 
 

  

(b) Land fill restoration   

Under the Environmental Protection Act 1970, Council is obligated to restore the Swan Hill Landfill site to a 
particular standard.  Current Waste Management projections indicate that the Swan Hill Landfill site will cease 
operation in 2047 and restoration work is expected to commence shortly thereafter.  The forecast life of the 
Swan Hill Landfill site is based on current estimates of remaining capacity and the forecast rate of infill.  The 
provision for landfill restoration has been calculated based on the present value of the expected cost of works 
to be undertaken.  The expected cost of works has been estimated based on current understanding of work 
required to reinstate the site to a suitable standard.  Accordingly, the estimation of the provision required is 
dependent on the accuracy of the forecast timing of the work, work required and related costs.  

 

Council does not expect to receive reimbursement from a third party.   
 

  
Non-current   

Landfill remediation provision 965,840 965,840 
 

  

(c)Other Provisions   

Council has recognised a provision for the payment of extraction royalties to the land owner of a newly 
acquired Limsestone site.  The land owner will be paid per unit of limestone as its used by Council.  This 
Limestone is to be used in the renewal and construction of Council road assets and the site is expected to 
have a useful life of 12 months. 
 

Current   

Limestone site extraction royalties 70,802 - 
   

Total Provisions   

Current 3,343,623 2,914,407 

Non-current 1,234,591 1,374,733 

 4,578,214 4,289,140 
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 2010 

$ 

2009 

$ 
 
Note 26 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
 

Current   

Borrowings – secured 1,117,271 1,075,057 

   
Non-current   

Borrowings - secured 5,487,496 5,354,778 

   

Total 6,604,767 6,429,835 

   

The maturity profile for Council’s borrowings is:   
 

Not later than one year 32,779 51,933 

Later than one year and not later than five years 3,618,579 2,059,281 

Later that five years 2,953,409 4,318,621 

Total 6,604,767 6,429,835 
 
 

Finance leases   

 

Council had the following obligations under finance leases for the lease of equipment (the sum of which is 
recognised as a liability after deduction of future lease finance charges included in the obligation): 
   
Not later than one year 64,629 119,636 
Later than one year and not later than five years - 64,629 
Minimum lease payments 64,629 184,265 
Less: future finance charges (15,883) (46,042) 
Recognised in the balance sheet as: 48,746 138,223 

 
Current   

Leases 48,746 89,477 

   
Non-current   

Leases - 48,746 

Total 48,746 138,223 
 
 

Aggregate carrying amount of interest-bearing loans and borrowings:   
Current 1,166,017 1,164,534 
Non-current 5,487,496 5,403,524 
Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings 6,653,513 6,568,058 
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Note 27 Reserves 
 

Asset revaluation reserve 

Balance at 
beginning of 

reporting 
period 

Increment 
(decrement) 

Transfer to 
equity 

Balance at 
end of 

reporting 
period 

 $ $ $ $ 

2010     

Property     

Land 4,477,160 4,509,627 - 8,986,787 

Buildings 11,269,066 (2,156,741) - 9,112,325 

 15,746,226 2,352,886 - 18,099,112 

Infrastructure     

Sealed roads 11,284,983 9,986,099 - 21,271,082 

Kerb and channel 5,785,332 - - 5,785,332 

Unsealed roads 19,046,144 - - 19,046,144 

Footpaths 3,227,578 - - 3,227,578 

Drainage 7,783,678 - - 7,783,678 

Other infrastructure 1,651,623 - - 1,651,623 

 48,779,338 9,986,099 - 58,765,437 

Cultural and heritage assets     

Artworks 1,073,657 - - 1,073,657 

Pioneer Settlement 4,352,937 (102,358) - 4,250,579 

 5,426,594 (102,358) - 5,324,236 

     

Water rights 564,829 (271,866) - 292,963 

     

Total asset revaluation reserve 70,516,987 11,964,761 - 82,481,748 

2009     

Property     
Land 4,477,160 - - 4,477,160 
Buildings 11,269,066 - - 11,269,066 
 15,746,226 - - 15,746,226 
Infrastructure     
Sealed roads 11,284,983 - - 11,284,983 
Kerb and channel 2,177,298 3,608,034 - 5,785,332 
Unsealed roads 19,046,144 - - 19,046,144 
Footpaths 2,670,771 556,807 - 3,227,578 
Drainage 7,783,678 - - 7,783,678 
Other infrastructure 1,651,623 - - 1,651,623 
 44,614,497 4,164,841 - 48,779,338 
Cultural and heritage assets     
Artworks 1,073,657 - - 1,073,657 
Pioneer Settlement 4,352,937 - - 4,352,937 
 5,426,594 - - 5,426,594 
     
Plant and equipment 3,876,331 - (3,876,331) - 
Water rights 614,251 (49,422) - 564,829 
     
Total asset revaluation reserve 70,277,899 4,115,419 (3,876,331) 70,516,987 
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Note 28 Correction of error 

 
Council’s revaluation of sealed road assets at 30 June 2010 identified a number of sealed road assets that had 
previously been unrecognised. 
 
As a result of these findings it was determined that Council would have had control of these sealed roads at the 
beginning of the comparative reporting period, therefore an adjustment was made to the opening balances of the prior 
reporting period. 
 
Council does not consider the road assets previously unrecognised as being material to the financial statements and as 
a result a 3

rd
 Balance Sheet and associated disclosures are not considered necessary. 

 
The affected reported balances at 30 June 2009 and restated balances as at 1 July 2009 are shown below. 
 
Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure 2009   

Balance at beginning of financial year  247,740,975 

Assets previously unrecognised:   

Sealed roads  4,342,433 

Restated balance at beginning of financial year  252,083,408 

Equity 2009   

Balance at beginning of financial year  250,572,738 

Movement in accumulated surplus – previously unrecognised assets  4,342,433 

Restated balance at beginning of financial year  254,915,171 

   

Previously reported Depreciation 2009  5,541,295 

Depreciation on found roads  86,849 

Restated Depreciation 2009  5,628,144 

   

Previously reported surplus for 2009  2,181,234 

Depreciation on found roads  (86,849) 

Restated surplus for 2009  2,094,385 
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 2010 

$ 

2009 

$ 
Note 29 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus (deficit) 
 

Comprehensive result (280,159) 2,094,385 

   

Depreciation/amortisation 5,805,679 5,628,144 

(Profit) / loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, infrastructure (300,324) (20,380) 

Provision of doubtful debts 80,331 (56,818) 

Contributions – Non monetary assets (812,947) (1,242,300) 

Asset Write offs 2,561,346 735,150 

Works-in-progress expensed from prior year(s) - 51,601 

Borrowing costs 404,095 473,074 

   

Change in assets and liabilities:   

(Increase) / Decrease in trade and other receivables (913,068) 354,491 

(Increase) / Decrease in other operating assets 385,845 (525,630) 

Increase / (Decrease) in accrued expenses 894,300 272,507 

Increase/ (Decrease) in trade and other payables (592,228) (582,504) 

(Decrease) / Increase in other liabilities - - 

(Increase) / Decrease in inventories (252,115) 56,721 

Increase / (Decrease) in provisions 289,074 (21,437) 

   

Net cash provided by operating activities 7,269,829 7,217,004 
 
 
Note 30 Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents (see note 15)  10,413,042 11,486,289 

Less bank overdraft - - 

Total reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 10,413,042 11,486,289 
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 2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
 
Note 31 Financing arrangements 
 

Bank overdraft 500,000 500,000 

Used facilities - - 

Unused facilities 500,000 500,000 
 
 
Note 32 Restricted assets 

 

Council has cash and cash equivalents (note 15) that are subject to restrictions.  As at the reporting date, Council had 
legislative restrictions in relation to employee entitlements (Long Service Leave) and refundable trust deposits (Trust 
funds). 
 

Long service leave (note 25) * 1,919,989 1,810,391 

Trust funds (note 24) 294,766 204,811 

Total restricted assets 2,214,755 2,015,202 
 

* Restricted asset for long service leave is based on the Local Government (Long Service Leave) Regulations 2002 and 
does not necessarily equate to the long service leave liability disclosed in note 25 due to a different basis of calculations 
prescribed by the regulation. 
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Note 33 Superannuation 
 
Council makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to the Local Authorities 
Superannuation Fund (the Fund).  Obligations for contributions are recognised as an expense in profit and loss when 
they are due. The Fund has two categories of membership, accumulation and defined benefit, each of which is funded 
differently. 
The Fund's accumulation category, Vision Super Saver, receives both employer and employee contributions on a 
progressive basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings (9% required 
under Superannuation Guarantee Legislation).  No further liability accrues to the employer as the superannuation 
benefits accruing to employees are represented by their share of the net assets of the Fund.   
 

The Fund's Defined Benefit Plan is a multi-employer sponsored plan.  As the Fund's assets and liabilities are pooled and 
are not allocated by employer, the Actuary is unable to reliably allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between 
employers.  As provided under Paragraph 32 (b) of AASB 119, Council does not use defined benefit accounting for these 
contributions. 
 

Council makes employer contributions to the defined benefits category of the Fund at rates determined by the Trustee on 
the advice of the Fund's Actuary.  On the basis of the results of the most recent full actuarial investigation conducted by 
the Fund's Actuary as at 31 December 2008, Council makes the following contributions:- 

• 9.25% of members’ salaries (same as previous year); 
• the difference between resignation and retrenchment benefits paid to any retrenched employees, plus 

contribution tax (same as previous year); 
 

The Fund Surplus or deficit (ie the difference between fund assets and liabilities) is calculated differently for funding 
purposes (ie calculating required contributions) and for the calculation of accrued benefits as required in AAS 25 to 
provide the values needed for the AAS119 disclosure in the Council’s financial statements.  AAS 25 requires that the 
present value of the defined benefit liability to be calculated based on benefits that have accrued in respect of 
membership of the plan up to the measurement date, with no allowance for future benefits that may accrue.  The 
actuarial investigation concluded that although the Net Market Value of Assets was in excess of Accrued Benefits at 31 
December 2008, based on the assumptions adopted, there was a shortfall of $71 million when the funding of future 
benefits was also considered.  However, Council was advised that no additional contributions are required for 30 June 
2010.  The Actuary has commenced undertaking the next actuarial investigation to ascertain if additional contributions 
would be required.  The Actuarial review will be as at 30 June 2010. 
 

The result of the actuarial review is expected to be finalised during October 2010.  Should the review identify a funding 
shortfall requiring additional contributions, the Council will be notified of any amount payable by November 2010 for 
payment on 1 July 2011.  A further actuarial review will be undertaken as at 30 June 2011.  Based on the result of this 
further review, a detailed funding plan will be developed and implemented to achieve the target of fully funding the Fund 
by 31 December 2013 
 
The Fund’s liability for accrued benefits was determined by the Actuary in the 31 December 2008 actuarial review 
pursuant to the requirements of Australian Accounting Standard AAS 25 as follows: 
 
 31 December 

2008 
$’000 

Net Market Value of Assets 3,630,432 
Accrued Benefits (per accounting standards) 3,616,422 
Difference between Assets and Accrued Benefits 14,010 
Vested Benefits 3,561,588 
 
The financial assumptions used to calculate the Accrued Benefits for the defined benefit category of the Fund were: 
Net Investment Return – 8.50% p.a. 
Salary Inflation – 4.25% p.a. 
Price Inflation – 2.75% p.a. 
 2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Fund   
Defined benefits plans   
Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) 260,101 226,028 
Employer contributions payable to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) at 
reporting date - - 
Accumulation funds   
Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) 929,316 776,038 
Employer contributions payable to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) at 
reporting date - - 
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Note 34 Commitments 
The Council has entered into the following commitments: 

 
2010 

Not later 
than 1 
year 

Later than 
1 year and 
not later 
than 2 
years 

Later than 2 
years and 
not later 

than 5 years 

 
Total 

 $ $ $ $ 
Operating     

Recycling 45,000 - - 45,000 
Garbage collection 338,709 - - 338,709 
Leisure centre management 816,500 816,500 2,428,500 4,061,500 
Information systems and technology 372,487 372,487 280,212 1,025,186 
Tree maintenance contracts 300,000 300,000 300,000 900,000 
Cleaning contracts for council buildings 469,000 - - 469,000 
Home maintenance services 185,500 185,500 - 371,000 
Valuation services – 2010 General Valuations 263,192 - - 263,192 
Security Services 33,000 - - 33,000 
Operation of PS Pyap 90,500 - - 90,500 
Swan Hill Planning Scheme 38,250 - - 38,250 
Internal Audit Services 30,000 30,000 30,000 90,000 
Disability Action Plan 20,000 - - 20,000 
Performing Arts 5,835 - - 5,835 
Total 3,007,973 1,704,487 3,038,712 7,751,172 

     
Capital     

Buildings 75,250 451,000 - 526,250 

Plant and equipment 333,877 - - 333,877 

Roads 1,175,219 805,219 - 1,980,438 

Drainage - - - - 

Pioneer Settlement 65,450 - - 65,450 

Total 1,649,796 1,256,219 - 2,906,015 

 
 

2009 
Not later 

than 1 year 
Later than 
1 year and 
not later 
than 2 
years 

Later than 2 
years and 
not later 

than 5 years 

 
Total 

 
Operating 

$ $ $ $ 

Recycling 717,340 - - 717,340 
Garbage collection 833,500 858,505 884,260 2,576,265 
Leisure centre management 783,662 - - 783,662 
Information systems & technology 452,494 353,916 - 806,410 
Tree maintenance contracts 141,728 145,980 305,229 592,937 
Credit management and debt collection 
services 

40,000 - - 40,000 

Cleaning contracts for council buildings 395,162 400,924 406,770 1,202,856 
Home maintenance services 40,634 33,134 - 73,768 
Valuation services – 2010 General valuations 263,200 - - 263,200 
Security services 29,160 - - 29,160 
Operation of PS Pyap 90,500 - - 90,500 
Art Gallery feasibility study 20,570 - - 20,570 
Total 3,807,950 1,792,459 1,596,259 7,196,668 
     

Capital     

Buildings 683,873 - - 683,873 

Plant and equipment 747,504 - - 747,504 

Roads 2,666,744 - - 2,666,744 

Drainage 319,425 - - 319,425 

Total 4,417,546 - - 4,417,546 
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 2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Note 35 Operating leases 
 
Operating lease commitments 
 

At the reporting date, the Council had the following obligations under non-cancellable 
operating leases for the lease of equipment and land and buildings for use within 
Council’s activities (these obligations are not recognised as liabilities): 

  

   
Not later than one year 312,477 315,325 
Later that one year and not later that five years 1,267,895 1,187,248 
Later than five years 1,157,001 1,435,118 

 2,737,373 2,937,691 
 
Note 36 Contingent liabilities 
 
The Council is presently involved in several confidential legal matters, which are being conducted through Council’s 
solicitors. 
 
As these matters are yet to be finalised, and the financial outcomes are unable to be reliably estimated, no allowance for 
these contingencies has been made in the financial report. 
 
Council has obligations under a defined benefit superannuation scheme that may result in the need to make additional 
contributions to the scheme to ensure that the liabilities of the fund are covered by the assets of the fund.  As a result of 
the increased volatility in financial markets the likelihood of making such contributions in future periods has increased.  At 
this point in time it is not known if additional contributions will be required, their timing or potential amount. 
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Note 37 Financial Instruments 
 
(a) Accounting Policy, Terms and Conditions 

 

Recognised 

Financial  

Instruments 

Note Accounting Policy Terms and Conditions 

Financial Assets    

 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

 

15 

 

Cash on hand and at bank and 
money market call accounts are 
valued at face value. 

 

Interest is recognised as it accrues. 

 

 

Investments and bills are valued at 
cost. 

 

Investments are held to maximise 
interest returns of surplus cash. 

 

 

On call deposits returned an interest rate of 2.9% to 
4.40% (7.15% to 2.90% in 2008/2009). The interest rate 
at balance date was 4.40% (2.90% in 2008/2009). 

 

Funds returned fixed interest rate of between 3.20% 
(3.71% in 2008/2009), and 6.30% (8.60% in 2008/2009) 
net of fees. 

 

Trade and other 
receivables 

   

� Other debtors 16 Receivables are carried amortised 
cost using the effective interest 
method.  A provision for doubtful 
debts is recognised when there is 
objective evidence that an 
impairment loss has occurred. 

 

Collectability of overdue accounts 
is assessed on an ongoing basis. 

 

General debtors are unsecured, not subject to interest.  
Credit terms of 30 days. 

Financial Liabilities   

Trade and other 
payables 

23 Liabilities are recognised for 
amounts to be paid in the future for 
goods and services provided to 
Council as at balance date whether 
or not invoices have been 
received. 

 

General Creditors are unsecured, not subject to interest 
charges and are normally settled within 30 days of 
invoice receipt. 

Interest bearing 
loans and 
borrowings 

26 Loans are carried at their principal 
amounts, which represent the 
present value of future cash flows 
associated with servicing the debt.  
Interest is accrued over the period 
it becomes due and recognised as 
part of payables. 

Borrowings are secured by way of mortgages over the 
general rates of the Council. 

 

The weighted average interest rate on borrowings is 
(6.58% in 2008/2009). 

 

 

  Finance leases are accounted for 
at their principal amount with the 
lease payments discounted to 
present value using the interest 
rates implicit in the leases. 

As at balance date, the Council had finance leases with 
an average lease term of 1.5 years. 

 

The weighted average rate implicit in the lease is 6.53% 
(6.46% in 2008/2009). 

    

Bank Overdraft 26 Overdrafts are recognised at the 
principal amount.  Interest is 
charged as an expense as it 
accrues. 

The overdraft is subject to annual review.  It is secured 
by a mortgage over Council’s general rates and is 
repayable on demand.   

The interest rate as at balance date was 10.49%. 
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Note 37 Financial Instruments (cont) 
 
(b) Interest Rate Risk 
 
The exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rates of financial assets and financial liabilities, both 
recognised and unrecognised, at balance date are as follows: 
 

 Fixed interest maturing in:  
 

2010 
Floating 

interest rate 
$ 

1 year or 
less 

$ 

Over 1 to 5 
years 

$ 

More than 5 
years 

$ 

Non-interest 
bearing 

$ 

 
Total 

$ 
       
Financial assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 2,678,554 7,734,488 - - - 10,413,042 
Other financial assets - 2,600,000 - - - 2,600,000 
Trade and other receivables - 35,759 214,206 - 493,343 743,308 
Other assets - - - - 210,147 210,147 
Total financial assets 2,678,554 10,370,247 214,206 - 703,490 13,966,497 
       
Weighted average interest  
  rate 4.13% 5.49%  

   

       
Financial liabilities       
Trade and other payables - - - - 2,210,114 2,210,114 
Trust funds and deposits - - - - 294,766 294,766 
Interest-bearing loans and  
  borrowings - 81,525 3,618,579 2,953,409 - 6,653,513 
Total financial liabilities  81,525 3,618,579 2,953,409 2,504,880 9,158,393 
       
Weighted average interest  
  rate 

 
6.69% 6.40% 7.05% 

  

       
       
Net financial assets 
(liabilities) 

2,678,554 10,288,722 (3,404,373) (2,953,409) (1,801,390) 4,808,104 

 
 

 Fixed interest maturing in:  
 

2009 
Floating 

interest rate 
$ 

1 year or 
less 

$ 

Over 1 to 5 
years 

$ 

More than 5 
years 

$ 

Non-interest 
bearing 

$ 

 
Total 

$ 
       
Financial assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 2,415,627 9,070,662 - - - 11,486,289 
Other financial assets - 3,500,000 600,000 - - 4,100,000 
Trade and other receivables - 64,939 76,897 - 472,433 614,269 
Other assets - - - - 595,992 595,992 
Total financial assets 2,415,627 12,635,601 676,897 - 1,068,425 16,796,550 
       
Weighted average interest  
  rate 2.90% 4.17% 0.32% 

   

       
Financial liabilities       
Trade and other payables - - - - 2,551,666 2,551,666 
Trust funds and deposits - - - - 204,811 204,811 
Interest-bearing loans and  
  borrowings - 141,410 2,108,027 4,318,621 - 6,568,058 
Total financial liabilities - 141,410 2,108,027 4,318,621 2,756,477 9,324,535 
       
Weighted average interest  
  rate 

 
6.68% 6.15% 6.79% 

  

       
       
Net financial assets 
(liabilities) 

2,415,627 12,494,191 (1,431,130) (4,318,621) (1,688,052) 7,472,015 
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Note 37 Financial instruments (cont) 
 

(c) Net Fair Values 
 

The aggregate net fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, both recognised and unrecognised, at balance 
date are as follows: 

 Total carrying amount as per 
Balance Sheet 

Aggregate net fair value 

Financial Instruments 2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

     
Financial assets     
  Cash and cash equivalents 10,413,042 11,486,289 10,413,042 11,486,289 
  Other financial assets 2,600,000 4,100,000 2,600,000 4,100,000 

  Trade and other receivables 743,308 614,269 743,308 614,269 
  Other assets 210,147 595,992 210,147 595,992 

Total financial assets 13,966,497 16,796,550 13,966,497 16,796,550 
     
Financial liabilities     
  Trade and other payables 2,210,114 2,551,666 2,210,114 2,551,666 
  Trust funds and deposits 294,766 204,811 294,766 204,811 
  Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 6,653,513 6,568,058 5,716,560 6,060,003 

Total financial liabilities 9,158,393 9,324,535 8,221,440 8,816,479 
 

(d) Credit Risk 
 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation to each class of recognised financial asset is 
represented by the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the Balance Sheet. 
 

(e) Risks and mitigation 
 

The risks associated with our main financial instruments and our policies for minimising these risks are detailed below. 
 

Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of our financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices.  The Council’s exposures to market risk are primarily through interest rate risk with only insignificant 
exposure to other price risks and no exposure to foreign currency risk.  Components of market risk to which we are 
exposed are discussed below. 
 

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.  Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing financial assets and 
liabilities that we use.  Non derivative interest bearing assets are predominantly short term liquid assets.  Our interest 
rate liability risk arises primarily from long term loans and borrowings at fixed rates which expose us to fair value interest 
rate risk. 
 

Our loan borrowings are sourced from major Australian banks by a tender process. Finance leases are sourced from 
major Australian financial institutions.  Overdrafts are arranged with major Australian banks.  We manage interest rate 
risk on our net debt portfolio by: 

� Ensuring access to diverse sources of funding; 
� Reducing risks of refinancing by managing in accordance with target maturity profiles; and 
� Setting prudential limits on interest repayments as a percentage of rate revenue. 

 

We manage the interest rate exposure on our net debt portfolio by appropriate budgeting strategies and obtaining 
approval for borrowings from the Department of Planning and Community Development each year. 
 

Investment of surplus funds is made with approved financial institutions under the Local Government Act 1989.  We 
manage interest rate risk by adopting an investment policy that ensures: 

� Conformity with State and Federal regulations and standards, 
� Capital protection, 
� Appropriate liquidity, 
� Diversification by credit rating, financial institution and investment product, 
� Monitoring of return on investment, 
� Benchmarking of returns and comparison with budget. 

 

Maturity will be staggered to provide for interest rate variations and to minimise interest rate risk. 
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Note 37 Financial instruments (cont) 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and cause us to 
make a financial loss.  We have exposure to credit risk on all financial assets included in our balance sheet.  To help 
manage this risk: 
 

� We have a policy for establishing credit limits for the entities we deal with; 
� We may require collateral where appropriate; and 
� We only invest surplus funds with financial institutions which have a recognised credit rating specified in our 

investment policy. 
 
Trade and other receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across the consumer, business and 
government sectors.  Credit risk associated with the Council’s financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is the 
Victorian Government.  Apart from the Victorian Government we do not have any significant credit risk exposure to a 
single customer or groups of customers.  Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of our 
customers and, where appropriate, an allowance for doubtful debts is raised. 
 
We may also be subject to credit risk for transactions which are not included in the Balance Sheet, such as when we 
provide a guarantee for another party.  Details of our contingent liabilities are disclosed in note 36. 
 
 
Movement in Provisions for Doubtful Debts 2010 2009 
 $ $ 
Balance at the beginning of the year 78,402 133,374 
New provisions recognised during the year 102,245 25,213 
Amounts already provided for and written off as uncollectible (3,084) (59,124) 
Amounts provided for but recovered during the year (18,669) (21,061) 
Balance at end of year 158,894 78,402 
 
Ageing of Trade and Other Receivables 
At balance date other debtors representing financial assets were past due but not impaired.  These amounts relate to a number 
of independent customers whom there is no recent history of default.  The ageing of the Council’s Trade & Other Receivables 
was: 

 
 2010 2009 
 $ $ 
Current (not yet due) 699,240 402,952 
Past due by up to 30 days 464,713 188,158 
Past due between 31 and 60 days 852,859 608,906 
Past due between 181 and 365 days 35,777 157,145 
Past due by more than 1 year 214,206 76,897 
Total trade and other receivables 2,266,795 1,434,058 
 
 
Ageing of Individually impaired Trade and Other Receivables. 
At balance date, other debtors representing financial assets with a nominal value of $158,894 (2009, $78,402) were 
impaired.  The amount of the provision raised against these debtors was $158,894 (2009, $78,402).  The individually 
impaired debtors relate to general and sundry debtor and have been impaired as a result of their doubtful collection.  
Many of the long outstanding past due amounts have been lodged with Council’s debt collectors or are on payment 
arrangements. 
 
The ageing of Trade and Other Receivables that have been individually determined as impaired at reporting date was: 
 
 2010 2009 
 $ $ 
Current (not yet due) 467 198 
Past due by up to 30 days 1,829 1,400 
Past due between 31 and 180 days 4,933 4,619 
Past due between 181 and 365 days 86,857 45,424 
Past due by more than 1 year 64,808 26,761 
Total trade and other receivables 158,894 78,402 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 

 

 SHRCC  
2009/2010 Annual Report 

BUILDING OUR FUTURE TOGETHER 

163 

General Purpose 
Financial Statements 

 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of our operational liquidity requirements: 

� We will not have sufficient funds to settle a transaction on the date; 
� We will be forced to sell financial assets at a value which is less than what they are worth; or 
� We may be unable to settle or recover a financial asset at all. 

 
To help reduce these risks we: 

� Have a liquidity policy which targets a minimum and average level of cash and cash equivalents to be 
maintained; 

� Have readily accessible standby facilities and other funding arrangements in place; 
� Have a liquidity portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested within various bands of liquid 

instruments; 
� Monitor budget to actual performance on a regular basis; and 
� Set limits on borrowings relating to the percentage of loans to rate revenue and percentage of loan principal 

repayments to rate revenue. 
 
The Council’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of 
risk. 
 
The table below lists the contractual maturities for Financial Liabilities. 
 
These amounts represent undiscounted gross payments including both principal and interest amounts 
 

6 months 
or less 

6-12 
Months 

1-2  

Years 

2-5 

Years 

>5 

Years 

Contracted 

Cash Flow 

Carrying 
Amount 

 

2010 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Trade and 
other 

payables 
2,210,114 - - - - 2,210,114 2,210,114 

Trust 
Funds and 
deposits 

294,766 - - - - 294,766 294,766 

Interest-
bearing 

loans and 
borrowings 

832,806 758,156 1,404,613 3,831,141 1,306,437 8,133,153 6,653,513 

Total 
financial 
liabilities 

3,337,686 758,156 1,404,613 3,831,141 1,306,437 10,638,033 9,158,393 

 
 

 

2009 

6 months 
or less 

6-12 
Months 

1-2  

Years 

2-5 

Years 

>5 

Years 

Contracted 

Cash Flow 

Carrying 
Amount 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Trade and 
other 

payables 
2,551,666 - - - - 2,551,666 2,551,666 

Trust 
Funds and 
deposits 

204,811 - - - - 204,811 204,811 

Interest-
bearing 

loans and 
borrowings 

818,458 766,647 1,418,447 3,261,900 1,911,927 8,177,379 6,568,058 

Total 
financial 
liabilities 

3,574,935 766,647 1,418,447 3,261,900 1,911,927 10,933,856 9,324,535 
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Note 37 Financial instruments (cont) 
 
(f) Sensitivity disclosure analysis 
 
Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management’s knowledge and 
experience of the financial markets, the Council believes the following movements are “reasonably possible” over the 
next 12 months (Base rates are sourced from the Reserve Bank of Australia); 
 

� A parallel shift of -0.5% and +1% (2009: +0.25%, +1%) in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end rates of 
4.15%. 

 
The table below discloses the impact on net operating result and equity for each category of financial instruments held by 
the Council at year-end, if the above movements were to occur. 
 

 Interest rate risk 

Market risk exposure  -0.5% +1% 

  -50 basis points +100 basis points 

  Profit Equity Profit Equity 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

2010 

Financial assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Financial Assets 

Trade and other receivables 

 

 

 

10,413,042 

2,600,000 

249,965 

 

 

 

(52,065) 

(13,000) 

(1,250) 

 

 

(52,065) 

(13,000) 

(1,250) 

 

 

 

104,130 

26,000 

2,500 

 

 

104,130 

26,000 

2,500 

Financial liabilities: 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 

 

    6,653,513 
         

33,268 

 

33,268 

 

(66,535) 

 

(66,535) 

 
 
 

 Interest rate risk 

Market risk exposure  0.25% 1% 

  +25 basis points +100 basis points 

  Profit Equity Profit Equity 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

2009 

Financial assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Other financial assets 

Trade and other receivables 

 

 

 

11,486,289 

4,100,000 

141,836 

 

 

 

28,716 

10,250 

355 

 

 

28,716 

10,250 

355 

 

 

 

114,863 

41,000 

1,418 

 

 

114,863 

41,000 

1,418 

Financial liabilities: 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 

 

    6,568,058 

 

     16,420 

 

16,420 

 

65,681 

 

65,681 

 
 2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
 
Note 38 Auditors’ remuneration 
 

Audit fee to conduct external audit – Victorian Auditor-General 33,925 32,285 

Internal audit fees – Johnsons MME 4,500 12,500 

Auditors remuneration - other 1,772 1,679 

 40,197 46,464 
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Note 39 Related party transactions 
 
(i) Responsible Persons 

Names of persons holding the position of a Responsible Person at Swan Hill Rural City Council at any time during 
the year are:- 
Councillors Mayor Greg Cruickshank (Councillor 18/03/2003 to current) 

Councillor David Quayle (Councillor 18/03/2003 to current) 
Councillor Gary Norton (Councillor 18/03/2003 to current) 
Councillor John Katis (Councillor 15/03/1997 to current) 
Councillor Yvonne Jennings (Councillor 27/11/2005 to current) 
Councillor Les McPhee (Councillor 29/11/2008 to current) 
Councillor Bill Croft (Councillor 29/11/2008 to current) 

Chief Executive Officer Dennis Hovenden (Commenced 02/01/2007) 
 

(ii) Remuneration of Responsible Persons 
The numbers of Responsible Officers, whose total remuneration from Council and any related entities fall within 
the following bands: 

 2010 2009 
$1          - $9,999 - 2 
$10,000 - $19,999 2 4 
$20,000 - $29,999 3 1 
$30,000 - $39,999 1 1 
$40,000 - $49,999 - 1 
$50,000 - $59,999 1 - 
$170,000 - $179,999 - 1 
$180,000 - $189,999 1 - 

 8 10 
Total remuneration for the reporting year for Responsible Persons included 
above, amounted to: 

$372,136 $353,424 

 
(iii) Retirement Benefits  

No retirement benefits have been made by the Council to a Responsible Person. (2008/2009, $0) 
 
(iv) Loans 

No loans have been made, guaranteed or secured by the Council to a Responsible Person during the reporting 
year (2008/2009, $0) 

 
(v) Other Transactions 

Councillor Greg Cruickshank operates Greg Cruickshank Photographics which Council has dealt with under 
normal business terms during 2009/2010.  Total transactions for the 2009/2010 year = $1,058 (2008/2009, 
$3,057). 
 
No transactions other than remuneration payments or the reimbursement of approved expenses were entered into 
by Council with Responsible Persons, or Related Parties of such Responsible Persons during the reporting year. 

 
(vi) Senior Officers Remuneration 

A Senior Officer other than a Responsible Person, is an officer of Council who has management responsibilities 
and reports directly to the Chief Executive Officer or whose total annual remuneration exceeds $120,000. 
 
The number of Senior Officers other than the Responsible Persons, are shown below in their relevant income 
bands: 
Income Range 2010 2009 

< $120,000 3 5 

$120,000 - $129,999 1 - 

$130,000 - $139,999 - 1 

$140,000  -  $149,999 3 1 

$150,000  -  $159,999 - - 

$160,000 - $169,999 - - 

 7 7 

Total remuneration for the reporting year for Senior Officers included above, 
amounted to: 

$762,774 $771,584 
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Note 40 Revenues, expenses and assets by function/activity  

 

 
Economic 
Prosperity 

Environment 
Leadership and 

Identity  
Social 

Development 
Total 

 2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

           

INCOME           

           

Grants 499,198 772,167 3,943,043 4,466,067 4,979,862 6,166,174 5,870,395 5,753,182 15,292,499 17,157,590 

           

Other 2,780,313 4,217,520 3,853,620 4,136,476 20,569,796 16,555,196 2,030,365 2,119,211 29,234,093 27,028,403 

           

TOTAL 3,279,511 4,989,687 7,796,663 8,602,543 25,549,658 22,721,370 7,900,760 7,872,393 44,526,592 44,185,993 

EXPENSES 8,344,825 6,611,851 14,356,156 18,081,093 9,803,150 8,361,220 12,302,620 9,037,444 44,806,751 42,091,608 

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 
FOR THE YEAR 

(5,065,314) (1,622,164) (6,559,493) (9,478,550) 15,746,508 14,360,150 (4,401,860) (1,165,051) (280,159) 2,094,385 

           

ASSETS ATTRIBUTED 
TO 
FUNCTIONS/ABILITIES* 

7,667,096 7,979,636 208,039,679 194,932,329 70,675,003 71,610,225 164,406 216,460 286,546,184 274,738,650 

 
*Assets have been attributed to functions/activities based on the control and/or custodian of specific assets. 
 
Economic Prosperity 
Enable economic prosperity of the community through leadership, planning and working in partnership in the areas of sustainable 
growth for agriculture, industry and tourism, by the provision of expertise and advice. 
 
The Division includes the following Branches: 
  Business enterprises 
  Economic development 
  Pioneer settlement 
 
Environment 
Ensure that the natural and built environment is protected and developed in a manner which will achieve a productive, attractive and 
sustainable environment that enhances our lifestyle. 
 
The Division includes the following Branches: 
  Amenity 
  Waste management 
  Recreation 
  Heritage and culture 
  Transport 
  Aquatic facilities 
 
Leadership and Identity 
Facilitate responsive Local Government which represents community interests, and identity, and encourages community 
participation and enhances relationships with other spheres of Government, the private sector and the regional community. 
 
The Division includes the following branches: 
  Governance 
  Organisational support 
 
Social Development 
Plan and provide for accessibility to services and facilities to ensure the physical health and well being of the community.  A level of 
care and responsibility will be assumed to enable the wider community to participate in the broadest possible range of Council 
activities. 
 
The Division includes the following Branches: 
  Social infrastructure 
  Aged and disability services 
  Family and children support 
  Protecting community well-being 
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Note 41 Financial ratios 
 
(a) Debt servicing ratio (to identify the capacity of 2010 2009 2008 
 Council to service its outstanding debt) $ % $ % $ % 
 

 
       

 Debt servicing costs  404,095 473,074 519,599 
 Total revenue 44,526,592 

=0.91% 
44,185,993 

= 1.07% 
37,588,973 

= 1.38% 

 
       

 Debt servicing costs refer to the payment of interest on loan borrowings, finance lease and bank overdraft. 
The ratio expresses the amount of interest paid as a percentage of Council’s total revenue. 

 
 

   
(b) Debt commitment ratio (to identify Council’s 2010 2009 2008 
 debt redemption strategy) $ % $ % $ % 
 

 
       

 Debt servicing & redemption costs  1,568,640 1,531,376 1,763,957 
 Rate revenue 18,847,785 

=8.32% 
17,574,720 

= 8.71% 
17,110,927 

= 10.31% 

 
 

      
 The strategy involves the payment of loan principal and interest, finance lease principal and interest. 

The ratio expresses percentage of rate revenue utilised to pay interest and redeem debt principal. 
 

(c) Revenue ratio (to identify Council’s 2010 2009 2008 
 dependence on non-rate income) $ % $ % $ % 
 

 
       

 Rate revenue  18,847,785 17,574,720 17,110,927 
 Total revenue 44,526,592 

=42.33% 
44,185,993 

=39.77 % 
37,588,973 

= 45.52% 

 
 

      
 The level of Council’s reliance on rate revenue is determined by assessing rate revenue as a proportion of the total revenue 

of Council. 
 

(d) Debt exposure ratio (to identify Council’s 2010 2009 2008 
 exposure to debt) $ % $ % $ % 
 

 
      

 Total indebtedness  11,850,496 11,803,284 12,049,847 
 Total realisable assets 54,285,107 

=21.83% 
53,808,774 

=21.94 % 
50,450,003 

=23.88 % 

 
 

      
 For the purposes of the calculation of financial ratios, realisable assets are those assets which can be sold and which are not 

subject to any restriction on realisation or use. 
 

 
 

 Any liability represented by a restricted asset (note 32) is excluded from total indebtedness. 
 

 

 The following assets are excluded from total assets when calculating Council’s realisable assets: 
 Land and buildings on Crown land, land under roads, restricted assets, heritage assets and total infrastructure assets. 

 

 This ratio enables assessment of Council’s solvency and exposure to debt.  Total indebtedness refers to the total liabilities of 
Council.  Total liabilities are compared to total realisable assets which are all Council assets not subject to any restriction 
and are able to be realised.  The ratio expresses the percentage of total liabilities for each dollar of realisable assets. 

 
 

   
(e) Working capital ratio (to assess Council’s 2010 2009 2008 
 ability to meet current commitments) $ % $ % $ % 
 

 
      

 Current assets  15,765,598 17,177,147 14,326,130 
 Current liabilities 7,014,520 

=224.76% 
6,835,418 

=251.30% 
7,078,330 

= 202.39% 

 
 

      
 The ratio expresses the level of current assets the Council has available to meet its current liabilities.  
     
(f) Adjusted working capital ratio (to assess 2010 2009 2008 
 Council’s ability to meet current 

commitments) 
$ % $ % $ % 

        
 Current assets  15,765,598 17,177,147 14,326,130 
 Current liabilities 5,001,453 

=315.22% 
5,013,250 

=342.63% 
5,222,392 

= 274.32% 

        
 The ratio expresses the level of current assets the Council has available to meet its current liabilities. 

 

 Current liabilities have been reduced to reflect the long service leave that is shown as a current liability because Council 
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date, but 
is not likely to fall due within twelve months after the end of the period. 
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Note 42 Capital expenditure 
 
 Note 2010 2009 

  $ $ 

Capital expenditure areas    

Land and buildings  1,817,519 543,124 

Plant and equipment  1,446,541 1,649,702 

Infrastructure  6,701,590 2,857,705 

Cultural and heritage assets  368,976 146,669 

Other  - - 

Total capital works  10,334,626 5,197,200 

 

Represented by:    

Renewal of infrastructure (a) 7,513,035 3,643,227 

Upgrade of infrastructure (b) 708,075 885,143 

Expansion of infrastructure (c) - - 

New infrastructure  717,888 444,200 

New buildings  1,384,843 195,204 

New plant and equipment  - 20,346 

New cultural and heritage assets  10,785 9,080 

Total capital works  10,334,626 5,197,200 

 

Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure movement    

The movement between the previous year and the current year in property, 
plant and equipment, infrastructure as shown in the Balance Sheet links to 
the net of the following items: 

   

    

Total capital works  10,334,626 5,197,200 

Contributions – non-monetary assets 6(b) 812,947 1,242,300 

Asset revaluation movement 27 12,236,627 4,164,841 

Depreciation/amortisation 12 (5,805,679) (5,628,144) 

Written down value of disposals 21 (3,624,881) (1,260,140) 

Other movements  - (50,059) 

Net movement in property, plant and equipment, infrastructure 21 13,953,640 3,665,998 

 
(a) Renewal 
Expenditure on an existing asset which returns the service potential or the life of the asset up to that which it had 
originally.  It is periodically required expenditure, relatively large (material) in value compared with the value of the 
components or sub-components of the asset being renewed.  As it reinstates existing service potential, it has no impact 
on revenue, but may reduce future operating and maintenance expenditure if completed at the optimum time. 
 
(b) Upgrade 
Expenditure which enhances an existing asset to provide a higher level of service or expenditure that will increase the life 
of the asset beyond that which it had originally.  Upgrade expenditure is discretional and often does not result in 
additional revenue unless direct user charges apply.  It will increase operating and maintenance expenditure in the future 
because of the increase in the Council’s asset base. 
 
(c) Expansion 
Expenditure which extends an existing asset, at the same standard as is currently enjoyed by residents, to a new group 
of users.  It is discretional expenditure which increases future operating and maintenance costs, because it increases 
Council’s asset base, but may be associated with additional revenue from the new user group. 
 
 
Note 43 Events occurring after balance date 

 

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the reporting period which significantly affect or may 
significantly affect the operations of the Council, the results of those operations or the state of affairs at the Council in 
future financial years. 
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CERTIFICATION OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT 
 
In my opinion the accompanying Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the Local Government Act, 
1989, the Local Government (Financing and Reporting) Regulations 2004, Australian Accounting Standards and other 
mandatory professional reporting requirements. 
 

 
 
David C Lenton ASA 
Principal Accounting Officer  

 
Dated: 24 September 2010 
Swan Hill 
 
In our opinion the accompanying Financial Statements present fairly the financial transactions of the Swan Hill Rural City 
Council for the year ended 30 June 2010, and of the financial position of the Council at that date. 

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars of the Financial Statements 

to be misleading or inaccurate. 

 

We have been authorised by the Council on 21 September 2010 to certify the Financial Statements in their final form. 
 

 
Councillor (Mayor) Greg Cruickshank 

 
Dated: 24 September 2010 
Swan Hill 

 
Councillor (Deputy Mayor) 
Yvonne Jennings 

 
Dated: 24 September 2010 
Swan Hill 
 

 
 
Dennis Hovenden 
Chief Executive Officer  
 
Dated: 24 September 2010 
Swan Hill
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NOTES TO THE STANDARD STATEMENTS 
 
Note 1 Basis of preparation of Standard Statements 
 
Council is required to prepare and include audited Standard Statements within its Annual Report.  Four Statements are 
required – a Standard Income Statement, Standard Balance Sheet, Standard Cash Flow Statement and a Standard 
Statement of Capital Works, together with explanatory notes. 
 
These statements and supporting notes form a special purpose financial report prepared to meet the requirements of the 
Local Government Act 1989 and Local Government (Finance and Reporting) Regulations 2004. 
 
The Standard Statements have been prepared on accounting bases consistent with those used for General Purpose 
Financial Statements and the Budget.  The result reported in these statements is consistent with that reported in the 
General Purpose Financial Statements. 
 
The Standard Statements are not a substitute for the General Purpose Financial Statements, which are included on 
pages 119 to 169 of the Annual Report.  They have not been prepared in accordance with all Australian Accounting 
Standards or other authoritative professional pronouncements. 
 
The Standard Statements compare Council’s Financial Plan, expressed through its budget, with actual performance.  
The Local Government Act 1989 requires explanation of any material variances.  The Council has adopted a materiality 
threshold of ten per cent.  Explanations have not been provided for variations below the materiality threshold unless the 
variance is considered to be material because of its nature. 
 
The budget figures included in the Statements are those adopted by Council on 18 August 2009.  The budget was based 
on assumptions that were relevant at the time of adoption of the budget.  The Council set guidelines and parameters for 
revenue and expense targets in this budget in order to meet Council’s Business Plan and financial performance targets 
for both the short and long term. 
 
Detailed information on the actual results are contained in the General Purpose Financial Statements on pages 119 to 
169.  The detailed budget can be obtained by contacting Council.  The Standard Statements should be read with 
reference to these documents. 
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STANDARD INCOME STATEMENT 
For the year ending 30 June 2010 

 Budget    Actuals 
 2009/10              Variances 2009/10 
 $ $ % Ref $ 
      
Revenues from Ordinary Activities      
      
Rates & Garbage Charge 18,617,000 230,785 1.2  18,847,785 
Grants - Recurrent 12,433,000 (29,318) (0.2)  12,403,682 
Grants & Contributions – Non Current 2,117,000 771,817 36.5 1 2,888,817 
Interest 747,000 (747,000) (100.0) 2 - 
User Fees 3,040,000 (3,392) (0.1)  3,036,608 
Contributions - Cash 1,236,000 (6,333) (0.5)  1,229,667 
Statutory Fees & Fines 828,000 203,220 24.5 3 1,031,220 
Reimbursements - 311,014 0.0  311,014 
Net Gain (Loss) from Disposal of Assets 127,000 173,324 136.5 4 300,324 
Capital Contributions – Non Cash 804,000 21,842 2.7  825,842 
Other Revenue (net of cost of goods sold) 2,197,000 1,454,633 66.2 5 3,651,633 

Total Revenue 42,146,000 2,380,592 -  44,526,592 

 
Expenses from Ordinary Activities      
Employee Benefits 15,142,000 469,753 3.1  15,611,753 
Contract Payments, Materials & Services 13,545,000 6,264,696 46.3 6 19,809,696 
External Repairs & Maintenance 2,022,000 (2,022,000) (100.0) 7 - 
Finance Costs 396,000 8,095 2.0  404,095 
Depreciation & Amortisation 6,173,000 (367,321) (6.0)  5,805,679 
Bad & Doubtful Debts 6,000 83,442 1,390.7 8 89,442 

Other Expenses 705,000 2,381,086 337.7 9 3,086,086 

Contributions Paid 3,732,000 (3,732,000) (100.0) 10 - 

Total Expenses 41,721,000 3,085,751 -  44,806,751 

 
Surplus (Deficit) 425,000 (705,159) -  (280,159) 
      
Movements in Equity      
Net Increase (Decrease) in Asset Revaluation 
Reserves 12,522,000 (557,239) (4.5)  11,964,761 

Total Changes in Equity 12,947,000 (1,262,398) (9.8)  11,684,602 

 
 
Non-Recurrent Items Included in Above Results      
Income:      
Land Sales (160,000) (658,380) 411.5  (818,380) 
Grants & Contributions – Non-recurrent (2,117,000) (771,817) 36.5  (2,888,817) 
Capital Contributions – Non-Cash (804,000) (21,842) 2.7  (825,842) 
Expenditure:      
Major Projects / Once off items 2,905,000 631,887 21.8  3,536,887 
Non-Recurrent Items (176,000) (1,772) 1.0  (177,772) 

Recurrent Operating Surplus (Deficit) 249,000 (706,930) (283.9)  (457,931) 
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Standard Income Statement (continued) 
 
Variance Explanation Report 
 

Ref. Item Commentary 

1 Grants & Contributions - 
Non Current 
 

Additional capital grants of $595,105 were received during the year.  These were 
received for Robinvale CBD Development ($204,020), Emergency Management - Fire 
Access Roads ($25,000), Irrigation Upgrades in Robinvale ($125,975) and Swan Hill 
Showgrounds Oval ($24,840), Sealed Roads ($69,000), Blackspot funding for George 
Street Robinvale ($110,070) & High Street Roundabout in Swan Hill ($5,200), and 
Public Place Recycling in Robinvale ($31,000). The remaining variance of 8.3% is a 
combination of non-recurrent operating grants not received as budgeted and off-set by 
others advanced unexpectedly. 
 

2 Interest 
 

Actual interest on investments and outstanding rates was $786,627 is now 
reported in Other Revenue in the Financial Statements.  Refer Ref. No. 5. 
 

3 Statutory Fees & Fines 
 

Additional revenue derived from building ($74,280) and planning permits ($19,101), 
increased prosecution in animal ($27,251) and Local Laws infringements ($16,140), 
along with a planning department court fine was awarded to Council ($50,000) in the 
past twelve months.  Record levels from building development increased from 454 
permits of $52.7M in value (2009) to 515 permits of $62.0M in value occurred in 2010. 
 

4 Net Gain (Loss) from 
Disposal of Assets 
 

The sale of two parcels of land in Robinvale budgeted to occur in 2008/09 were settled 
this financial year. The sale of land to the Sunraysia TAFE which had not been 
budgeted to occur also influenced the higher net gain on disposal of land assets. 
 

5 Other Revenue (net of 
cost of goods sold) 
 

Interest income of $786,627 was not originally budgeted in this item (Refer Ref. No. 2), 
and Tower Hill Land sales was $755,657 above forecast.  
 

6 Contract Payments, 
Materials & Services 

 

The result in 'Contract payments, materials & services' is reported to align with the 
General Purpose Financial Statements.  The overall variance between 'Contract 
payments, materials & services, 'Contributions Paid' and 'External Repairs & 
Maintenance' is 1.4%.  Refer Ref. No. 7 & 10. 

 
7 External Repairs & 

Maintenance 
 

'External repairs & maintenance' is now reported in 'Contract payments, materials & 
services'.  Refer Ref. No. 6. 
 

8 Bad & Doubtful Debts 

 

Problems experienced invoicing aged care services whilst implementing the new 
corporate software led to an increase in the provision for doubtful debts of $36,339.  
An increase in the provision for private scheme debtors of $9,486 was also provided 
for because proceeds through rate recovery sale of properties was deemed to be 
lower than the value of outstanding debts in small townships.  The increase has 
certainly exceeded normal budgeting expectations with the actual figure reflecting the 
level of scrutiny applied to identifying doubtful debtors.  

 
9 Other Expenses 

 
Write-offs of $2,561,346 in assets replaced prior to their remaining useful lives 
(Chillingollah Road and McCrae Street) occurred during the year.  The Chillingollah 
Road received Federal Government funding under the AusLink Strategic Regional 
Roads program to increase road standards in line with nationally identified strategic 
routes and expected increased traffic volumes and loads.  McCrae Street in Swan Hill 
was replaced to enable ageing assets in our major City to be rejuvenated.  
 

10 Contributions Paid 
 

'Contributions Paid' is now reported in 'Contract payments, materials & services'.  
Refer Ref. No. 6. 
 

 



 

 

 

 

 

  

SHRCC  
2009/2010 Annual Report 
BUILDING OUR FUTURE TOGETHER 

174 

Standard 
Statements 

 

STANDARD BALANCE SHEET 
For the year ending 30 June 2010 

 Budget    Actuals 
 2009/10               Variances 2009/10 
 $ $ % Ref $ 
      
Current Assets      

Cash & Cash Equivalents 7,762,000 2,651,042 34.2 11 10,413,042 

Financial Assets - 2,600,000 0.0 11 2,600,000 

Trade & Other Receivables 1,762,000 290,589 16.5 12 2,052,589 

Prepayments 82,000 (82,000) (100.0) 13 - 

Inventories - Other 137,000 247,440 180.6 14 384,440 

Inventories - Land Held for Resale 176,000 (70,620) (40.1) 15 105,380 

Other Assets - 210,147 0.0 16 210,147 

Total Current Assets 9,919,000 5,846,598 58.9  15,765,598 

      

Non-Current Assets      

Financial Assets 1,100,000 (1,100,000) (100.0) 11 - 

Trade & Other Receivables 165,000 49,206 29.8 17 214,206 

Property, Plant, Equipment & Infrastructure 271,249,000 (1,545,954) (0.6)  269,703,046 

Intangible Assets 1,250,000 (386,666) (30.9) 18 863,334 

Total Non-Current Assets 273,764,000 (2,983,414) (1.1)  270,780,586 

Total Assets 283,683,000 2,863,184 1.0  286,546,184 

      

Current Liabilities      

Trade & Other Payables 3,751,000 (1,540,886) (41.1) 19 2,210,114 

Interest-Bearing Loans & Borrowings 1,161,000 5,017 0.4  1,166,017 

Employee Provisions 987,000 2,356,623 238.8 20 3,343,623 

Trust Funds & Deposits  139,000 155,766 112.1 21 294,766 

Total Current Liabilities 6,038,000 976,520 16.2  7,014,520 

      

Non-Current Liabilities      

Interest-Bearing Loans & Borrowings 5,676,000 (188,504) (3.3)  5,487,496 

Employee Provisions 2,465,000 (2,196,249) (89.1) 22 268,751 

Landfill Provision 966,000 (160) (0.0)  965,840 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 9,107,000 (2,384,913) (26.2)  6,722,087 

Total Liabilities 15,145,000 (1,408,393) (9.3)  13,736,607 

      

Net Assets 268,538,000 4,271,577 1.6  272,809,577 

      

Equity      

Accumulated Surplus / Reserves 181,391,000 8,936,829 4.9  190,327,829 

Asset Revaluation Reserve 87,147,000 (4,665,252) (5.4)  82,481,748 

Total Equity 268,538,000 4,271,577 1.6  272,809,577 
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Standard Balance Sheet (continued) 
 
Variance Explanation Report 
 

Ref. Item Commentary 

11 Cash & Cash 
Equivalents 
 

Cash & cash equivalents and Financial assets are greater than budget due to an under-
expenditure on capital works and asset purchases of $1.67 million, along with an increase in 
unexpended specific purpose grants held that exceed $2.2 million.  Cash and cash equivalents is 
now reported in two categories, the financial asset categories reports term deposits with a 
maturity date of more than 3 months (current) and greater than 12 months (non-current).  The 
judgement on determining the value and investment period is influenced by excess funds 
available and prevailing interest rates.  Both asset categories should be read together rather than 
in isolation. 
 

12 Trade & Other 
Receivables 
 

The increase primarily relates to outstanding rates.  Actual collection percentages were 93.52% 
(2010) and 96.67% (2009).  Accrued income is classified in Other Assets in the General Purpose 
Financial Statements.  The actual accrued income for the year was $132,770, which is $13,033 
lower than the previous year's actual of $145,803.   Refer Ref. No. 16. 
 

13 Prepayments 
 

Prepayments is classified in Other Assets in the General Purpose Financial Statements.  Refer 
Ref. No. 16.  The actual prepaid expenses for the year was $63,198, the variance is that 
Councillor Allowances are normally prepaid in June for July but held over this year and paid on 1 
July 2010. 
 

14 Inventories 
 

A Limestone stockpile was created ($302,902), which was not budgeted for.  The remaining 
variance resulted through a conscious effort to hold less stock at the Pioneer Settlement 
($29,410).  
 

15 Land Held for Resale 
 

Sale of allotments on Council's Tower Hill Estate have exceeded expectations, despite a 
reduction in sites identified for sale at the time the budget was prepared.  Completion of Stage 5 
by VicUrban was achieved earlier than expected, releasing additional sites of which 20 
allotments were sold from the 33 ready for sale.  13 sites identified for sale during budget 
deliberations were removed from inventory due to community concerns that established pine 
trees adjacent to the estate be retained.  Refer Ref. No. 26. 
 

16 Other Assets 
 

The actual result includes prepayments ($63,198) budgeted separately (Refer Ref. No. 13), and 
Accrued Income ($132,770) previously included in the Trade & other receivables category.  Refer 
Ref. No. 12. 
 

17 Trade & Other 
Receivables 
 

A lower than expected number of property owners chose not to take advantage of early payment 
options relating to Private Scheme works. 
 

18 Intangible Assets 
 

Intangible assets held relate entirely to water rights.  The impairment test applied to the carrying 
value of water rights has reduced the value of water due to early seasonal rains.  The value of 
our water rights have reduced from $2,400 per Megalitre to $1,825 per ML.  This was not 
anticipated when preparing the 2009/10 Business Plan and Annual Budget in March 2009. 
 

19 Trade & Other Payables 
 

Electronic payments to suppliers occurred on the 30/06/2010, normally held over until July. 
 

20 Employee Provisions 
 

All annual leave has been disclosed as current employee benefits in the actuals as required by 
AASB.  Had the budget been prepared on this basis the variance between combined current and 
non-current employee benefits for Annual Leave and LSL would have been 4.6%.  Increases in 
pay rates influenced by Council's EBA (4.75%) and an increase in the number of staff on average 
not taking their full leave entitlement have lead to the increased provision. Refer Ref. No. 22. 
 

21 Trust Funds & Deposits 
 

Conditions on release of trust funds and deposits does not usually permit the return of trust 
monies in the same year as it is received.  The actual value of overall deposits is $89,955 higher 
than the previous year.  The largest increases are in Contract Retentions ($61,102), Vehicle 
Crossing Deposits ($11,454), and Design Section Security Deposits ($10,807).  Contract 
retentions have scheduled release dates that can exceed 2 years, while other deposits held rely 
on certain criteria/events occurring or not eventuatating and could be held or progressively 
released over a much longer period i.e .house removal deposits. 
 

22 Employee Provisions 
 

The Accounting Standards have altered the way we report annual leave.  The standards now 
require all annual leave to be reported as current.  The budget was prepared on the basis of 
showing annual leave not expected to be taken in the forthcoming 12 months as non-current.  
Refer Ref. No. 20.  The actual only shows the value of non-current long service leave, where a 
reduction of $140,142 resulted over the previous year's LSL actuals.  
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STANDARD CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
For the year ending 30 June 2010 

 Budget    Actuals 
 2009/10             Variances 2009/10 
 $ $ % Ref $ 
 

     
Cash flows from Operating Activities      

Rates 18,529,000 (360,893) (1.9)  18,168,107 

Statutory fees and fines 828,000 203,220 24.5 23 1,031,220 

User charges and other fines (inclusive of GST) 3,339,000 (265,482) (8.0)  3,073,518 

Grants (inclusive of GST) 14,550,000 1,028,518 7.1  15,578,518 

Contributions (inclusive of GST) 1,360,000 (7,366) (0.5)  1,352,634 

Interest 747,000 (747,000) (100.0) 24 - 

Reimbursements - 342,115 0.0 25 342,115 

Other receipts (inclusive of GST) 2,465,000 1,508,078 61.2 26 3,973,078 

Net GST refund/payment 1,300,000 399,680 30.7 27 1,699,680 

Payments to suppliers (inclusive of GST) (21,460,000) (256,858) 1.2  (21,716,858) 

Payments to employees (inclusive of GST) (14,887,000) (1,345,183) 9.0  (16,232,183) 

Borrowing Costs (396,000) 396,000 (100.0) 28 - 

Net cash provided by operating activities 6,375,000 894,829 14.0  7,269,829 
      

Cash flows from Investing Activities      

Payments for property, plant & equipment, and 
infrastructure (12,592,000) 1,740,628 (13.8) 29 (10,851,372) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment, and 
infrastructure 746,000 580,936 77.9 30 1,326,936 

Proceeds from financial assets - 1,500,000 0.0 31 1,500,000 

Net Cash Outflow from Investing Activities (11,846,000) 3,821,564 (32.3)  (8,024,436) 
      

Cash flows from Financing Activities      

Finance Costs - (89,477) 0.0 32 (89,477) 

Proceeds from interest bearing loans and borrowings 1,250,000 0 0.0  1,250,000 

Borrowing costs - (404,095) 0.0 28 (404,095) 

Repayment of interest bearing loans and borrowings (1,075,000) (68) 0.0  (1,075,068) 

Net Cash Outflow from Financing Activities 175,000 (493,640) (282.1)  (318,640) 
      

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash Held (5,296,000) 4,222,753 (79.7) 33 (1,073,247) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial 
year 13,058,000 (1,571,711) (12.0) 34 11,486,289 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year 7,762,000 2,651,042 34.2  10,413,042 

 
Reconciliation of Operating Result and Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities  
For the year ending 30 June 2010 
 

Net Surplus (Deficit) from Operations 425,000 (705,159) (165.9)  (280,159) 

Depreciation and Amortisation 6,173,000 (367,321) (6.0)  5,805,679 

(Profit) Loss on Asset Disposals (127,000) (173,324) 136.5  (300,324) 

Non-Cash Capital Contributions/Asset Adjustments (803,000) 2,551,399 (317.7)  1,748,399 

Cost of Tower Hill Land Sold 44,000 (44,000) (100.0)  - 

Provision of Limestone Royalties - 70,802 0.0  70,802 

Borrowings cost (Interest) - 404,095 0.0  404,095 

Movement in Provision Doubtful Debts 6,000 74,331 1,238.9  80,331 
      

Movements in: 
  

 

  

Current Receivables (88,000) (825,068) 937.6  (913,068) 

Other Operating Assets (5,000) 390,845 (7,816.9)  385,845 

Inventories 8,000 (260,115) (3,251.4)  (252,115) 

Non-Current Receivables (5,000) 5,000 (100.0)  - 

Current Payables/Accruals 472,000 (93,368) (19.8)  378,632 

Current Employee Benefits 40,000 151,899 379.7  191,899 

Current Trust Funds 20,000 69,955 349.8  89,955 

Non-Current Employee Benefits 215,000 (355,142) (165.2)  (140,142) 

Net Movement in Current Assets / Liabilities 657,000 (915,994) (139.4)  (258,994) 
      

Inflow from Operating Activities 6,375,000 894,829 14.0  7,269,829 
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Standard Cash Flow Statement (continued) 
 
Variance Explanation Report 
 

Ref. Item Commentary 

23 Statutory fees and fines 
 

See Commentary Notes Ref. No. 3. 
 

24 Interest 

 

Interest on investments ($605,111) and outstanding rates ($181,516) is now 
reported in Other Receipts.  The better than budget result of $39,627 or 5.3% 
occurred during the year.  Refer Ref. No. 2 & 26. 

 

25 Reimbursements 

 

Reimbursements were budgeted in the User Charges & Other Fines revenue 
category.  This contains revenue for private works of $81,150, power costs, 
WorkCover claims and asset insurance ($199,817).  The actual is a $7,860 or 
5.1% increase over budget. 
 

26 Other receipts (inclusive 
of GST) 

 

Interest on investments and rates ($786,627) was budgeted separately (Refer Ref. 
No. 24).  Tower Hill Estate Land Sales ($755,657) were higher than budgeted.  
(Refer Ref. No. 15). 

 

27 Net GST refund/payment 

 

The net GST refund is based on an estimate of tax owing to Council at 30 June 
2010, at the date higher than expected GST was to be refunded from the 
Australian Taxation Office.  This figure is unpredictable as it is dependent on a 
number of factors including whether GST is included or not in grants received from 
government departments, timing of creditor payments particularly of a capital works 
and asset nature. 

 

28 Borrowing Costs 

 

Borrowing costs of $404,095 is now reported in the 'Cash flows from financing 
activities'. The actual is a $8,095 or 2.0% increase over budget. 
 

29 Payments for property, 
plant & equipment, and 
infrastructure 
 

Council's capital works program was not achieved.  A number of projects 
dependent on approval of grant funds were not commenced as budgeted 
($252,745), advanced AusLink Regional Roads funding received in June 2007 still 
has $246,760 remaining to be spent.  Three projects ($704,080) were not 
commenced because (1) a valuation of land held up construction of drainage in 
Latje Road, Robinvale ($428,080), (2) completion of the kerb & channel special 
charge scheme in Murlong Street, Swan Hill was commenced early and completed 
in the previous financial year ($120,000), and (3) asphalting in Beveridge Street, 
Swan Hill has been delayed due to pavement failure now requiring reconstruction 
before the asphalt overlay can be applied ($156,000).  
 

30 Proceeds from sale of 
property, plant & 
equipment, and 
infrastructure 
 

Total budgeted property sales was $160,000, the actual was $818,380 which was 
predominately land sold at Council's Tower Hill Estate.  Land sales expected in the 
previous financial year ($217,500) were realised this year.  Plant and vehicle 
proceeds were $76,954 higher than expectations.   
 

31 Proceeds from financial 
assets 
 

Funding advanced under the AusLink Strategic Regional Roads program 
($2,050,000) was received in the 2006/07 financial year.  This money was invested 
in term deposits until this year when $2,065,664 in completed works was carried 
out.  $1,107,775 was capitalised for the Chillingollah Road and the remainder 
expensed as it relates to the Karinie Street Roundabout, a State government 
owned and controlled asset.      
 

32 Finance Costs 
 

The budget allocation for finance leases (principal and interest) were incorrectly 
shown in the 'Payments to Suppliers' section of the Cash Flows from Operating 
Activities.  The actual value of lease liability mirrored the budget - no new leases 
were entered into during the year.  
 

33 Net Increase/(Decrease) 
in Cash Held 
 

The lower decrease in the value of cash held is a result of having additional cash 
available from unexpended grants and in-complete capital works projects.  Refer 
Ref. No. 1, 11 & 31.  
 

34 Cash and cash 
equivalents at the 
beginning of the financial 
year 

Combination of many variables discussed in the above notes.  Refer Ref. No. 23 - 
33. 
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STANDARD STATEMENT OF CAPITAL WORKS 
For the year ending 30 June 2010 

 Budget    Actuals 
 2009/10                Variances 2009/10 
Capital Works Areas $ $ % Ref $ 
      

Roads, Streets, Bridges & Footpaths 5,974,000 (6,327) (0.1)  5,967,673 

Drains 1,574,000 (1,216,914) (77.3) 35 357,086 

Other Infrastructure 1,595,000 (472,740) (29.6) 36 1,122,260 

Total Infrastructure 9,143,000 (1,695,981) (18.5)  7,447,019 

      

Asset Purchases      

Land & Buildings 1,637,000 184,186 11.3 37 1,821,186 

Plant, Equipment & Other 2,186,000 (739,459) (33.8) 38 1,446,541 

Heritage & Culture 428,000 4,826 1.1  432,826 

Total Capital Works & Asset Purchases 13,394,000 (2,246,427) (16.8)  11,147,573 

      

Represented by:      

Renewal 8,782,000 (1,268,965) (14.4) 39 7,513,035 

Upgrade 375,000 333,075 88.8 39 708,075 

Expansion 21,000 (21,000) (100.0) 40 - 

New Assets 4,216,000 (1,289,537) (30.6) 39 2,926,463 

Total Capital Works 13,394,000 (2,246,427) (16.8)  11,147,573 

      

Includes Donated Assets of:      

Roads, Streets, Bridges & Footpaths 578,000 (58,363) (10.1) 41 519,637 

Drains 211,000 (8,681) (4.1)  202,319 

Other Infrastructure - 23,473 0.0  23,473 

Land - 3,668 0.0  3,668 

Heritage and Culture 15,000 48,850 325.7 42 63,850 

Total Donated Infrastructure Assets 804,000 8,947 1.1  812,947 

 
 Budget    Actuals 

2009/10 Variances 2009/10 Property, Infrastructure, Plant and Equipment 
movement Reconciliation Worksheet $ $ % Ref $ 
      

The movement between the previous year and the 
current year in property, plant and equipment as 
shown in the Balance Sheet links to the net of the 
following items: 

     

      

Total Capital Works 13,394,000 (2,246,427) (16.8) 43 11,147,573 

Asset Revaluation Movement 12,522,000 (285,373) (2.3)  12,236,627 

Depreciation & Amortisation (6,173,000) 367,321 (6.0)  (5,805,679) 

Other Movements (49,000) 49,000 (100.0) 44 - 

Written Down Value of Assets Sold (619,000) (3,005,881) 485.6 45 (3,624,881) 

Net Movement in Property, Infrastructure, Plant & 
Equipment 19,075,000 (5,121,360) (26.8)  13,953,640 
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Standard Statement of Capital Works (continued) 
 
Variance Explanation Report 

Ref. Item Commentary 

35 Drains 
 

The value of non-cash developer costs associated with the construction of drains on Tower Hill Estate by 
VicUrban was $8,681 lower than budgeted.  The remaining under-expenditure relates to two drainage projects 
totalling ($822,415).  The first was commenced later than expected due to later than expected appointment of the 
Projects Co-ordinator.  This position was directly involved with the Main Drain Enlargement project in Swan Hill 
where the headwall, pit and pipeline was completed but construction of the pump station is now scheduled for 
completion next financial year ($394,335), the second was held up due to valuation of land required on land 
associated with the Latje Road Drain in Robinvale ($428,080).  The remaining difference relates to several 
projects that were commenced but not completed during the year ($138,685). 
 

36 Other 
Infrastructure 
 

The most significant project in this category relates to Stage 3 Development of Barry Steggall Reserve on Tower 
Hill Estate.  The project is well advanced in terms of planning and approval of works contracts but has not been 
completed in terms of physical works (426,480).  There were a number of projects completed this year from 
carried forward funds, and value of these works off-sets projects budgeted this year and now carried forward into 
next financial year for completion.   
 

37 Land & 
Buildings 
 

Additional costs associated with the purchase ($208,720) of land in Swan Hill was made to meet future 
community needs, primarily for carparking.  This was funded in part from monies held in Reserve.  Refer Ref. No. 
30. 
 

38 Plant, 
Equipment & 
Other 
 

Two fleet vehicles ($67,616), a John Deere tractor ($62,501) and an Isuzu truck ($366,413) were ordered but not 
delivered prior to year-end; and replacement of IT computer equipment ($109,770) was held pending the current 
roll-out of the IT Strategy.  
 

39 Renewal, 
Upgrade & New 
Assets 
 

The variance results from the combination of variances 35 - 38 above. 
 

40 Expansion 
 

Purchase of $21,000 in new electronic parking meters has been deferred to align with implementation of the 
Carparking Strategy. 
 

41 Roads, Streets, 
Bridges & 
Footpaths 
 

Non-cash contributions relating to all infrastructure works occurring on the Tower Hill Estate was slightly over-
estimated. 
 

42 Heritage and 
Culture 
 

A significantly higher than anticipated value was attributed to donations of artwork and library books received 
during the year. 
 

43 Total Capital 
Works 
 

The variance resulted from the combination of variances 35 - 42 above. 
 

44 Other 
Movements 
 

The budget allows for items capitalised to works-in-progress in prior years and subsequently expensed.  All items 
in works in progress resulted in the recognition of a fixed asset and nothing was required to be expensed due to 
better management controls. 
 

45 Written Down 
Value of Assets 
Sold 
 

Written Down Value from plant replacement was $100,964 higher than expected (Budget $619,000, Actual 
$518,036).  No figure was projected for asset classes other than plant replacement in the Business Plan and 
Annual Budget.  Property Assets ($1,106,900) were a combination of disposed buildings surplus to Council needs 
and a large site sold to TAFE at Tower Hill Estate.  Infrastructure Assets ($1,999,802) have a direct correlation 
with 'Other Expenses' as these assets were written off prior to their remaining useful lives.  Refer Ref. No. 9. 
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CERTIFICATION OF STANDARD STATEMENTS 
 
In my opinion the accompanying Standard Statements have been prepared on accounting bases consistent with the Financial 
Statements and in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Finance and 
Reporting) Regulations 2004. 
 

 
 

David C Lenton ASA 
Principal Accounting Officer  

 
Dated: 24 September 2010 
 
In our opinion the accompanying Standard Statements have been prepared on accounting bases consistent with the 
Financial Statements and in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Finance and 
Reporting) Regulations 2004. 
 
As at the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances, which would render any particulars in the Standard 
Statements to be misleading or inaccurate. 
 
We have been authorised by the Council on 21 September 2010 to certify the Standard Statements in their final form. 
 

 
 

David C Lenton ASA 
Principal Accounting Officer  

 
Dated: 24 September 2010 
 

 
 

Councillor (Mayor) Greg Cruickshank 
 
Dated: 24 September 2010 

 
Councillor (Deputy Mayor) Yvonne 
Jennings 
 
Dated: 24 September 2010 
 

 
Dennis Hovenden 
Chief Executive Officer  
 
Dated: 24 September 2010 
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AUDITOR GENERAL’S REPORT – THE FINANCIAL REPORT & 
STANDARD STATEMENTS 
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT continued 

 



 

 

Performance 
Statement 
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PERFORMANCE STATEMENT FOR 2009-2010 
Governance and Leadership 2010 2010 2010   

  Key Strategic Targets Reason For Target Target Result 
Achieved/ Not 

Achieved Comments 

1 Community Satisfaction with Council’s 
overall performance and average of 
Council and State Government Survey 

This target will measure whether the 
services delivered by Council and 
the initiatives contained in the 
business plan meet the needs of the 
community. 

>65 59 Not Achieved The Local Government community satisfaction survey 
conducted by Wallis Consulting Group returned the indexed 
mean score of 63, which is below that of the previous years. 
 
The Community Satisfaction Survey conducted by Council in 
2009 returned a community satisfaction rating for this period of 
54 which is significantly below the target level and has dropped 
from the 64 rating achieved in the last survey completed in 
2007. 

2 Financial operating result or better of the 
budgeted operating result (excluding 
depreciation) 

This provides accountability to 
ensure that all Council services are 
delivered on budget, and 
incorporates the majority of the 
services to the community by 
Council.  Depreciation is excluded 
from this measure as it represents a 
calculated amount, the inclusion of 
which reduces the accountability 
underpinning this target. 

$6,598,000 $5,525,521 Not Achieved The actual result is $1,072,479 worse than the budget target.  
Had $2,534,013 in asset write-offs for assets replaced prior to 
the remaining useful lives (Chillingollah Road and McCrae 
Street) not occurred, then a significant surplus of $1,461,534 
would have resulted.  This difference primarily relates to Victoria 
Grants Commission funds of $1,422,451 brought forward from 
the 2010-11 financial year as part of the Federal Government’s 
stimulus package. 

3 CIVICA CRM System to be implemented 
with appropriate training and in use at 
Council head office, Robinvale Resource 
Centre and Swan Hill Depot. 

This target will enable Council to 
develop open community 
relationships.  The introduction of 
the CRM at Council will enable 
officers to respond quickly to new 
Customer requests and updates on 
existing ones. 

 

By 30 June 
2010. 

 Not Achieved The Implementation of the CIVICA CRM System could not be 
achieved.  The 30 June deadline was an arbitrary date that 
Council was aiming for however the unavailability of the 
consultants altered Council’s implementation dates. 
 
In addition the introduction of Asset and Infrastructure 
Management (AIM) had to be brought forward as it is required to 
be in place for the CRM system to function.  The CRM is now 
due for "Go Live" on first Monday in September. 
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 Sustainable Communities 2010 2010 2010   

  Key Strategic Targets Reason For Target Target Result 
Achieved/ Not 

Achieved Comments 

4 Position Swan Hill Rural City Council as 
the lead agency for future service 
delivery for the Loddon Mallee Region, 
for example Aged, Children and Family 
Services: 

1. Work with Federal Government and 
family support programs lobbying to 
secure ongoing funding. 

2. Become the Aged Care Assessment 
Centre for the region in Partnership 
with other Agencies. 

This target will help support people 
who need extra assistance. 

Signed 
agreement 
with at least 
one Agency by 
30 June 2010 

10 May 
2010 

 
10 May 
2010 

Achieved The Funding was secured for 2009-2010, with a further two years 
of funding received. (This program was formally known as 
Communities for Children). 
 
 
The Swan Hill Rural City Council and Robinvale District Health 
Services signed a Memorandum of Understanding for the 
Provision of HACC Assessment Services during 2009-2010. 

5 Determine Council’s position and extent of 
our role and responsibilities in the 
redevelopment of the Swan Hill 
Racecourse Redevelopment Project and 
the Nyah Recreation Reserve. 

1. Council position to be determined 
for both projects 

2. Funding applications submitted if 
required. 

 

This target will facilitate and provide 
services for health and well being 
within the municipality. 

1. At or before 
November 
2009 
Council 
Meeting 

 

 

 

 

2. By 31 
March 2010 

 

March 2010 
Council 
Meeting 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
March 2010 

Council 
Meeting 

Not Achieved At the March 2010 Council meeting, Council passed a motion 
that the Council:- 
• Lodge Applications for funding for the Swan Hill Racecourse 

revitalisation multi function community hub project with the 
State Government. 

• Make provision within in its 2011/2012 budget of its $200,000 
contribution towards the project in the event of the 
applications for funding being successful. 

• Agree to act as the project management on the basis that 
Council will not be responsible for any project budget 
shortfall. 

• Continue to negotiate with the Victorian State Government on 
the possible sale of the portion of unused land fronting Wattie 
and Campbell Streets, Swan Hill considered surplus to the 
Racecourse needs to Council. 

Council has agreed to support the Nyah Community by assisting 
in the future planning of the Nyah Recreation Reserve and work 
with the Nyah Community to achieve the planning outcomes. 
Preparation work has been undertaken for funding applications 

6 Implementation of Pioneer Settlement 
Masterplan. 

1. Finalisation of Pioneer Settlement 
Interpretive Plan 

2. Funding applications submitted 

This target will enable Council to 
coincide with grant funding and 
opportunities and set the direction for 
the Pioneer Settlement re-
development. 

1. At or before 
Nov 2009 
Council 
Meeting 

2. By 31 
March 2010 

December 
Council 
Meeting 

 
 
 

Not Achieved The Pioneer Settlement Masterplan was adopted at the Ordinary 
Council Meeting on Tuesday, 15 December 2010. 
 
The funding applications were submitted in conjunction with this 
to the Regional and Local Community Infrastructure Program – 
Strategic Projects on 
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Economic Growth 2010 2010 2010   

  Key Strategic Targets Reason For Target Target Result 
Achieved/ Not 

Achieved Comments 

7 Develop a package of measures for 
Council action to give contractors 
confidence, e.g. longer term contracts 

1. Develop 3 yearly road resealing, 
line marking and tree maintenance 
contracts. 

2. Develop a schedule of contracts 
that can be packaged together 

3. Review Council’s Procurement 
Policy. 

Council will support existing 
business and encourage expansion 
through building capacity and 
Council’s own procurement 
practices. 

1. By 28 Feb 
2010 

 

2. By 30 June 
2010 

 

3. At or before 
December 
2009 
Council 
Meeting 

 
 
 
 

 
16/17 May 

2010 
 

Adopted 
November 

Council 
Meeting 

2009 

Achieved • Three year resealing contract awarded and the first 
year of the contract successfully completed contract 
number 09 1389 01 

• A two year contract for gravel resheeting of roads and 
shoulders in the North West area of the municipality 
awarded with the first year completed and second 
years program has been provided to the contractor. 
Contract number 09 1567 01. 

• Assessment of the line marking and tree maintenance 
requirements indicated that long term contracts were 
not necessary as the works completed by contractors 
in these fields are more reactive than programmed.   

8 Complete Swan Hill South West 
Development Precinct Development 
Contributions Plan. 

Council will ensure a sufficient and 
appropriate supply of land is 
available for housing development. 
 

Plan adopted 
by Council at 
or before 
December 
2009 Council 
Meeting. 

 Not Achieved Consultation with landowners about costings with the 
Development Contributions Plan (DCP) is continuing.  Due to 
the complexity and high costs of the draft DCP.  Landowners 
have been requested by Council to either provide full 
Engineering Design and costing or a suitable alternative. 
 
This alternative must comply with Council’s standards for 
acceptable Development. 

9 Completion of the Review of Swan Hill 
Rural City Council Planning Scheme and 
Municipal Strategic Statement. 

 

Council will ensure a sufficient and 
appropriate supply of land is 
available for housing development. 

 
Council will encourage new 
business development. 

 
Council seeks to ensure appropriate 
Infrastructure to continue our 
Economic Growth. 
 

Review 
completed and 
adopted by 
Council by 30 
June 2010 

Review 
Completed 

and adopted 
by Council 
on 20 July 

2010 

Not Achieved Target date of June 30 was extended to 20 July 2010 by 
Minister for Planning. 
 
Review report forwarded to Minister on July 20 as required 
under the P&E Act. 
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Environmental Management 2010 2010 2010   

  Key Strategic Targets Reason For Target Target Result 
Achieved/ Not 

Achieved Comments 

10 New contracts developed and 
awarded for operation of kerbside 
collection, landfills and MRF. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contracts 
awarded by 30 
April 2010. 

16/17 May 
2010 

Not Achieved Contract specifications completed, advertised and tenders 
assessed by panel.   
 
Contracts to be awarded in August to commence formally on 1 
October 2010. 
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CERTIFICATION OF PERFORMANCE STATEMENT 
 

In our opinion, the accompanying Performance Statement of the Swan Hill Rural City Council, in respect of the 2010 
financial year is presented fairly in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989. 

The statement outlines the performance measures set out in relation to the achievement of the Key Strategic Targets described in 
Council's 2009/10 Business Plan and Annual Budget and describes the extent to which the Key Strategic Targets were met in that 
year. 

As at the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance that would render any particulars in the statement to be 
misleading or inaccurate. 

 

 
 

David C Lenton ASA 
Principal Accounting Officer  

 

Dated: 24 September 2010 
 

 
Councillor (Mayor) Greg Cruickshank 
 
Dated: 24 September 2010 

 
Councillor (Deputy Mayor) Yvonne 
Jennings 
 
Dated: 24 September 2010 
 

 

 
 

Dennis Hovenden 
Chief Executive Officer  
 
Dated: 24 September 2010 
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AUDITOR GENERAL’S REPORT – PERFORMANCE STATEMENT 
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Independent Audit Report (continued) 

 



 

 

45 Splatt Street, or PO Box 488 
Swan Hill Victoria 3585 
Telephone: 03 5036 2333 Facsimile: 03 5036 2340 

Swan Hill Office:  

Robinvale Office:  

Email:  

Website:  

68-72 Herbert Street 
Robinvale Victoria 3549 
Telephone: 03 5051 8000 Facsimile: 03 5051 8010 

council@swanhill.vic.gov.au 

www.swanhill.vic.gov.au 
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